

Mechanisms of cartilage subdivision in the pectoral fin of teleosts

by

Jasper Dewit

Thesis submitted to obtain the degree of Doctor of Science (Biology)

Proefschrift ingediend tot het behalen van de graad van Doctor in de Wetenschappen (Biologie) Promotors:

Prof. Dr. Ann Huysseune Prof. Dr. P. Eckhard Witten

Academic year: 2011-2012

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude and appreciation to both my supervisors, Prof. Dr. Ann Huysseune and Prof. Dr. P. Eckhard Witten. Their support, encouragement, and mentoring have guided me through the research process leading toward this thesis. I am very grateful for the countless hours of assistance they provided, as well as for their unwavering confidence in my ability to bring this project to a successful end.

I would also like to thank my colleagues, Dr. Maxime Willems, Barbara Verstraeten, Sam Vandenplas and Jeroen Crucke for their helpful discussions and suggestions throughout the course of my research and extend my gratitude to Mieke Soenens, Tommy D' heuvaert, Myriam Claeys, Marjolein Couvreur, Barbare De Kegel and Joachim Christiaens for their technical support and invaluable experience.

I am also indebted to the corroborating scientists, Prof. Dr. Christoph Winkler, Dr. T. Thuy To, Prof. Dr. Shahriar Mobasheryand Dr. Chang Mayland, who all made invaluable contributions to this thesis.

I also wish to express my gratitude to David Vandervloet for the revisions he made to this manuscript.

I would also like to acknowledge the Institute for the Promotion of Innovation through Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT-Vlaanderen) for funding this research.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, friends and especially my fiancé, Lynn Vandezande, for their patience and encouragement. I would not have been able to complete this thesis without their continuing love and support.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	III
Table of Contents	v
1. General introduction	9
1.1. Cartilage in Osteichthyes: form and function	10
1.1.1. Chondrocytes	11
1.1.2. ECM	12
1.1.3. Perichondrium	14
1.1.4. Growth and ossification	14
1.2. Cartilage development and its regulation	19
1.2.1. Distinct steps in cartilage development of tetrapods and teleost	s 19
1.2.2. Developmental regulation during chondrogenesis	20
Transcription factors	21
Secreted signaling molecules	22
Fibroblast Growth Factors (FGFs)	22
Transforming growth Factor Beta (TGF β) superfamily	23
Hedgehog family	25
Wnt family	26
Cell-cell interactions	27
Cell-matrix interactions	30
ECM composition through chondrogenesis	30
Mediators of cell-matrix interaction	31
1.2.3. Catabolism in cartilaginous tissue	34
1.3. From endoskeletal patterning to morphology	36

1.3.1. Patterning of chondrogenic condensations in	n tetrapods 37
1.3.2. Similarities and differences between pattern	is in fins and limbs41
The common origin of fins and limbs	
Paired fins in the actinopterygian lineage	
1.3.3. Remodeling of the embryonic cartilage skele	eton 48
2. Aims and Outline	53
3. Results	57
3.1. The distribution of fibronectin in developing	ng zebrafish (<i>Danio</i>
<i>rerio</i>) cartilage	57
Abstract	
Introduction	
Material and Methods	61
Results	63
Fibronectin in cartilage condensations	63
Fibronectin in differentiated cartilage	64
Discussion	
Fibronectin in cartilage condensations	66
Fibronectin in differentiated cartilage	67
Acknowledgements	69
3.2. The Mechanism of Cartilage Subdivision in	n the Reorganization
of the Zebrafish Pectoral Fin	71
Abstract	72
Introduction	73
Material and Methods	75
Results	
Timing and development of cartilage subdivision	81
Cellular mechanisms of cartilage subdivisions	88
Discussion	93
Acknowledgments	
3.3. MMP14 - mediated remodeling during zebr	afish pectoral
cartilage transformation	101
Abstract	

Introduction	103
Material and methods	106
Results	
MMP14 α is dynamically distributed during the remodeling of the fin	
endoskeleton	
Pectoral fin disk cartilage subdivision is significantly delayed by MMP	-inhibitors
	115
Discussion	
Zebrafish pectoral cartilage degradation compared to cartilage loss in	tetrapods
The role of MMP14 in persistent cartilage	
3.4. Expression of Cathepsin-K in the pectoral and median	tins of
medaka, <i>Oryzias latipes</i>	
Abstract	126
Introduction	127
Material and Methods	129
Results	130
Discussion	137
Acknowledgments	
4. General discussion	143
4.1. The biphasic nature of teleost pectoral fin development	
4.2. The mechanism of fin disk cartilage subdivision	150
5. Summary	
English version	
Nederlandstalige versie	
6. References	

1. General introduction

This introduction presents the current scientific understanding of cartilage development and how this eventually results in the formation of the adult endoskeleton. The first step in the formation of the adult endoskeleton is the appearance of chondrogenic cell condensations in a specific pattern. This initial template of cartilage condensations differentiates into cartilaginous elements, forming an embryonic skeleton. Although this embryonic skeleton already shows many features of the adult morphology, such as the positions, the number and the articulations of many of its elements, many other features of the adult skeleton only form through remodeling of the embryonic cartilages. The remodeling of the embryonic cartilages is a second crucial step that includes element growth, fusion, regression and, in the case of zebrafish, subdivision of elements. Together with the formation of the adult skeleton, these modifications to the embryonic cartilages result in the adult skeletal morphology.

This doctoral thesis aims to understand the mechanisms that underlie the formation of cartilage subdivisions in the zebrafish skeleton. During cartilage subdivision, a specific region of a preexisting cartilage disappears, thereby subdividing a single cartilage into two separate elements. Although there are indications that cartilage subdivisions occur in various anatomical regions in zebrafish, I mainly focused my efforts on the characteristic subdivisions of the pectoral skeleton. In no anatomical region are cartilage subdivisions as obvious as in the pectoral skeleton, making it an ideal system to study the developmental events underlying this process.

1.1. Cartilage in Osteichthyes: form and function

The skeleton of all Osteichthyes or bony fish, including land dwelling tetrapods, is composed of three major types of elements: cartilages, endochondral and dermal bones (For a phylogenetic overview of the major osteichthyan taxa see Figure 1). While dermal bones develop directly from mesenchymal precursor cells, endochondral bone forms from a preexisting cartilage element that serves as a scaffold structure on which bone matrix is laid down. This requirement for cartilage as a precursor for endochondral bone explains why cartilage is the most common type of skeletal tissue in embryos, while being the rarest type in the adult skeleton of most osteichthyans. In adult Osteichthyes, cartilage tissue is usually restricted to the surfaces of articulating joints, regions of endochondral bone growth and some persistent cartilages that do not ossify.



Consensus view of the phylogeny of extant Osteichthyes, inferred from phylogenetic analyses of molecular and morphological data. Figure adapted from Suzuki et al. (2010)

In tetrapods, three major different types of cartilage can be distinguished at the histological level (Boyde and Jones, 1983). Fibrocartilage is found in some tendons, containing highly fibrous connective tissue, which is interspaced by elongated groups of cartilaginous cells, running parallel to the tendons' fibers (Benjamin et al., 2000). Unlike fibrocartilage, which appears as a blend between regular connective tissue and cartilaginous tissue, elastic cartilage only contains cartilaginous cells. However, the matrix of this often permanent type of cartilage contains various quantities of elastic fibers, absent in other types of cartilage tissue. In humans and many other mammals this type of cartilage can often be identified in the cartilages of the nose and ears. Hyaline cartilage is, however, the most common type of cartilage and forms all endochondral bones and the articulating surfaces of joints.

While these three distinct types can be distinguished in tetrapods, cartilage in actinopterygians can range through the entire spectrum of connective tissue types, containing various degrees of tensile or elastic fibrous and even adipose tissue (Witten et al., 2010). However, just as in tetrapods, hyaline cartilage is the most commonly observed. This introduction will therefore focus on the form, function and development of hyaline cartilage. The histology and the ultrastructure of this type of cartilage are well known (Boyde and Jones, 1983; Sheldon, 1983; Horton, 1993) and shown to be similar between tetrapods and actinopterygians (Huysseune and Sire, 1992; Huysseune, 2000; Witten and Huysseune, 2007). Hyaline cartilage tissue always consists of three major components: the chondrocytes, the extracellular matrix (ECM) and the perichondrium.

1.1.1. Chondrocytes

Mature chondrocytes are generally large, round cells with scalloped borders (Figure 2). Their main function is the production of the cartilage ECM. Their ultrastructure clearly shows this secretory function: the cell contains an elaborate rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER), large Golgi complexes and high numbers of cytoplasmic vesicles. The nucleo-cytoplasmic ratio of these cells is generally small, due to their large cytoplasmic region. Chondrocytes are completely embedded in their matrix. Their cell bodies occupy matrix-free niches, called lacunae. Apart from blood, cartilage is the only connective tissue where cells show no cell-to-cell contacts, while other types of connective tissue actually require cell-to-cell contacts for proper tissue differentiation and homeostasis (Donahue et al., 2000; Jung et al., 2005; Yeung et al., 2005). Since the cartilage ECM encloses the chondrocytes, proliferation of these cells remains visible in the architecture of the matrix. Daughter cells are trapped in the original lacuna of the mother cell and recommence the production of ECM, creating a new matrix wall that separates them within their mothers' lacuna. This new matrix is often called the territorial matrix, as opposed to the inter-territorial matrix, situated between the individual mother cells.



Figure 2

Transmission electron micrograph of a murine (A) and a zebrafish chondrocyte (B). (A) was adapted from Huntington (1983). Black arrowheads indicate the scalloped chondrocyte borders. Abbreviations: ECM: extracellular matrix, N: nucleus, RER: rough endoplasmic reticulum. Scale bars = 1 μ m

1.1.2. ECM

The ECM gives cartilage its supportive function. The ECM contains highly sulfated glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) (Gavaia et al., 2006), such as heparan-sulfate, keratan-sulfate, chondroitin-sulfate and dermatan-sulfate (Lash and Vasan, 1983). A core protein links large numbers of these GAGs,

forming an aggrecan proteoglycan. Large numbers of these proteoglycan complexes are again linked to a hyaluronic acid backbone, forming proteoglycan aggregates with very high molecular weight (Nap and Szleifer,

2008) (Figure 3). The negative charge created by the aggregation of a high number of sulfate groups in these large proteoglycan complexes gives the cartilage matrix the ability to retain water molecules in the matrix. These sulfate groups are also selectively stainable with alcian blue in acidic conditions, which is the most commonly used cartilage dye.





In addition to GAGs, the cartilage ECM contains a variety of structural proteins, collagens being the most important ones. Cartilage ECM comprises many types of collagens, but type II collagen is by far the most common. Collagen type II fibrils have a diameter of approximately 10-20 nm and form a fine structural meshwork. Like all fibrillar collagen, this cartilage collagen consists of triple-helix chains, called tropocollagen, organized in staggered arrangement. There are several types of α chains, which can be combined to form the triple-helix of fibrillar collagens, but, in collagen type II, three type 2 alpha1 chains (COL2A1) form the triple-helix building block (Mayne and von der Mark, 1983). The structural meshwork of collagen type II provides anchorage for the cells and other ECM components, such as the large proteoglycan complexes. The hydrostatic pressure resulting from the strong attraction of water by these proteoglycans counteracts the tensile strength of the collagen meshwork. This combination of hydrostatic pressure and tensile

strength gives cartilage its unique resistance to mechanical loading (Myers and Mow, 1983).

A large assemblage of proteins mediates the linkage between the collagen meshwork, the GAGs and the cells. These proteins thereby form the last important group of ECM components. Aggrecan, which was discussed above, is one example of such protein with an important linking function. Another well studied and versatile linker protein is fibronectin. This glycoprotein possesses attachment sites for collagens, GAGs and cell-surface receptors (Pankov and Yamada, 2002) and is involved in cross-linking various ECM components and anchoring chondrocytes to their ECM.

1.1.3. Perichondrium

The perichondrium is the tissue that surrounds a cartilage element. It can show a variety of forms and functions, ranging from a thin monolayer of flattened fibroblastic cells to a multilayered band of fibrous connective tissue. The fibroblastic cells of the perichondrium are often flattened tile-like cells. They have long cytoplasmic extensions that show abundant cell-to-cell contacts. Their nucleo-cytoplasmic ratio is high because of their small cytoplasmic region. It is also important to note that, in cartilaginous tissue, blood and nerve supply is always restricted to the perichondrium. Yet, in large cartilage elements, blood vessels and nerves may run through the element in canals, which are always lined with connective tissue continuous with the perichondrium (Blumer et al., 2005).

1.1.4. Growth and ossification

Cartilaginous elements can grow through several mechanisms. The first option is appositional growth, which is realized by perichondral cells added to the element along its outer borders. Once the production of cartilage matrix starts, the perichondral cells, now termed chondroblasts, gradually retract their cytoplasmic extensions. They lose their cell-to-cell contacts, thereby gradually transforming from fibroblast-like cells into chondrocytes that are incorporated in the element (Hinchliffe and Griffiths, 1983). Different regions of the perichondrium can contribute chondroblasts at various rates, which can result in drastic alterations in the shape of the element (Thorogood, 1983). Active perichondral regions are always multilayered, with the innermost cells transforming into chondroblasts, while the outer regions remain fibroblastic connective tissue (Hinchliffe and Griffiths, 1983).

Secondly, cartilage elements can grow through interstitial growth, which, in contrast to appositional growth, is mediated by the chondrocytes of the element. Chondrocytes can influence growth by (1) increasing the ECM production, (2) by proliferation and (3) finally by increasing their cell size (Hinchliffe and Griffiths, 1983). Mature chondrocytes can differentiate further in order to become very large hypertrophic chondrocytes. Conventional tissue fixation techniques often prove inadequate to preserve these cells for histological examination, which long fueled the debate on the viability and function of these cells. However, alternative fixation methods have shown that most hypertrophic cells are certainly viable (Oi and Utsumi, 1980; Hunziker et al., 1984). Hypertrophic chondrocytes show an even lower nucleo-cytoplasmic ratio than mature chondrocytes and typically possess large intracellular vacuoles. The ECM of hypertrophic chondrocytes is also different from the ECM of hyaline cartilage. It contains less collagen type II but instead comprises large amounts of collagen type X (Schmid et al., 1990; Mizoguchi et al., 1997; Clement et al., 2008). Terminally differentiated hypertrophic chondrocytes even express osteoblast-related genes, such as runt-related gene 2 and osteocalcin, which regulate the calcification of the ECM, starting in this region (Inada et al., 1999; Yagami et al., 1999; Simes et al., 2003; Gavaia et al., 2006; Hammond and Schulte-Merker, 2009).

In addition to their contribution to interstitial growth, hypertrophic chondrocytes are involved in the ossification of cartilage elements. In all Osteichthyes, the first sign of ossification is found in the perichondrium, which covers calcified hypertrophic cartilage. The cells in this region of the perichondrium differentiate into osteoblasts and start the production of the bone matrix. Once this process has started the perichondrium covers bone and is therefore termed periosteum (Bast, 1944). However, many skeletal

elements in Osteichthyes continue to grow after the first appearance of cartilage hypertrophy and perichondral bone (Hinchliffe and Griffiths, 1983). This growth is primarily realized by both appositional and interstitial cartilage growth in regions still free of perichondral bone.

This is most apparent in the long bones of tetrapods (Hinchliffe and Griffiths, 1983), where the perichondral bone collar forms in the center of the rod-like cartilaginous precursor element, a region commonly referred to as the bone shaft or diaphysis. The distal ends of the element, called the epiphysis, initially do not hypertrophy and remain free of perichondral bone. In mammals and birds secondary ossification centers appear in the epiphysis, which will eventually replace all epiphyseal cartilage by bone, thereby stopping long bone growth. The epiphyseal cartilage grows through the addition of chondroblasts at its outer periphery, which will produce new cartilage matrix. However, long bone growth is primarily accomplished by the epiphyseal chondrocytes nearest to the bone shaft. Here the mature chondrocytes of the hyaline epiphysis become highly proliferative and start a series of cell divisions. All resulting daughter cells organize their flattened cell bodies in columnar stacks parallel to the long axis of the bone. These flattened cells will again differentiate into chondrocytes, thus increasing their size and contributing to matrix production without disturbing the stacked organization. Once these chondrocytes differentiate into hypertrophic chondrocytes, their matrix will calcify and the perichondral bone collar will expand over this region, converting it into bone shaft. The combined effect of the directional cell divisions, matrix production and the enlargement of the stacked cells by their differentiation into hypertrophic chondrocytes is the major mechanism behind long bone growth. Therefore, the area that reaches from the proliferating to the hypertrophic chondrocytes is often referred to as the growth disk or metaphysis.

Although the zonation of proliferating and differentiating chondrocytes is most apparent in the metaphysis of long bones, very similar growth regions can be identified surrounding the first ossification centers in differently shaped elements. In general, all tetrapod bones that form from a cartilaginous precursor rely mainly on appositional and interstitial cartilage growth to reach their mature size and form. This importance of appositional and interstitial growth is also apparent in the actinopterygian skeleton. In several teleost species, all the aspects involved in tetrapod bone growth have been identified, including growth centers that resemble long bone metaphyses (Haines, 1934; Haines, 1939; Haines, 1942). However, despite the apparent similarities in the mechanisms of early ossification and growth, one aspect of actinopterygian cartilage ossification shows considerable deviation from that in tetrapods.

The most important difference between endochondral ossification in tetrapods and actinopterygians can be found in the fate of the calcified, hypertrophic cartilage underneath the perichondral bone. In tetrapods, this hypertrophic cartilage is known to release a wide range of digestive enzymes capable of degrading many structural ECM proteins. In addition diffusible factors are released, such as Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF), promoting the invasion of the hypertrophic cartilage by perichondrium derived tissue (Roach, 1999; Colnot and Helms, 2001; Nagai and Aoki, 2002). Osteoor chondroclast cells lead this invasion, followed by periosteum-derived connective tissue, blood vessels and nerves. The walls of the invasive channels will immediately be used as scaffolds to lay down bone. Cavities form in the central region of the element, where bone resorption occurs faster than the production of new bone. In tetrapods, these cavities become occupied by hematopoietic tissue. Later in life the connective tissue in the bone cavities of most bones will be replaced by adipose tissue (Currey, 2003). As the entire cartilage element gradually becomes hypertrophic, all cartilage is eventually replaced by bone and other connective tissue, except for the articular surface, which remains hyaline cartilage. Because of this complete replacement of cartilage, such bones are also called endochondral bones. The final fate of hypertrophic chondrocytes has been a controversial subject in the field, partially because these cells are hard to preserve for histology, but it is safe to conclude that many hypertrophic chondrocytes undergo programmed cell death or apoptosis (Bronckers et al., 2000; Holmbeck et al., 2003) and are subsequently phagocytized by the invading chondroclasts

(Bronckers et al., 2000). However, evidence exists that some of these cells find a suitable microenvironment that allows their transdifferentiation into osteoblastic cells (Roach et al., 1995; Bianco et al., 1998; Holmbeck et al., 2003).

In contrast to the swift and complete invasion and replacement of hypertrophic cartilage in tetrapods, many actinopterygian bones show a preserved cartilaginous core. Therefore, these bones are often referred to as perichondral bones. Although invasion of hypertrophic cartilage by chondroclasts does occur in actinopterygians, the replacement of the hypertrophic cartilage is often incomplete. The created digestive canals are also filled with adipose tissue, without or with a very limited amount of bone deposited onto the canal walls (Witten and Huysseune, 2007; Witten and Huysseune, 2009; Witten et al., 2010).

1.2. Cartilage development and its regulation

Most knowledge on cartilage development, differentiation and homeostasis is restricted to tetrapod models. However, zebrafish has recently gained importance in the field of cartilage biology, with various studies shedding new light on cartilage patterning, homeostasis and pathology (Kimmel et al., 1998; Crump et al., 2004; Clement et al., 2008; Carney et al., 2010; Eames et al., 2011). The large number of available mutants and the large array of research techniques will undoubtedly ensure the further use of zebrafish in the future. However, additional comparative studies between zebrafish and tetrapod chondrogenesis will certainly be required in order to establish zebrafish fully as a reliable model system to study chondrogenesis. In this section, I will summarize our current understanding of chondrogenesis, mostly obtained from tetrapod models. I will nevertheless highlight which aspects of chondrogenesis are similar to what is found during the development of zebrafish cartilages.

1.2.1. Distinct steps in cartilage development of tetrapods and teleosts

The availability of a sufficiently large population of precursor cells is a requirement for the development of cartilage. Chondrogenic precursor cells can either migrate towards or proliferate within the area of the future chondrogenesis. The embryonic origin of the cartilage precursors depends on the anatomic region in which the skeletal element forms. Elements from the splanchnocranium, such as the mandibular and hyoid arch in tetrapods (Santagati and Rijli, 2003) and the additional five branchial arches in actinopterygians (Knight and Schilling, 2006) are derived from migratory neural crest. Elements from the paired appendages on the other hand originate from local proliferation of lateral plate mesoderm (Mercader, 2007).

Despite these different origins of cartilage tissue, the principal events during chondrogenesis are always very similar. The first major step in cartilage development is the aggregation of the precursor cells into a cell condensation. These regions of densely packed cells can be easily

distinguished from the surrounding loosely packed mesenchyme. In the literature, a cell condensation can also be termed a blastema or primordium (Thorogood, 1983). The specific pattern in which different cell condensations form, combined with the internal organization of the condensed cells, will already predetermine many features of the adult skeleton (Hall and Miyake, 1992). The future position and number of cartilage elements is laid down by the pattern in which the cell condensations form (Hall and Miyake, 1992; Hall and Miyake, 1995; Hall and Miyake, 2000). The configuration of the polarized precursor cells within a condensation, on the other hand, predetermines important morphogenetic factors such as the directionality of cell proliferation and organized matrix secretion, thereby influencing the future shape and size of the elements (Thorogood, 1983; Huysseune and Sire, 1992; Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Kimmel et al., 1998).

The first important phase in chondrogenesis ends when the cells in the condensation center differentiate into chondrocytes, while the condensation periphery develops into the perichondrium. As the chondrogenic condensations differentiate, the embryonic cartilaginous skeleton is formed. This embryonic skeleton still has to go through several changes in order to form the adult skeleton, many of which will be discussed in section 3. In general, the embryonic cartilage will grow and ossify while joints and muscle attachments mature, thereby forming the articulated adult skeleton.

1.2.2. Developmental regulation during chondrogenesis

The establishment of cartilage condensations is the first crucial step in chondrogenesis. However, proper differentiation and growth of both chondrocytes and perichondrium are equally important for normal skeletogenesis. In general, proper chondrogenesis depends on a combination of processes, such as the secreted signaling molecules, the regulation of cell-cell adhesion and various cell-matrix interactions. All these processes are intertwined through numerous intracellular pathways, which are still far from completely understood (DeLise et al., 2000; Hall and Miyake, 2000).

Transcription factors

The group of SOX transcription factors is vital for a wide range of developmental processes and comprises key regulators of chondrogenesis. SOX9, SOX8, SOX6 and L-SOX5 are all involved in chondrogenesis and all these transcription factors, except for SOX8, directly regulate genes for cartilage ECM components, such as collagen type II and aggrecan (Ng et al., 1997; Lefebvre et al., 1998; Bell et al., 2000; de Crombrugghe et al., 2000; Sekiya et al., 2000). From these transcription factors SOX9 is located the most upstream in the chondrogenic pathway and the absence or ectopic expression of this factor results in either the complete loss of cartilage (Bi et al., 1999; Akiyama et al., 2002) or the formation of an ectopic element, respectively (Healy et al., 1999). The important role of SOX9 is a conserved feature in chondrogenesis. In zebrafish, this factor is represented by two paralogous genes, sox9a and sox9b. These paralogs are differently expressed in different elements of the zebrafish endoskeleton. Both paralogs appear to be absolutely required for chondrogenesis to occur in the elements where they are respectively expressed (Yan et al., 2005).

While *Sox 9* is vital for initial cartilage differentiation, its expression persists but is reduced in mature and resting hyaline cartilage of mouse epiphysis, where the synthesis of new collage type II is rather low (Davies et al., 2002). In addition to the lower levels of *Sox9*, the down-regulation of genes for matrix components in resting epiphyseal chondrocytes is also mediated by other transcription factors, such as, activating protein 2 (AP-2) and Zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 1 (ZEB 1), which are expressed in this tissue and are known to reduce *collagen type II* expression (Davies et al., 2002). In proliferative chondrocytes of the growth disk on the other hand, both *Sox9* and *collagen type II* are again strongly up-regulated to accommodate the differentiation and increased matrix production of the proliferative cells (Davies et al., 2002).

In mice, the differentiation towards hypertrophic chondrocytes requires the activation of core binding factor a1 (CBFA1), also known as runt-related gene 2 (RUNX2) (Ueta et al., 2001), which is also an essential transcription

factor in osteoblast differentiation and the formation of dermal bones (Ducy et al., 1999). The important role of this transcription factor in the regulation of chondrocyte hypertrophy and thus endochondral bone formation appears to be a highly conserved feature in the development of endochondral bones, since chicken *RUNX2* (Eames et al., 2004) and zebrafish *runx2* (Eames et al., 2011) have been identified in similar settings.

Secreted signaling molecules

Fibroblast Growth Factors (FGFs)

In tetrapod limbs, FGFs, secreted at the apical ectodermal ridge (AER) of the limb bud, keep the embryonic mesenchyme in an undifferentiated and proliferative state (Niswander et al., 1993; Fallon et al., 1994; Vogel et al., 1996; Fischer et al., 2003; Nomura et al., 2006). In doing so, they inhibit the initial formation of mesenchymal condensations and subsequent chondrogenesis. However, this allows for the formation of a sufficiently large population of skeletal precursor cells. In later stages of chondrogenesis, after the initial acquisition of the cartilage phenotype, various FGF family members appear to be important regulators of chondrocyte proliferation. For example in mice, Fgf1 is exclusively expressed in epiphyseal resting chondrocytes, while *Fqf3* expression matches the region of the proliferative chondrocytes (Koziel et al., 2005).

In addition, three FGF receptors (*Fgfr*) are differentially expressed throughout chicken and mouse chondrogenesis. Both in chicken and in mice, *Fgfr1* is expressed in the entire limb bud mesenchyme and is down-regulated in the condensation centers (Szebenyi et al., 1995; Li et al., 2005). In chicken, *FGFR2* is found during cartilage condensation, while only *FGFR3* is observed in differentiated cartilage (Szebenyi et al., 1995). In mice, *Fgfr2* is equally expressed in chondrogenic condensations, but early-differentiated and hyaline cartilage show no *Fgfr* expression. In hypertrophic cartilages, however, all three *Fgfr* genes are expressed (Hellingman et al., 2010). The consequences of the differential expression patterns of these receptors are not completely

understood, but it is safe to assume that they mediate different responses to FGFs in various stages of cartilage development (Hellingman et al., 2010).

In zebrafish, FGFs are equally important for proper fin bud outgrowth (Fischer et al., 2003; Norton et al., 2005). However, the involvement of FGFs in zebrafish cartilage differentiation has not been intensively studied. Nevertheless, some indications exist for FGF function during cartilage differentiation, such as the expression of *fgfr2* in cartilage condensations at 48 hours post-fertilization (Tonou-Fujimori et al., 2002).

Transforming growth Factor Beta (TGFβ) superfamily

Various isoforms of TGF_β (Merino et al., 1998; Chimal-Monroy and Diaz de Leon, 1999), but also activin, another member of the TGF^β superfamily (Merino et al., 1999b), have been shown to counteract the inhibitory effects of FGFs on early limb mesenchyme differentiation, thereby allowing condensations to form. In vitro, TGFB signaling causes the production of more TGF β , a basic auto-regulatory mechanism that creates a positive feedback loop once TGF^β signaling is activated. In the chicken autopodium both TGF^{β2} and activin cause the up-regulation of Bone Morphogenetic Protein Receptor 1b (BMPR1b). This in turn allows cartilage condensations to respond to various BMP signaling molecules, such as BMP2, 4 and 7, all of which are members of the TGFB superfamily and are expressed in the limb/fin bud mesenchyme. The binding of BMP to its receptor leads to the assembly of a heterotetrameric complex of BMPRs, consisting of two type I and two type II receptors (Moustakas and Heldin, 2002). Several type I receptors and type II receptors have been identified in mammalian tissue and differential expression of these receptors mediates different responses to BMP signaling (Chen et al., 2004a). While the presence of BMPR1b expression results in chondrogenesis and digit formation in the chicken autopodium, the interdigital areas, which receive similar BMP and FGFs signals in absence of TGFβ signaling, undergo cell apoptosis (Merino et al., 1998; Merino et al., 1999b). Also in mouse limbs, *Bmpr1b* expression is essential for cartilage differentiation (Yi et al., 2000).

While BMPs may not be directly responsible for the initiation of chondrogenic condensations, they are vital in condensation growth (Duprez et al., 1996) and maturation (Enomoto-Iwamoto et al., 1998). Despite the different activation mechanisms for BMPR1b expression, the resulting BMP signaling mediates a strong up-regulation of Sox transcription factors, which important role in chondrogenesis is described above (Healy et al., 1999; Chimal-Monroy et al., 2003). However, ligand binding to BMBR1b equally enhances the expression of noggin, which binds and inactivates secreted BMP2, 4 and 7 (Zimmerman et al., 1996). Experimental over-expression of either BMPs or noggin results in oversized or undifferentiated cartilage elements in the limb, respectively (Brunet et al., 1998; Merino et al., 1998; Pizette and Niswander, 2000). This balancing act between positive and negative regulation of BMP signaling is just one example of the many autoregulatory cascades involved in chondrogenesis. Expression data available for zebrafish strongly suggest that this BMP/noggin feedback loop is a conserved feature of vertebrate chondrogenesis (Bauer et al., 1998).

Growth and Differentiation Factor 5 (GDF5) is the last member of the TGF β superfamily to be discussed. The expression of this signaling molecule exhibits a very similar pattern in both zebrafish (Crotwell et al., 2001; Crotwell and Mabee, 2007) and tetrapod chondrogenesis (Francis-West et al., 1999; Merino et al., 1999a; Storm and Kingsley, 1999). It is first expressed in the tissue surrounding chondrogenic condensations, while in the later stages it is found restricted to developing joints and the epiphyseal perichondrium. This factor has been shown to enhance condensation formation, just as other BMPs, and it stimulates appositional growth in the epiphyseal cartilage. However, in addition to its positive effects on epiphyseal growth, GDF5 is equally required in the development of the joint region where chondrogenesis is inhibited (Francis-West et al., 1999; Storm and Kingsley, 1999; Hartmann and Tabin, 2001; Crotwell and Mabee, 2007).

Hedgehog family

Indian Hedgehog (IHH) and Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) are both secreted proteins that are known to provide key signals in embryonic patterning in many organisms. Both IHH and SHH can bind to the same receptor, Patched (PTC), and ligand-binding results in the activation of GLI transcription factors, which can either activate (GLI1 and GLI2) or repress HH signaling (GLI3). In cartilage development, IHH plays a crucial role in the regulation of chondrocyte maturation. lt is only expressed in pre-hypertrophic chondrocytes, which in long bones occupy the region between proliferating and hypertrophic chondrocytes (St-Jacques et al., 1999). Nevertheless, target tissue of Hedgehog signaling can be identified by the presence of *Ptc* and *Gli* expression in the perichondrium and in non-hypertrophic chondrocytes (St-Jacques et al., 1999; Koziel et al., 2005).

The production of parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP) by the perichondral region facing non-hypertrophic cartilage is a well-studied response to IHH signaling. The PTHrP receptor is present in cartilaginous tissue from the moment condensational cells differentiate into chondrocytes (Shukunami et al., 1996) and PTHrP signaling regulates proper growth of endochondral bone (Karaplis et al., 1994; Lee et al., 1996; Vortkamp et al., 1996), mainly by preventing proliferating chondrocytes from hypertrophic differentiation (Chung et al., 1998). Interestingly, both Ihh and PTHrP are shown to be up-regulated by mechanical loading in vitro, inducing chondrocyte proliferation and inhibiting chondrocyte hypertrophy in response to these mechanical stimuli (Wu et al., 2001; Tanaka et al., 2005; Bian et al., 2012). While the IHH/PTHrP feedback loop regulates proper growth of endochondral bones by preventing proliferating cells from premature maturation, IHH signaling also mediates the transition from resting epiphyseal chondrocytes into stacked proliferative chondrocytes in a PtHrP-independent manner (Kobayashi et al., 2005; Koziel et al., 2005). Furthermore IHH signaling results in the ossification of the perichondrium (Long et al., 2004), making it one of the most versatile and important signaling molecules in tetrapod long bones (Maeda et al., 2007).

IHH is equally found in zebrafish, where it is expressed in prehypertrophic chondrocytes (Avaron et al., 2006). Just as in tetrapods, the IHH signal results in cartilage ossification (Hammond and Schulte-Merker, 2009). However, in the perichondral bones of small teleosts, IHH appears to exert this osteogenic effect not only on perichondral cells but also on the internal hypertrophic chondrocytes, which obtain many osteoblast characteristics (Gavaia et al., 2006; Hammond and Schulte-Merker, 2009).

Wnt family

WNTs are a large family of secreted molecules that transduce their signals through a number of different pathways (Gordon and Nusse, 2006). They are involved in a variety of patterning events during development, including patterning of the developing fin/limb buds (Mercader, 2007). Some evidence exists that they exert a crucial patterning function in zebrafish cartilage condensations by determining the polarization of the cartilage precursor cells (Clement et al., 2008).

WNTs are important regulators of chondrocyte differentiation. Especially the canonical or Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway appears to control chondrocyte differentiation from mesenchymal progenitors (Day et al., 2005; Day and Yang, 2008). This pathway revolves around the presence of β catenin in the cytoplasm. When WNT ligands bind to their co-receptors at the cell membrane, a sequence of events leading to accumulation of β -catenin in the cytoplasm is triggered. β -catenin is then translocated to the nucleus, where it serves as part of a transcriptional complex activating downstream target genes. In the absence of WNT ligands, β -catenin is phosphorylated and tagged for degradation. It is, however, important to note that in addition to the involvement in the canonical Wnt pathway, β -catenin is also required for proper cell-cell adhesion mediated by cadherins, which will be discussed below (section 2.2.2.) (Perez-Moreno and Fuchs, 2006). Conditional knockout of β-catenin, inhibiting canonical Wnt signaling, leads to differentiation of ectopic chondrocytes in mouse mesenchymal condensations of endochondral elements, but also in the condensations of dermal bones (Day et al., 2005).

On the other hand, ectopic activation of the canonical Wnt pathway inhibits the differentiation of cartilage condensations, while osteoblast differentiation is enhanced (Rudnicki and Brown, 1997; Day et al., 2005).

WNT14 is a well-studied example of the involvement of Wnt during chondrogenesis. It is expressed specifically in those areas of the chondrogenic condensations that will form joint regions. This Wnt has the potential to block cartilage differentiation and even reverse the cartilage phenotype *in vivo*, while it has proven to be the most upstream factor during *in vivo* joint formation currently known (Hartmann and Tabin, 2001). Just like many other factors that regulate chondrogenesis, WNT14-mediated joint formation in the autopodium appears to function through an auto-regulated mechanism, which is capable of spacing the interphalangial joints. This was concluded from misexpression experiments, in which ectopic *Wnt14* induced in chondrogenic condensation resulted in ectopic joint formation, while misexpression near developing joints inhibited further joint development (Hartmann and Tabin, 2001).

Cell-cell interactions

Although cartilage is the only type of connective tissue that does not show cell-to-cell contacts in its differentiated form, cell-cell adhesion molecules are crucial in its development. Two different cell-cell adhesion molecules are well known to be involved in cartilage development, namely Neural-cadherin (NCAD) and Neural Cell Adhesion Molecule (NCAM).

NCAD, first discovered in neural tissue, is a member of the subgroup of the classical cadherins. These cadherins are all Ca²⁺-dependent, single transmembrane glycoproteins, which mediate cell-cell adhesion by homotypic protein-protein interactions through their extracellular domain. In addition to the single transmembrane and the extracellular domain classical cadherins posses a highly conserved cytoplasmic domain responsible for binding to the actin cytoskeleton via the catenin molecules (see also above in section 2.2.2.) (Suzuki, 1996; Yonemura, 2011).

NCAD has proven to be vital in numerous developmental processes (Marrs and Nelson, 1996; Biswas et al., 2010; Miron et al., 2011; Piven et al., 2011; Redies et al., 2011) including cartilage development, in which its role appears to be highly conserved between tetrapods and teleosts. This cadherin is sparsely expressed in the mesenchyme of the early limb/fin bud. Its expression increases drastically in developing cartilage condensations, only to disappear again in differentiated cartilage (Hamburger and Hamilton, 1992; Oberlender and Tuan, 1994b; Oberlender and Tuan, 1994a; Liu et al., 2003). Interestingly, the periphery of the *N-cad* positive condensation remains strongly *Ncad* positive and will develop into the perichondrium (Oberlender and Tuan, 1994a). The crucial importance of NCAD cell-cell adhesion in the densely packed cartilage condensations is clearly shown when NCAD function is impaired. If NCAD function is blocked prior to condensation formation, chondrogenic condensations fail to form. However, if NCAD function is blocked in established condensations the differentiation of these condensations is unaltered (Hatta and Takeichi, 1986; San Antonio and Tuan, 1986; Liu et al., 2003). Concomitant with its involvement in the condensation phase of chondrogenesis, Ncad is up-regulated by signaling molecules, involved in ongoing condensation, like BMP2 and TGF^β (Chimal-Monroy and Diaz de Leon, 1999; Haas and Tuan, 1999). Interestingly, the subsequent loss of NCAD proves to be as important as its initial role in condensation establishment. In addition to being down-regulated, NCAD is shed from the cell membrane by the proteinase termed Disintegrin and Metalloproteinase domain-containing Protein 10 (ADAM10). In a human cell line, which is engineered to express a form of Ncad resistant to ADAM10-mediated shedding, the differentiation of chondrogenic condensations was inhibited (Nakazora et al., 2010).

NCAM is a glycoprotein from the immunoglobulin superfamily (Chothia and Jones, 1997). Just as NCAD, it possesses a cytoplasmic, transmembrane and an extracellular domain, the latter of which is responsible for the homotypic binding that results in cell-cell adhesion (Rao et al., 1992). However, unlike cadherins, this adhesion is Ca^{2+} independent (Rutishauser,

1990). The expression of *NCAM* is similar to the expression of *NCAD*. Although the first appearance of *NCAM* occurs slightly later than *NCAD* (Tavella et al., 1994), *Ncam* reaches its maximal expression in chondrogenesis during the condensation phase. When the condensation starts to differentiate, *Ncam* is down-regulated, leaving matured cartilage completely devoid of *Ncam*, while the perichondrium retains high *Ncam* expression (Chuong, 1990). Unlike NCAD, NCAM is not strictly required for condensation formation. However, condensation size is significantly altered when NCAM function is impaired (Chuong et al., 1993; Widelitz et al., 1993).

The last method of cell-cell interactions to be discussed does not involve a mediator of physical adhesion between cells, but rather proteins that enable direct cell-to-cell communication. Members of the Connexin (Cx) proteins form hexameric groups that form closable channels in the cell membrane. In areas of cell-to-cell contacts the channels of neighboring cells connect, forming a direct bridge between their cytoplasm, which allows rapid exchange of ions and metabolites up to approximately 1 kD in size (Evans and Martin, 2002). Aggregations of these canals in areas of cell-cell contact, often stabilized by cadherins, are called gap junctions (Segretain and Falk, 2004). Cx43 is present in many tissue types and is also found in the superficial region of epiphyseal cartilage and in cultured chondrocytes. This led researchers to believe that these chondrocytes still exhibit cell-to-cell contacts (Schwab et al., 1998). However, recent research has confirmed that these differentiated chondrocytes lack physical cell-to-cell contacts and posses Cx43 hemichannels that connect the cytoplasm to the ECM fluids (Knight et al., 2009).

This implies that Cx43 will not mediate direct cell-to-cell communication in these chondrocytes, but rather perform a different function. There are good indications that these hemichannels are involved in the ability to sense and respond to mechanical stimuli (Knight et al., 2009). The ability to respond to mechanical stimuli has proven to be an important factor in connective tissue development and homeostasis (Eckes and Krieg, 2004; Chiquet et al., 2009), including cartilaginous tissue (Kelly and Jacobs, 2010). The importance of

mechanical stimuli is apparent when skeletal muscle movements are impaired in avian embryos by inducing paralysis or disturbing muscular development. This results in shorter long bones (Hosseini and Hogg, 1991; Wong et al., 1993), cartilage tissue with lower GAG content and weaker mechanical properties (Wong et al., 1993; Mikic et al., 2004). The chondrocytes' ability to respond to mechanical stimuli with an increase in matrix production has been confirmed on cultured chondrocytes that underwent several compression cycles (Angele et al., 2004; Miyanishi et al., 2006).

Cell-matrix interactions

ECM composition through chondrogenesis

The extracellular environment contains a large array of molecules, from collagens to various glycoproteins and proteoglycans. During chondrogenesis, these ECM components show a dynamic expression profile and many have been functionally implied in various stages of cartilage development. The matrix of pre-condensation mesenchyme is generally characterized by proteoglycans, collagen type I and fibronectin. During chondrogenesis, both collagen type I and fibronectin reach their maximum expression in cartilage condensation, only to be severely down-regulated when differentiation sets in (Kosher et al., 1982; Kulyk et al., 1989). At this point, collagen type I production is replaced by collagen type II, which becomes the most abundant collagen of the cartilage ECM (von der Mark et al., 1976; Dessau et al., 1980; Ede, 1983).

Fibronectin, on the other hand, remains present in differentiated cartilage but it is far less abundant and is present in a differently spliced isoform (Gehris et al., 1996; White et al., 1996; Gehris et al., 1997). While mesenchymal fibronectin contains both exon EIIIA and EIIIB exon (B+A+), cartilage fibronectin has the EIIIA exon spliced out (B+A–). Interestingly, the presence of exon EIIIA has proven to be required for condensation formation (Gehris et al., 1997). *In vitro*, the presence of fibronectin causes strong adhesion of pre-chondrogenic cells, which results in a spread-out cell shape (Peters and Msher, 1989). This strong adhesiveness appears to be crucial for

condensation formation, but inhibitory for chondrocyte differentiation (Zanetti et al., 1990).

In addition to alternative splicing, the presence of the glycoprotein tenascin (Jones and Jones, 2000) can explain how fibronectin can be present in differentiated cartilage despite its inhibitory effects on chondrocyte differentiation. Tenascin is found in undifferentiated cartilage and in newly differentiated regions of growing cartilage, but is absent in a fully differentiated matrix. *In vitro*, this ECM component inhibits the strong spreading of pre-chondrogenic cells on a fibronectin-rich surface, allowing them to attain a more rounded cell-shape, which in turn allows the condensational cells to differentiate (Mackie et al., 1987; Zanetti et al., 1990). In these differentiated nodules, the production of proteoglycans is strongly increased and their GAG chains become more heavily sulfated (Ede, 1983; Doege et al., 1991). In addition to retaining water, these GAG function as tethers of soluble signaling factors. For example, betaglycan can bind TGF β thereby mediating the presentation of TGF β to its type II receptor (Lopez-Casillas et al., 1993).

An extraordinary example of the importance of ECM composition during chondrogenesis was given in Hurle and Colombatti (1996). They discovered that ECM remodeling associated with wound repair after surgical manipulation in the interdigital space of a chicken's hind leg autopodium can induce an ectopic digit. The authors suggest that the interdigital spaces possess an ECM composition that naturally inhibits chondrogenesis, a composition that is altered during wound repair. They found that especially elastin fibers were missing in the wounded interdigital space and that intense deposits of tenascin were formed.

Mediators of cell-matrix interaction

It is well established that the influence of ECM components on developmental processes is mediated by binding to receptor proteins at the cell membrane. In addition to providing the physical adhesion of cells to the ECM, these receptors are capable of influencing numerous intracellular pathways through their intracellular domains.

A large and well-studied group of cell-matrix adhesion molecules is the integrins. In mammals, 18 alpha and 8 beta subunits combine to form 24 different heterodimeric complexes (Hynes, 2002). Each subunit is a glycoprotein with a large extracellular domain, a transmembrane domain and an intracellular domain. Different integrin subunits can bind to collagens, laminin or a specific tripeptide sequence, such as RGD-sequence, which is present in various ECM proteins, including fibronectin (Hynes, 2002). Extracellular binding between integrins and their ligands is translated to the cells' interior by the intracellular domain of integrins, influencing the organization of the actin cytoskeleton (Hynes, 2002; Humphries et al., 2004). Together with the aggregation of integrins at specific sites in the plasma membrane, the reorganized cytoskeleton can create a variety of adhesion complexes with different adhesive properties (Geiger et al., 2001). In addition to this integrin-mediated assembly of cytoskeletal linkages, ligation of integrins also triggers a large variety of signal transduction events that serve to modulate many aspects of cell behavior including proliferation, motility, survival/apoptosis, shape, polarity, gene expression, and differentiation (Geiger et al., 2001; Hynes, 2002).

The effects of integrin ligation are mediated by a complex community of intracellular proteins that link the internal domains of integrins with the cytoskeleton and the intracellular pathways (Boudreau and Jones, 1999; Geiger et al., 2001). Although further details on this topic are not within the scope of this introduction, I will present one example that has been shown to operate in chondrogenesis. Rho GTPases are well-studied regulators of integrin-associated changes in cell behavior (DeMali et al., 2003). RHOC in particular has proven to play an important role in chicken chondrogenesis. This member of the Rho family regulates the cells' cytoskeleton so that the cell acquires an elongated shape that is associated with strong matrix adhesion. It is therefore not surprising that RHOC is required for proper condensation formation, while being inhibitory to chondrogenic differentiation. The expression profile of this GTPase in chondrogenic condensations and perichondral tissue, including interphalangial joints suggests that it serves as

an inhibitory boundary for chondrogenesis, while its down-regulation allows differentiation to occur in the core of the elements (Montero et al., 2007).

In addition to integrins, other matrix receptors are present at the cellsurface. One example is the cell surface receptor CD44 for hyaluronan, which has proven to be crucial for proper assembly of the pericellular matrix (Knudson, 1993; Knudson and Loeser, 2002). Another example is syndecan-3, a transmembrane proteoglycan that is expressed in pre-condensation mesenchyme, chondrogenic condensations and later in perichondral tissue. This transmembrane protein has been shown to interact with tenascins and most likely functions as an inhibitory boundary in the perichondral regions of cartilage elements (Koyama et al., 1995; Koyama et al., 1996). Considering that a single cell type presents an array of different integrins and other ECM receptors at its cell surface, which all connect to different ECM components and interact with a diverse community of intracellular proteins in order to mediate a cellular response, it is not surprising that many aspects of cellmatrix interaction remain poorly understood. Nevertheless these interactions have significant importance in cartilage development and homeostasis. Moreover, recent studies suggest that the chondrocytes' ability to detect and respond to mechanical stimuli (previously discussed in section 2.2.2) equally depends on cell-matrix interactions (Bershadsky et al., 2003; Spiteri et al., 2010).

It is very likely that cell-matrix interactions are equally important in actinopterygian chondrogenesis, but until this day only limited knowledge exists on matrix composition and cell-matrix interactions during chondrogenesis in this clade. The presence of collagen type II and sulfated proteoglycans in differentiated cartilage of teleosts and more basal actinopterygians is well established (Huysseune, 1989; Huysseune and Verraes, 1990; Yan et al., 1995; Kimmel et al., 1998; Davis et al., 2004), but more detailed information is currently lacking. Despite this lack of information, zebrafish and its many mutant lines have already provided valuable insights in some cell-matrix interactions. For example, analysis of zebrafish mutant lines has shown that genes responsible for the synthesis and sulfation of cartilage

proteoglycans are essential for proper chondrocyte differentiation and maturation. The affected genes in these mutant lines are known to be involved in a variety of human disease-related physiological processes and the zebrafish mutant lines currently provide the only homozygous vertebrate model systems that allow the functions of these genes to be studied *in vivo* (Clement et al., 2008; Eames et al., 2011).

1.2.3. Catabolism in cartilaginous tissue

Since chondrocytes are completely embedded in their ECM, regulated catabolism is of major importance in many aspects of cartilage development. For instance, proliferating chondrocytes of the growth plate rely on ECM remodeling in order to align in axial rows, divide and change the composition of their ECM as they mature towards hypertrophic chondrocytes, all essential aspect for the proper growth of endochondral bones. Also chondrocytes residing in the stable ECM of permanent hyaline cartilage require the ability to remodel the ECM in order to proliferate or respond to mechanical stimuli. It is well established that the proper balance between synthetic and catabolic mechanisms in both hyaline and growth plate cartilage is of crucial importance for both maintenance of permanent cartilage function, as well as progression of endochondral bone formation (Yasuhara et al., 2010). Any imbalances in such homeostatic pathways can lead to a variety of pathological skeletal conditions that include skeletal dysplasias and osteoarthritis (AO), which is one of the leading causes of disabilities in the western world (Evans et al., 2004; Page-McCaw et al., 2007; Chun et al., 2008).

Cartilaginous ECM contains a variety of structural components and an equally diverse community of catabolic enzymes is known to enable chondrocytes to degradation the cartilage ECM. Hyaluronidases, cathepsins, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and the related families of proteinases, which contain many aggrecanases, the ADAMs (a disintegrin and metalloproteases) and ADAM-TSs (ADAMs with thrombospondin repeats) are all catabolic enzymes known to have an important role in cartilage ECM degradation (Zwicky et al., 2002; Nagase and Kashiwagi, 2003; Sugimoto et al., 2004; Cawston and

Wilson, 2006; Malemud, 2006). Although many questions remain on the exact physiological role of these catabolic enzymes, research of the most recent decade clearly shows that their functions far exceed mere ECM degradation. Many of these catabolic enzymes have been implicated in an enormous range cellular processes, such as the response to mechanical stimuli, proliferation, migration, metastasis, cell survival and cell death, and even ECM production (Page-McCaw et al., 2007; Spiteri et al., 2010; Tanimoto et al., 2010; Nebelung et al., 2012).

It is, however, important to note that several important catabolic events in cartilage development are not mediated by chondrocytes. Chondroclast, which degrade calcified hypertrophic cartilage, and macrophages, which form the cartilage canals of tetrapod epiphysis, also rely on these catabolic enzymes for their digestive function.

1.3. From endoskeletal patterning to morphology

In no embryonic system has chondrogenic pattern formation more rigorously been studied than in tetrapod limbs. The interest in the mechanisms that control pattern formation in the limb skeleton is not surprising, since both the origin and the diversity of the tetrapod clade are profoundly intertwined with variations in limb morphology. However, the evolutionary mechanism behind the fin-to-limb transformation can only be illuminated if we understand how the formation of complex skeletal patterns is regulated through development. This understanding can also provide an explanation for the incredible limb diversity between extinct and extant tetrapod taxa, which enabled tetrapods to acquire their many specialized locomotory strategies (Hinchliffe, 1994; Hinchliffe, 2002; Gatesy and Middleton, 2007; Kley and Kearney, 2007; Polly, 2007; Shapiro et al., 2007; Thewissen and Taylor, 2007).

Sadly, the interest in pattern formation within tetrapod limbs was never transferred to the actinopterygian lineage, the most successful group of vertebrates with the largest radiation (Nelson, 2006). Virtually all studies that used actinopterygian species aimed to assess whether or not a certain developmental process was specific to tetrapods or rather a conserved feature of osteichthyan development. In general, these comparative studies indicate that many aspects of chondrogenic pattern formation are indeed highly conserved among Osteichthyes. Therefore, I will first summarize the research on skeletal patterning in tetrapod limbs, which was excellently reviewed in Newman and Muller (2005), before addressing the major similarities with and differences from observations made in actinopterygian chondrogenesis. In all Osteichthyes the cartilaginous embryonic skeleton that results from the initial patterns of chondrogenesis will undergo extensive remodeling in order to complete the endochondral skeleton. The processes that accomplish this remodeling will be discussed in the final chapter of the introduction.
1.3.1. Patterning of chondrogenic condensations in tetrapods

In tetrapod limbs, cartilage condensations form in a proximo-distal direction as the limb bud continues to grow outward, with exception of urodelian limbs in which distal condensation form prior to more proximal elements. Shubin and Alberch (1986) subdivided the patterns in which these condensations are formed into three distinct categories, i.e. de novo formation, segmentation and branching or bifurcation. The authors hypothesized that the traction from cell movement on the extracellular matrix causes these discontinuous patterns to form during mesenchymal morphogenesis (Oster et al., 1983). Testing of this hypothesis showed, however, that limb mesenchyme does not produce traction on the ECM at least not in vitro (Markwald et al., 1990). Furthermore, patterns of in vitro condensations proved inconsistent with the predictions based on the mechanical-traction model proposed by Shubin and Alberch (Miura and Maini, 2004). Finally, it was shown that the number of skeletal elements in a specific section of the limb is already determined well before the first morphological signs of condensations (Wolpert and Hornbruch, 1990), suggesting that molecular processes pattern the limb mesenchyme rather than the mechanical forces of the morphogenic process. However, despite the lack of scientific support for the mechanical-traction model, the three condensation categories described by Shubin and Alberch (1986) proved to be universally applicable and remain in use until this day.

As an alternative to the mechanical traction model, it has often been hypothesized that the expression patterns of certain genes defined the major axes of the limb bud. The combination of these gene expressions would provide 'coordinate' information to the limb mesenchyme, which would in turn commit to form the skeletal element fitting to its position. Numerous studies have tried to identify morphogens capable of specifying the axis of the limb bud (Tickle, 2003). Many candidates, such as Shh (Wolpert and Hornbruch, 1981; Riddle et al., 1993), retinoic acid (Tickle et al., 1985), retinoic acid receptors (Maden et al., 1988), BMPs (Dahn and Fallon, 2000) and Hox genes (Morgan and Tabin, 1994; Wagner and Chiu, 2001), have been proposed to perform such function. Although many of these factors proved vital in limb bud establishment, outgrowth and even patterning, further investigation always disproved simple axis-specific informational roles involved in chondrogenesis, for these factors (Noji et al., 1991; Wanek et al., 1991; Davis and Capecchi, 1994; Graham, 1994; Dudley et al., 2002; Sun et al., 2002; Ahn and Joyner, 2004).

Shh, for example, is expressed in a distinct region of the posterior portion of the limb bud, often referred to as the posterior zone of polarization (ZPA). When this zone is transplanted to the anterior region of a host bud, the limb skeleton distal to the stylopodium is duplicated in a mirror image, suggesting that different Shh concentrations result in the formation of different components of the limb skeleton (Wolpert and Hornbruch, 1981; Riddle et al., 1993). However, detailed examination of limb development in Shh null mutants shows that the role of this signaling molecule is far more profound than the specification of skeletal element identity. In the absence of Shh, initial stages of limb bud formation are unaffected and girdle and stylopod elements develop normally. However, the AER and the FGFs it produces are lost in later stages of limb bud outgrowth, resulting in strongly reduced limb buds in which zeugo- and autopodial elements are severely reduced and malformed. This indicates that Shh is required to maintain proper limb bud outgrowth, thus providing the precursors of the more distal elements (Chiang et al., 2001a). Nevertheless, Shh and more specifically its gradient distribution in the autopodium could aid in determining digit identity, but several lines of research have yielded contradictory results on this matter (Ahn and Joyner, 2004; Harfe et al., 2004).

The Hox genes are another example of well-studied candidates for limb patterning. In the limb bud, Hox genes belonging to the paralogous groups 9– 13 of Hox A and D clusters are expressed in nested domains along the proximo-distal as well as antero-posterior axes, creating different combinations of Hox genes or different Hox codes in different regions of the limb bud. The nested expression patterns of these Hox genes appear to be regulated in three distinct phases, which apparently coincide with the three

proximo-distal regions of the limb skeleton (Morgan and Tabin, 1994; Wagner and Chiu, 2001). The last of these phases is limited to the region of the future autopodium, showing Hox genes expressed in the antero-posterior direction. Therefore, it was often speculated that this third phase was specific to tetrapod autopodium development and was required in order to establish digit identity (Hinchliffe, 1994; Sordino et al., 1995; Shubin et al., 1997; Hinchliffe and Vorobyeva, 1999; Wagner and Chiu, 2001; Hinchliffe, 2002; Spitz et al., 2003; Galis et al., 2005; Kundrát, 2009). More recent studies have shown, however, that both basal actinopterygians and teleost fins show a tri-phasic Hox expression pattern, including a final anterio-posterior phase in the distalmost portion of the fins (Davis et al., 2007; Ahn and Ho, 2008). As will be discussed in detail below, the fin skeleton differs considerably from the skeleton in tetrapod limbs. Thus the occurrence of a highly similar Hox-code pattern in these very different skeletal morphologies, i.e. the tetrapod autopodium and the distal part of actinopterygian pectoral fins, makes it unlikely that Hox-codes directly control the identity of individual skeletal elements, as was proposed for the autopodium digits. It rather suggests that these molecular patterns control the inherent properties of the limb and fin mesenchyme to generate discrete skeletal structures. This idea is very nicely illustrated by a recent study on HoxA 13 mutant mice, which show missing phalanx elements, fusions of the carpal/tarsal elements, and significant reductions in metacarpal/metatarsal length (Perez et al., 2010). This mutant phenotype appeared to be caused by increased levels BMP 2, which stimulates cartilage condensation growth, and decreased levels GDF 5, which regulates joint formation, thus suggesting that HoxA 13 biases limb mesenchyme precursors to aggregate in several small condensations rather than to create fewer larger condensations (Perez et al., 2010). Interestingly, in both fins and limbs the distal expression domain of HoxA 13 is consistent with the occurrence of more and smaller skeletal elements than in more proximal regions of fins and limbs. In general, it can be concluded that the factors involved in limb bud patterning do not directly result in certain skeletal patterns. Instead, these factors limit and refine other morphogenic molecules,

which in turn modulate the inherent properties of limb mesenchyme cells to generate discrete skeletal structures (Innis et al., 2002; Sun et al., 2002; Chen et al., 2004b; Harfe et al., 2004; Scherz et al., 2004; Zakany et al., 2004).

All these findings suggest that a more integrated approach is needed in order to fully understand pattern formation in the limb endoskeleton. As mentioned in section 2.2. of this introduction, chondrogenesis is mediated by more than simple gene expression resulting from secreted signaling molecules. After activation of the chondrogenic pathway by for instance TGF β , many auto-regulatory mechanisms, which revolve around more than the control over gene expression, spring into action. These processes, such as the inhibitory binding of noggin to BMPs, the secretion and subsequent adhesion of pre-chondrogenic cells to fibronectin, and the up-regulation of cell-cell adhesion, play an equally vital role in chondrogenesis. Since these processes are not directly represented in the genetics of the cells, they are often referred to as epigenetic mechanisms of development. Attempts to integrate the effects of auto-regulatory genetic systems and important epigenetic factors through computer modeling have produced intriguing results.

These computer models are built around Turing's reaction-diffusion model, which uses partial differential equations to describe how a slow-spreading and self-enhancing "activator" (of any process or reaction) that induces, either directly or indirectly, the production of a faster spreading "inhibitor", gives rise to spatial patterning of the reaction product (Turing, 1952). Using this principle and applying it to chondrogenesis by creating differential equations for known processes in chondrogenesis, various authors have indicated that all three major patterns, i.e. *de novo* formation, segmentation (Meinhardt, 2001; Miura and Maini, 2004) and bifurcation (Newman and Muller, 2005) can be generated by these models, with parameters ranging well within physiological conditions.

It is, however, important to note that all these models are based on simplifying assumptions. Despite the current advances in the modeling power of computers, it remains impossible to modulate all the known auto-regulatory

processes involved in chondrogenesis. In addition, new auto-regulated events continue to be discovered. For example, hairy 1, the gene that regulates the molecular clock, which has proven to control the formation of new somites in vertebrate embryos (Andrade et al., 2007; Brend and Holley, 2009), has also been implicated in limb bud outgrowth (Vasiliauskas et al., 2003). Nevertheless, this line of research has shown that relatively simple auto-regulatory cascades, many of which prove to be conserved features of chondrogenesis (see section 2.2.), are themselves capable of producing all of the skeletal patterns observed in tetrapod limbs, depending on several factors such as limb bud size, shape and outgrowth (Newman and Muller, 2005).

1.3.2. Similarities and differences between patterns in fins and limbs

Until this day, no underlying developmental processes are known to explain the morphological differences between fins and limbs. Many processes that regulate chondrogenesis are found to be preserved features among Osteichthyes (discussed in section 2.2.) and virtually all factors known to regulate limb bud patterning, such as the ZPA or Hox codes, appear to be present in a similar fashion in fin buds, as shown by Mercader (2007). This is, however, not surprising since the factors involved in limb outgrowth and shaping can be traced back to ancestral metazoans where they were also (based on their functions in modern invertebrates) responsible for tissue outgrowth and shaping. The conclusions gathered from computer modeling of tetrapod limb chondrogenesis (discussed in section 3.1.) provide an interesting angle to explain how very similar developmental processes can result in considerably different skeletal morphologies. This line of research suggests that the many auto-regulatory events in chondrogenesis could produce diverse skeletal patterns, which heavily depend on subtle differences in limb bud size, shape and outgrowth. In this chapter, I will discuss in which aspects fin development and the formation of the fin endoskeleton differ from or are similar to the observations on tetrapod species.

The common origin of fins and limbs

It is commonly believed that the ancestral paired fin of all extant Chondrichthyes and Osteichthyes is a rather broadly based fin that possesses three basal cartilaginous or endochondral elements, which articulate with the girdle. From anterior to posterior these elements are called the propterygium, the mesopterygium and the metapterygium. These elements articulate distally with a series of increasingly smaller elements called the proximal and distal radials. The distal radials are flanked by a ventral and a dorsal series of fin rays (lepidotrichia) that extend into the fin fold. As the sarcopterygian and the actinopterygian lineage diverged, they retained different aspects of this ancestral fin (Figure 4).



Figure 4

Schematic representation of the pectoral skeleton of the major extant gnathostome taxa. For comparative purposes all fins were depicted at the same horizontal level, despite the fact that they represent fins from species of different taxonomical level. The endoskeleton is represented in green, yellow and blue for the pro-, meso- and meta-pterygium respectively. Collagenous or bony fin rays are shown in grey.

Although ancestral sarcopterygians also started out with a broad-based tribasal fin (Zhu and Yu, 2009), extant sarcopterygian species generally possess a slender-based fin in which the endoskeleton represents only the

most posterior portion of the ancestral fin, i.e. the metapterygium. In this lineage, the metapterygial axis is subdivided, creating a series of proximodistally articulating elements. In extant sarcopterygian species such as Dipnoi and Crossopterygians, the elements of the metapterygial axis articulate with numerous radials, both anterior and posterior to the main fin axis, called preand post-axial radials. These radials support the bony fin rays that continue into a fin fold. In tetrapods, which form a derived clade within the sarcopterygian lineage, the pectoral skeleton was further reduced and reorganized during the transition from aquatic to terrestrial locomotion. These morphological changes are well documented in paleontological records, but are still not completely understood (Wagner and Chiu, 2001; Coates and Ruta, 2007; Wagner and Larsson, 2007). All tetrapod limbs show a single proximal element, the stylopodium, which distally articulates with only two elements, the zeugopodium. The most distal section of the tetrapod limb is the autopodium. Depending on the taxon, the latter comprises a variable number of carpals/tarsals, metacarpals/tarsals and digits, each consisting of several phalanges. However, the most important derived character of tetrapod limb is the loss of the fin fold. It has been proposed that the AER of tetrapod limbs is homologous to the earliest anlage of the fin fold in other Osteichthyes (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). In fins an epithelial thickening at the distal edge of the fin bud grows outwards into an epithelial fold. This fold is then invaded by mesenchymal tissue and eventually it will develop the bony fin rays. It is important to note that the fin fold is never invaded by myogenic tissue and never contains cartilaginous elements. All fins are thus composed of a proximal section that contains the endoskeleton and musculature and a distal fin fold section in which only dermal bones form. The loss of AER outgrowth in tetrapods results in the complete absence of this later section. Recent research has shown that the loss of two genes that encode a structural collagen of the fin ray, actinodin 1 and 2, which support the early stages of the fin fold, could have contributed to the loss of the fin fold and even to the emergence of the autopodium in tetrapods (Zhang et al., 2010).

Paired fins in the actinopterygian lineage

Just as in tetrapod limbs, the endoskeleton of actinopterygian fins forms in a proximo-distal direction as long as the fin bud grows outward. Furthermore, the pattern in which chondrogenic condensations form can equally be considered as either de novo formations, segmentations or bifurcation events, as described by Shubin and Alberch (1986). However, in the actinopterygian lineage, the three distinct portions of the ancestral fin are still represented in various taxa with a more basal phylogenetic position. The fin buds of these basal actinopterygians are generally more anterio-posteriorly elongated than the slender and proximo-distally elongated buds of sarcopterygians and the developing endoskeleton possesses developmental characteristics of both tetrapod limbs and the fins of more derived actinopterygians.

Similarities between pectoral endoskeletal development of basal actinopterygians and tetrapod limbs are found in the most posterior regions of the fin during the period in which the fin bud continues to grow outward. Just as tetrapod limbs, the fins of basal actinopterygians are characterized by a long period of proximo-distal outgrowth. In these fins, a metapterygial element articulates proximally with the girdle, and runs along the caudal border of the fin towards its distal margin. The fin bud grows outward along its entire distal border in a region also referred to as the distal rim mesenchyme. This growth region contains undifferentiated precursor cells situated just proximally from the apical fin fold, similar to the undifferentiated mesenchymal cells underneath the AER in limb buds. However, only in the posterior metapterygial region new radials are added to the growing fin field. Just as in tetrapod limbs, these new radials form by bifurcations at the growing distal edge of the metapterygial element (Davis et al., 2004) (Figure 5).

As proximo-distal outgrowth slows down, the distal edge of each radial will form a separate element, i.e. the distal radial (Davis et al., 2004). Although the development of these radials was never described in detail, it is possible to deduce from published figures and from our own observations that these elements are formed as subdivisions of the proximal radial condensations.



Figure 5

This figure shows the development of the pectoral endoskeleton in a derived actinopterygian, zebrafish (A-D), a basal actinopterygian, paddlefish (E-H), and a derived sarcopterygian, mouse (I-K). In addition, this figure shows that the development of bony fin rays in actinopterygians coincides with the formation of distal radials (D and H). Yellow shows the formation of multiple elements out of a continuous anlage, typical for actinopterygians, while green shows the formation of new elements by bifurcation, typical for tetrapods. (A) adapted from Grandel and Schulte-Merker (1998). (E-H) adapted from Davis et al. (2004). (I-K) adapted from Boulet and Capecchi (2004).

These subdivisions bear a striking resemblance to the subdivisions that form the digital phalanges in the tetrapod autopodium. However, in actionpterygians these subdivisions occur concomitant with the formation of the bony fin rays in the fin fold, both of which are lost in tetrapods (Figure 5).

Apart from these features of actinopterygian fin chondrogenesis, recognizably similar to tetrapod limbs, other aspects appear to be unique to actinopterygian fin chondrogenesis. The most important difference can be found in the earliest anlage of the fins' endoskeleton. The earliest sign of chondrogenesis in actinopterygian fin buds is the formation of a single chondrogenic condensation from which the future cartilaginous part of the girdle as well as the radials of the external fin will form. In the external part of the fin bud, this condensed pre-skeletal tissue forms as a disk-shaped condensation that spans the entire muscularized portion of the fin bud, ending at the proximal margin of the fin fold (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Davis et al., 2004). As the fin bud expands along its distal margin, separate cartilaginous fin radials are formed out of this continuous condensation. The individualization of these radials appears to be accomplished by the continued differentiation of the radial tissue, in contrast to a loss of pre-skeletal characteristics in the interradial areas (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Davis et al., 2004) (Figure 5).

This is contrary to observations in tetrapods, where the limb elements are formed by the emergence of several discrete condensations in loosely packed mesenchymal tissue. It is, however, important to note that the formation of multiple elements from a single condensation is not limited to actinopterygian fins, but is a widespread phenomenon. In Chondrichthyes (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998) and even in some lissamphibian species (Shearman, 2008), the condensations of the pectoral girdle are also continuous with the condensations of the external elements. Likewise, as mentioned earlier, individual phalanges in the tetrapod autopodium are formed out of a continuous digit condensation (Casanova and Sanz-Ezquerro, 2007), just as the different elements of the same branchial arch in the splanchnocranium differentiate from a single condensation, both in

actinopterygians (Kimmel et al., 2001) and in tetrapods (Miyake et al., 1996). One could argue that it becomes impossible to distinguish between *de novo* formation and segmentation events due to the densely packed nature of both pre-skeletal and non-skeletal cells. Even in tetrapods, where condensations are identified as separate entities by histology, faint alcian blue positive zones can be observed in the regions that will develop into joints connecting the early elements in a continuous alcian blue positive structure. (Figure 5)

In all actinopterygian species, proximal fin radials form from a single skeletal condensation that expands as long as the fin bud grows outward. The distal fin radials form at the edge of the endoskeletal fin disk when proximodistal outgrowth has stopped and bony fin rays or lepidotrichia start to form. Only in teleosts a distal radial forms at the base of each lepidotrichium, resulting in several distal radials for each proximal element. However, the development of the proximal radials also shows remarkable differences between various actinopterygian species. Grandel and Schulte-Merker (1998) reviewed that the level of tissue differentiation in the continuous fin disk prior to proximal radial individualization differs significantly between actinopterygian taxa. While in Acipenser ruthenus and Acipenser stellatus the disk-shaped anlage is composed of compacted mesenchyme, this anlage has been described as 'procartilaginous' in Acipenser sturio and Amia calva or 'cartilaginous' in Polyperus senegalus, Lepidosteus species and teleosts. In all these taxa, proximal radials individualize when the interradial regions loose their skeletal nature. However, when the interradials are already composed of cartilaginous tissue this event includes the loss of apparently differentiated cartilaginous tissue and can thus be considered as a remodeling event of the embryonic cartilage skeleton. Interestingly, both *Polyperus senegalus* (Bartsch et al., 1997) and teleost species (Thorsen et al., 2004; own observations) actively use their pectoral appendages prior to the subdivision of the continuous skeletal disk. It is very likely that these actinopterygian taxa have evolved the possibility to produce a premature, functional larval pectoral fin by prolonging the disc-phase during pectoral development (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998).

It is, however very important to note that teleost and polypterid species (also called Bichirs, see Figure 1) exhibit considerable phylogenetic distance. While teleosts are considered the crown group of most derived actinopterygians, polypterids occupy a very basal phylogenetic position (Hurley et al., 2007; Suzuki et al., 2010). This large phylogenetic distance is also seen in other aspects of their pectoral development. While polypterids exhibit an extensive period of fin bud outgrowth resulting in a considerably large contribution of cartilaginous elements to the pectoral fin skeleton (Bartsch et al., 1997), the pectoral fin bud outgrowth is strongly reduced in more derived actinopterygian species, like Amia calva and Lepidosteus species, resulting in a strong reduction of cartilaginous elements in the pectoral fin skeleton (Goodrich, 1958; Jarvik, 1980). In teleost species, this reduction of fin bud outgrowth is the most extreme and only four proximal radials remain in the pectoral fins, while the main portion of their fins is supported by bony fin rays. It is, therefore, highly likely that the establishment of an early disk-shaped pectoral skeleton and its subsequent subdivision into proximal radials in both teleosts and polypterids is an example of convergent evolution.

1.3.3. Remodeling of the embryonic cartilage skeleton

In all Osteichthyes chondrogenic condensations differentiate to form an embryonic cartilage skeleton that will serve as a template from which the adult skeleton can be forged. Remodeling of this embryonic skeleton in order to achieve adult skeletal morphology is a common feature of osteichthyan skeletogenesis. It is, however, important to stress that remodeling is often used to address bone rejuvenation in response to mechanically induced micro fissures, by the formation of secondary osteons. In this sense bone remodeling distinguishes from bone modeling, which indicates shape and density adaptations of bony tissue in response to loading conditions (Currey, 2003). However, in this report remodeling is not used to distinguish between these aspects of bone development, it is rather used to encompass all fundamental morphological modifications to the cartilaginous embryonic skeleton as it matures to its final adult morphology.

In tetrapods, this remodeling is often achieved during or after endochondral bone formation, which, as mentioned before, occurs relatively earlier in tetrapods than in fish. Growth and especially allometric growth between different parts of the skeleton is one important process by which the early embryonic skeleton can be modified. The digits supporting bat wings present a striking example. While they are initially not different from the short digits of mice, excessive growth in the metaphyseal growth plates makes them develop into the very long and slender digits needed to support the bats' wings (Sears et al., 2006). Just as in the evolution of bat wings, the amount of metaphyseal growth has played an important role in the evolution of specialized limbs in many tetrapod taxa (Hinchliffe, 1977; Hinchliffe and Griffiths, 1983; Müller, 1991). In actinopterygians, metaphyseal growth contributes less to changes in the embryonic skeleton, because endochondral ossification appears later in development when most of the skeletal elements have reached adult proportions (Cubbage and Mabee, 1996; Bird and Mabee, 2003; Davis et al., 2004).

The fusion of skeletal elements is a second mechanism by which the embryonic skeleton can be modified. In many mammalian taxa the metacarpal and metatarsal bones of the autopodium are fused to various degrees, especially in ungulates. Avian metatarsals fuse as well and, in this case, it is well described that these fusions occur after the elements have ossified (Namba et al., 2010). In zebrafish, fusion between skeletal elements is a known phenomenon. For example the cleithrum, which is a dermal bone of the pectoral girdle, and the coracoid, an endochondral portion of the girdle, fuse when an extension or apolamellae of the coracoid perichondral bone connects to the cleithrum (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). Note that again this fusion takes place after ossification.

Finally, the embryonic skeleton can be modified by the loss or regression of specific cartilaginous elements or regions. In tetrapods, regressions of skeletal elements during limb development are rare (Shubin

and Alberch, 1986) and detailed observations on such events are not available. It is, however, important to note that the term regression is also used for the evolutionary reduction of the skeleton. For example, in the cetacean lineage hind limbs are severely reduced, but this reduction is accomplished by a premature arrest in hind limb development and not by the loss or regression of specific cartilaginous elements during hind limb development (Thewissen et al., 2006). Other reports of skeletal regression do correspond to the actual loss of a skeletal structure during development. However, this does not necessarily mean that skeletal tissue is actually lost. For example, in avian wings the anlage of digits I and V seemingly disappear shortly after they are formed. In this case, the anlage of digits I and V never fully develop, while digits II, III and IV continue to grow and gradually incorporate the anlagen of digit I and V (Galis et al., 2003). A highly similar event is known in zebrafish, were the post-coracoid process was thought to regress some weeks after its formation (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). However, our own investigation showed that the cartilage tissue in this process is not lost but rather becomes inconspicuous by appositional growth at other sites of the cartilage girdle (Chapter 2).

Nevertheless some examples of cartilage loss during skeletal development do exist. In amphibians, the hyoid arch radically decreases in diameter during metamorphosis (Rose, 2009). In the mouse endoskeleton, three separate regions are known to regress during development, i.e. (1) the calvarial cartilages of the cranium, (2) the grove of Ranvier situated next to the metaphysis of long bones, and (3) the posterior section of the Meckelian cartilage, which transforms into sphenomandibular ligament (Harada and Ishizeki, 1998; Holmbeck et al., 1999; Holmbeck et al., 2003). It is, however, safe to conclude that remodeling of the embryonic skeleton by the loss or regression of cartilage tissue is an uncommon mechanism in skeletal development that is very poorly understood. The formation of the proximal radials in teleost pectoral fins is by far the prime example of how cartilage loss can contribute to normal skeletal development.

Before this doctoral research, the only available information on this event was the loss of sulfated proteoglycans in the interradial regions, suggesting the loss of cartilage ECM. Therefore, these regions were called matrix decomposition zones. However, no attempts were made to discover how the ECM is degraded and which cell types are responsible. I will investigate the involvement of various cell types known to degrade cartilaginous tissue, as well as the involvement of some of the digestive enzymes or proteinases that are capable of degrading the structural components of the cartilage ECM, such as acid phosphatases, matrix metalloproteinases and cathepsins. In general, this doctoral research aimed to understand the cellular mechanism behind this loss of cartilage that is essential for proper pectoral development in over 30% of all vertebrate species, i.e. teleosts.

2. Aims and Outline

Teleost fish are characterised by an unusual architectural transformation of their pectoral fin endoskeleton. In this transformation, a continuous cartilage element that comprises both the girdle, internal to the body wall, and a disk-shaped cartilage, called the fin disk cartilage, external to the body wall, subdivides into the scapulocoracoid and four rod-like proximal radials (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Dewit et al., 2011).

In this doctoral thesis, I investigated which cellular mechanisms underlie the loss of cartilage tissue during the development of the pectoral fin endoskeleton in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), a teleost species commonly used in developmental research.

First, I asked myselves whether the composition of extracellular matrix (ECM) in the fin-disk cartilage would represent unusual features, related to the type of transformation observed. The presence of certain ECM components, such as collagen type I and II, tenascin, elastin and fibronectin, can reliably distinguish different types of connective tissues, as well as different developmental stages in cartilage development (Hall, 2005). In other actinopterygian taxa, the pectoral fin endoskeleton equally forms out of a continuous anlage, but in the majority of more basal actinopterygians the subdivision occurs prior to cartilage differentiation. By examining the ECM composition I aimed to test two separate hypotheses. First, that differences in ECM composition between presumptive interradial tissue and radial cartilages could foreshadow the process of subdivision in the fin disk. Second, that the fin disk cartilage is not composed of fully matured cartilaginous tissue prior to

subdivision, as it is the case in more basal actinopterygians. For the latter I compared the ECM composition of the fin disk cartilage with the cartilages of the splanchnocranium and the median fins. (Chapter 1).

Second, I aimed to understand how the ECM in the interradial regions is resorbed and which cells are responsible for this resorption. According to the literature, the degradation of chondrocytes and their elaborate ECM can only be accomplished by a limited number of cellular mechanisms. Specialized resorption cells, such as macrophages (Blumer et al., 2008) or chondroclasts (Vu et al., 1998), can resorb cartilaginous tissue. The resident chondrocytes can undergo programmed cell death, apoptosis, and be resorbed secondarily by the surrounding tissue or the previously mentioned specialized resorption cells (Bronckers et al., 2000). Finally, chondrocytes could de-/trans-differentiate, arresting the production of new ECM components and resorbing their previously secreted ECM (Yocum et al., 1995; Holmbeck et al., 2003). I aimed to evaluate the involvement of each of these processes by using a variety of techniques, such as (tartrate-resistant) acid phosphatase detection, acridin orange / propidium red staining and a detailed analysis of the fin disk cartilage ultrastructure during its transformation (Chapter 2).

Third, I questoned whether proteinases would be involved in the ECM degradation during the subdivision of the pectoral fin cartilage. Several members of the matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) family are known to be essential in both normal and pathological loss of cartilage tissue in tetrapod models (Imai et al., 1997; Holmbeck et al., 1999; Ishiguro et al., 2002; Murphy et al., 2002; Holmbeck et al., 2003; Kuroki et al., 2005; Malemud, 2006). Using immunohistochemical detection and both broad and narrow spectrum pharmacological inhibition, I tested the contribution of these MMPs to the subdivision process (Chapter 3).

Finally, collaboration with the laboratory of Dr. Winkler (Singapore University) allowed us to study the involvement of another proteinase, cathepsin K, during the cartilage subdivision in the medaka (*Oryzias latipes*), another model teleost species only distantly related to zebrafish. First, I

wished to investigate if cathepsin K is expressed during the subdivision process, by using both a transgenic reporter line and specimens hybridized *in situ* for cathepsin K. Second, I took advantage of the abundant expression of cathepsin K in chondro/osteoclast cells (To et al., 2012) to test whether medaka and zebrafish behave similarly with respect to the (lack of) involvement of chondroclasts in the subdivision of the pectoral fin cartilage (Chapter 4).

3. Results

3.1. The distribution of fibronectin in developing zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) cartilage

by

J. Dewit, P. E. Witten, M. Willems and A. Huysseune

Reference:

Dewit, J., Witten, P. E., Willems, M. and Huysseune, A. (2010) 'The distribution of fibronectin in developing zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) cartilage', *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* 26(2): 205-209.

Affiliations:

Research Group Evolutionary Developmental Biology, Biology Department, Ghent University, 9000 Ghent, Belgium

3.1. The distribution of fibronectin in developing zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) cartilage

Abstract

The extracellular matrix (ECM) plays a complex and vital role throughout the process of cartilage formation. Fibronectin is a large ECM glycoprotein with an important role in various developmental processes, including skeletogenesis. Taking advantage of the known sequence of cartilage development in zebrafish and using an immunohistochemical stain for collagen type II to identify differentiation phase cartilage, we evaluate the distribution of fibronectin in various cartilaginous elements of the zebrafish (elements of the splanchnocranium, and of the dorsal, caudal, pelvic and pectoral fins). Contrary to what is observed in tetrapods, our data on zebrafish indicate the apparent lack of fibronectin during the condensation phase of cartilage development. This lack is possibly linked to the high developmental rate of the zebrafish and the small size of the condensations, which brings different needs for the extracellular environment to ensure cell survival. Furthermore, the fin disk cartilage of the pectoral fin develops an ECM with a strong fibronectin signal, whereas other cartilage elements show only a weak fibronectin signal in early differentiation, which gradually disappears. Thus, the pectoral fin disk cartilage is unique not only because of its specific way of development (subdivision of a continuous plate into four elements, the proximal radials), but also because of its strong fibronectin-positive ECM.

Introduction

The development of skeletal elements can be subdivided into four transient stages. The first is the migration of precursor cells to their future site of skeletogenesis. The second stage is the signaling interaction between epithelium and mesenchyme, leading to the formation of a skeletogenic condensation. This condensation of cells, which all contribute to further skeletal development, is seen as a third phase of skeletogenesis. Differentiation, i.e. the establishment of a specific cell phenotype, is the fourth and final phase (Hall and Miyake, 2000).

Most elements of the vertebrate endoskeleton develop as cartilage, which is later surrounded by perichondral bone and replaced by endochondral bone. However, in smaller teleost species, such as zebrafish, endochondral bone formation is a rare event. Here, cartilage that is surrounded by perichondral bone usually persists, or is replaced by adipose tissue (Verreijdt et al., 2002; Witten and Huysseune, 2007; Witten and Huysseune, 2009; Witten et al., 2010). Throughout the process of cartilage formation, the extracellular matrix (ECM) plays a complex and vital role. In fact, a considerable portion of our understanding of cartilage development has been acquired through the detection of various ECM components during this process in tetrapod models (Hall and Miyake, 1995).

One ECM component with a supposed in important role chondrogenesis is fibronectin. Fibronectin is a large glycoprotein that displays complex interactions with cell surface receptors and with other ECM components (Pankov and Yamada, 2002). Fibronectin has been found to be of vital importance in numerous developmental processes, such as neural tube, somite and vascular development (George et al., 1993). During tetrapod cartilage development, fibronectin is strongly up-regulated at the condensation stage compared to the uncondensed surrounding mesenchyme (Kulyk et al., 1989). Yet, the role of this versatile protein is far from completely understood. For instance, when chicken wing and leg bud cell cultures were treated with a monoclonal antibody directed against the amino-terminal heparin-binding domain of fibronectin. condensation formation was inhibited and

chondrogenesis was reduced in wing buds. Surprisingly, condensation formation in leg bud cell cultures remained unchanged (Downie and Newman, 1995). Similarly, *in vivo* injection of a monoclonal antibody, directed against the alternatively spliced exon IIIa of fibronectin, had no effect on leg buds, but inhibited chondrogenesis in wing buds (Gehris et al., 1997).

This variation between different cartilage condensations in the chick inspired us to gather data on fibronectin distribution in the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). The zebrafish has become a widely acknowledged model to study molecular aspects of cartilage formation, in particular in the splanchnocranium (Kimmel et al., 2001), but until now no data are available on the ECM composition in the various phases of cartilage development throughout the body.

An additional incentive to gather data on ECM components, like fibronectin, in zebrafish, is the teleost-specific pectoral development. In tetrapod limbs, the initial pattern of cartilage condensation can be modified by fusion, growth and, in rare cases, regression of the cartilage elements (Hinchliffe, 1977; Hinchliffe and Griffiths, 1983; Shubin and Alberch, 1986; Müller, 1991). In zebrafish, on the other hand, most of the pectoral girdle and fin endoskeleton arises as a continuous cartilaginous element. This continuous anlage is formed during the second and the third day postfertilization and consists of the girdle element and a cartilaginous disk supporting the functional larval fin. This cartilaginous disk subdivides into the four proximal radials during the third and fourth week post-fertilization, when the interradial tissue looses its cartilaginous character and forms so-called matrix decomposition zones (MDZ) (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Witten and Huysseune, 2007) (Figure 1).



In this study, we evaluate the distribution of fibronectin during the condensation and differentiation phase of cartilaginous elements of the splanchnocranium and of the dorsal, caudal, pelvic and pectoral fins. Taking advantage of the known sequence of cartilage development in zebrafish, and using an immunohistochemical stain for collagen type II to ascertain the timing of differentiation of the cartilage, we show that fibronectin is absent in zebrafish cartilage condensations. Furthermore, the pectoral fin disk cartilage is unique not only because of its specific way of development, but also because of its strongly fibronectin-positive ECM.

Material and Methods

Zebrafish specimens used for this study ranged from 48 h postfertilization (hpf) to 45 days post-fertilization (dpf). Animals were raised at a standard temperature of 28.5°C in E3 medium (Kimmel et al., 1995). They were fed with dry food starting from 5 dpf until 13 dpf, after which they were fed with freshly hatched Artemia. For staging purposes, age was used for specimens up to 1 week old; for later stages, notochordal length (NL) was used. To study the condensation phase, we selected the branchial arch cartilages (48-60 hpf), the pectoral girdle and fin disk (35-70 hpf), the pelvic fin cartilages (5.4-7.0 mm NL) and the distal radials of the pectoral fin (6.0-8.0 mm NL), which are formed during the subdivision of the pectoral fin disk. The developmental sequence of these elements was described in detail (De Beer, 1937; Kimmel et al., 1995; Cubbage and Mabee, 1996; Schilling and Kimmel, 1997; Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998).

Figure 1

Schematic overview of the reorganization of the zebrafish pectoral fin endoskeleton. Abbreviations: A: actinotrichia, C: cleithrum, CSZ 0-3: cartilage subdivision zone 0-3, DR: distal radial, FD: fin disk cartilage, LP: lepidotrichia, PR1-4: proximal radial 1-4, SC: scapulocoracoid cartilage, POP: postcoracoid process, PRP: precoracoid process.

We used a mouse anti-collagen type II antibody (II-6II3, Hybridoma Bank) to determine the exact moment of commitment to a cartilaginous phenotype or differentiation stage, for each of the elements studied (Yan et al., 1995), i.e. to identify the developmental stage of a certain specimen in the well-known developmental sequence of the zebrafish endoskeleton. This allowed to link fibronectin data even to the condensation stage of chondrogenesis, which is not yet characterized by collagen type II. It is, for example, safe to assume that in Figure 2 (a-c) the fourth branchial arch is in condensation phase, since collagen type II is present in all pharyngeal arches except arch four which normally develops only a few hours after the third branchial arch. The distribution of fibronectin can thus be linked to a specific phase of cartilage development, by means of a double immuno-histochemical detection of both collagen type II and fibronectin.

Specimens used for light microscopy were fixed in a mixture of paraformaldehyde (PFA) and glutaraldehyde, decalcified in 0.1 M EDTA added to the fixative, and processed for embedding in epon as described in Huysseune and Sire (1992). Subsequently, semi-thin serial sections of 2 μ m were prepared and counterstained with toluidine blue.

Specimens used for immunohistochemistry were fixed in 4% PFA for 24 h at 4°C, dehydrated and stored in methanol at -20°C. Prior to staining, embryos or larvae were rehydrated. For larvae larger than 5.0 mm NL, the head, and the caudal, dorsal and pectoral fins were dissected to allow optimal tissue orientation under the confocal laser scanning microscope (CLSM). The embryos, larvae or dissected parts were then permeabilized using a 15 min treatment with 0.1% proteinase K in PBS at 25°C and a 20 min treatment with 2% hyaluronidase in PBS. After rinsing and blocking (1% BSA and 1% DMSO in PBS), they were incubated overnight at 4°C with the primary antibodies (polyclonal rabbit anti-fibronectin (Sigma-Aldrich), mouse anti-collagen II (Hybridoma Bank), both diluted 1 / 200 in blocking solution). After rinsing, the samples were incubated at 25°C for 2 h with the secondary antibody (Alexa anti-rabbit 488, Alexa anti-mouse 595 (Invitrogen), both diluted 1 / 300 in

blocking solution). After final rinsing the specimens were placed in a 80% glycerol solution and observed using the CLSM.

For staining controls the same protocol was applied, without the use of a primary antibody. The double staining protocol was controlled by using each antibody separately on two specimens and comparing these signals with a double stained specimen.

Results

Fibronectin in cartilage condensations

Immunostaining for collagen type II showed that, during the second and third day post-fertilization, the elements of the splanchnocranium arise in a specific sequence, consistent with that described in the literature (De Beer, 1937; Kimmel et al., 1995; Cubbage and Mabee, 1996; Schilling and Kimmel, 1997). Having established collagen type II immunostaining as a tool to distinguish negative cartilage condensations from positive differentiation phase cartilage, we used a double immunostaining for fibronectin and collagen type II to assess if fibronectin was present in cartilage condensations (Figure 2). We found that the fibronectin signal in the cartilage condensations of the splanchnocranium could not be discriminated from background staining (Figure 2a-c, compare to f-g). This unspecific background staining was also observed in the condensation stage of the pectoral girdle and fin disk cartilage, which arises between 35 and 70 hpf, and in the condensations of the pectoral distal radials and the pelvic fin elements, which arise a few weeks later, at approximately 6.5 mm NL.

Staining for fibronectin above the level of background staining was observed starting at 50 hpf in the successive branchial arches (Figure 2c). However, this signal did not coincide with collagen type II staining. Detailed observation of the fibronectin-positive structures showed that the structures from each branchial arch connect medio-ventrally and medio-dorsally, thus strongly reminiscent of the arrangement of the splanchnocranial blood vessels at that time in development, described in Isogai et al., (2001). In later stages the vessels of the splanchnocranium grow and their lumen becomes apparent



(data not shown). Simultaneously, the fibronectin signal extends into the forming gills, which remain stained in all later stages tested (Figure 2g).

Fibronectin in differentiated cartilage

Shortly after acquiring collagen type II staining, the cartilage elements (i.e. splanchnocranium elements, dorsal, caudal and pelvic fin cartilages and the pectoral girdle) showed a fibronectin signal, which was faint when

Figure 2

(a-c) show a ventro-lateral view of the splanchnocranium at 60 hpf, with immunostain for (a) collagen type II and (c) fibronectin, figure (b) shows the merged image of (a) and (c). Orientation arrows point to anterior (A), and dorsal (D). Both left and right Meckels' cartilage (mc) and hyomandibula (hm) are visible; 1st ceratobranchial (cb 1) is located underneath the ceratohyal (ch) and is indicated by a black line. (d-c) are semi-thin sections of the pectoral fin of an 8 mm (d) and 10 mm (e) NL larva, stained with toluidine blue. Lines connect similar structures. (f-g) show a ventral view of the splanchnocranium at 18 dpf, 6.2 mm NL, with immunostain for (f) collagen type II, (g) fibronectin. In (g) the asterisks show the fibronectin-positive basihyal and hypobanchial 1-3 and the dashed line indicates the opercular artery (oa). (h-j) show a confocal optical section of dissected pectoral fin of a 6.2 mm NL larva, with immunostain for (h) collagen type II, (i) merged image of (h) and (j), supplemented with transmitted light, and (j) fibronectin. Orientation arrows point to the larvas anterior (a) and dorsal (d) side. Other abbreviations: bb, basibranchial; bh, basihyal; cb 1-5, ceratobranchial 1-5; ch, ceratohyal; cl, cleithrum; dr 1-2, distal radial 1-2; dmr, distal mesenchymal rim; fdc, fin disk cartilage; ff, fin fold; g, girdle; gi, gill blood vessels; hb 1-3, hypobanchial 1-3; hs, hyosymplecticum; mc, Meckelian cartilage; mdz 1-3, matrix decomposition zone 1-3; pop, postcoracoid process; pq, palatoquadrate; pr 1-4, proximal radial 1-4; prp, precoracoid process; sco, scapulocoracoid; sy, symplectic. Scale bars in (b) for (a-c), in (g) for (f-g) and in (l) for (h-j) = 100 μ m. Scale bars in d and $e = 10 \,\mu m$

compared to the signal observed in the developing branchial vessels and gills. However, approximately one week after the cartilage elements attained their differentiated phenotypes, this signal was reduced to the perichondral areas. For example, the cartilages in all seven branchial arches had a fibronectinpositive matrix at 5 and 7 days post-fertilization (data not shown). At 15 dpf and beyond only the perichondrium retained the signal, which appeared to be strongest in the joint areas. Between 15 and 20 dpf, only the basihyal, hypobranchial 1, 2 and 3 and hypobranchial 1-3 retained a positive signal within the cartilage matrix (Figure 2g-f).

In contrast to these cartilages, which lose their weak fibronectin signal shortly after their differentiation, the fin disk cartilage maintained a positive signal until 9.5 mm NL, i.e. when the four proximal radials are completely formed. Between 15 and 20 dpf, at approximately 5.5 mm NL, i.e. a few days prior to the start of the subdivision of the fin disk into the four proximal radials,

the first of two rounds of chondrocyte divisions occurs in the disk. At this time, the fibronectin signal increased in intensity, reaching its peak when the first matrix decomposition zone (MDZ 1) appears and starts the subdivision process (6.0 mm NL). This MDZ 1 is then clearly visible as a zone negative for both collagen type II and fibronectin (Figure 2h-j). During the completion of the second and third MDZ, however, the cartilage matrix of the disk itself gradually loses its strong fibronectin signal, leaving the individualized proximal radials negative for fibronectin, with the exception of their perichondrium.

The cartilage elements of the dorsal, caudal and pelvic fins showed a fibronectin signal in their matrix, similar to what was observed in the splanchnocranium. The signal appeared only after the cartilage attained differentiation and was hardly distinguishable from background staining (data not shown). Their perichondral areas retained a positive signal until the formation of perichondral bone, which is clearly indicated by the loss of collagen type II staining.

The negative controls showed weak and unspecific fluorescence for both the fibronectin and collagen type II antibody. Staining with one antibody revealed no difference in either fibronectin or collagen type II distribution compared to double staining.

Discussion

Fibronectin in cartilage condensations

Our observations concerning the distribution of fibronectin indicate the apparent lack of this protein during the condensation phase of zebrafish cartilage development. This is in contrast with observations in tetrapods, where fibronectin has been reported to be strongly up-regulated at this phase of chondrogenesis (Kulyk et al., 1989). This difference in the distribution of fibronectin could be related to the significant difference in developmental rate, which is remarkably fast in zebrafish, even compared to other teleosts, but relatively slow in tetrapods, especially in mammals.

In the fast developing zebrafish, most of the cartilage elements arise as a stack of pre-chondrogenic cells organized in tube- or plate-like fashion. Such a stack is initially only one cell wide in cross section. Later, this specific cell organization can be lost due to proliferation of the chondrocytes, but these divisions generally do not affect the overall shape of the element (Kimmel et al., 1998). Pre-condensation mesenchyme is probably capable of establishing itself as a small but well defined cartilage condensation just by altering cell-cell adhesion, without requiring any condensation specific ECM. One possibility is the switch to N-CAM and N-cadherin based cell-cell adhesion (Liu et al., 2003; Baker, 2005), which is also an important factor in the establishment of tetrapod condensations (Hall and Miyake, 1995; Hall and Miyake, 2000). However the fact that shortly after the appearance of collagen type II and thus element differentiation, a transient presence of fibronectin was detected in all the studied elements, suggests that fibronectin is still part of the cartilage developmental program in the zebrafish.

In the tetrapod cartilage condensations that have been studied so far, on the other hand, usually expand until they are many cells wide in cross section. The cells inside these large condensations may therefore require a more elaborate, condensation specific and fibronectin rich ECM to ensure cell survival. Thus, we propose that the distinctive distributions of fibronectin in zebrafish and tetrapod condensations can be caused by the difference in developmental rate, which is linked to the development of smaller condensations, thereby resulting in different needs for the extracellular environment.

Fibronectin in differentiated cartilage

The second major observation of this study is that fin disk cartilage develops an ECM with an intensive fibronectin signal, whereas other cartilage elements show only a weak fibronectin signal in early differentiation, which gradually disappears. The fibronectin signal in the fin disk increases in strength during the third week post-fertilization, when fin disk reorganization starts with a first round of chondrocyte division. However, once the four proximal radials are individualized by the formation of three MDZs, the signal disappears. This disappearance of fibronectin staining in the proximal radials coincides with the disruption of the typical double-layer stack of chondrocytes and the appearance of a more conventional chondrocyte arrangement, as in the other differentiated cartilages examined (compare the proximal radials (pr) between Figure 2d,e).

These data indicate that the fin disk cartilage is different from the other studied cartilaginous elements of the zebrafish endoskeleton, not only because of its specific development (subdivision of a continuous plate into four elements), but also because of its strong and sustained fibronectinpositive staining of the ECM. Our observations suggest that the pectoral fin disk cartilage is retained in an early differentiation phase until the functional, but premature larval fin is remodeled into its adult morphology.

Interestingly, Yan et al. (2002; 2005) found evidence for the different nature of the pectoral fin disk cartilage by examining the two sox9 paralogs present in zebrafish. They showed that these important cartilage transcription factors, which are only represented by one orthologous gene in tetrapods, are differentially expressed in the zebrafish endoskeleton. Whereas sox9a is expressed in the splanchnocranium and pectoral girdle cartilage, sox9b shows expression in the mesenchyme surrounding the splanchnocranium and the pectoral fin disk cartilage. When sox9a activity is compromised by mutation or morpholino injection, the only cartilage element that appears unaffected is the pectoral fin disk cartilage (Yan et al., 2002; Yan et al., 2005). First, this differential regulation of the pectoral fin disk is consistent with our data on sustained fibronectin presence and prolonged stack configuration, suggesting that the fin disk cartilage is unique within the zebrafish skeleton. Second, the major differences in pectoral development between tetrapods and derived actinopterygians, such as the zebrafish, could be explained by this differential use of these duplicated regulatory genes.

In conclusion, our fibronectin data provides interesting perspectives to study the influence of developmental rate on cartilage development and the evolution of pectoral fin development.

Acknowledgements

Jasper Dewit received funding from the Institute for the Promotion of Innovation through Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT-Vlaanderen). Confocal microscopy was made possible through a grant from the FCWO (Faculty of Sciences, Ghent University).

3.2. The Mechanism of Cartilage Subdivision in the Reorganization of the Zebrafish Pectoral Fin

by

Jasper Dewit¹, P. Eckhard Witten^{1,2}, and Ann Huysseune¹

Reference:

Dewit, J., Witten, P. E. and Huysseune, A. (2011) 'The mechanism of cartilage subdivision in the reorganization of the zebrafish pectoral fin endoskeleton', *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part B: Molecular and Developmental Evolution* 316(8): 584-97.

Affiliations:

- 1. Research Group Evolutionary Developmental Biology, Biology Department, Ghent University, 9000 Ghent, Belgium
- 2. Skretting Aquaculture Research Centre, Sjøhagen 3, 4016 Stavanger, Norway

The Mechanism of Cartilage Subdivision in the Reorganization of the Zebrafish Pectoral Fin

Abstract

A cartilaginous pectoral fin endoskeleton in zebrafish (Danio rerio) develops early, after which the cartilage of the larval fin endoskeleton undergoes a complete transformation into the adult morphology. This transformation includes multiple subdivisions of a single cartilaginous disk. The type of cartilage subdivision is unique to teleost fish. In this study, we present the timing and the developmental features of these subdivisions and we discuss variation in this process, caused by differences in growth rate. We establish that the cartilage subdivisions are developmentally linked to the formation of lepidotrichia in the fin fold. At the cellular level, we show that neither apoptosis nor resorption by chondroclasts and/or macrophages contributes to the cartilage subdivision. Ultrastructural observations show dedifferentiation of chondrocytes in subdivision zones. Different from forelimb development in other vertebrates, dedifferentiation is an important mechanism in the development of the adult pectoral fin skeleton. We here provide further support for the idea that the phenotype of skeletal tissues is not terminal and that plasticity of differentiated connective tissues can play an important role in various developmental and homeostatic processes.
Introduction

The development of the pectoral appendages is highly conserved among vertebrates. From the fins of sharks to the wings of birds, these appendages first form as a bud of lateral plate mesoderm. In all vertebrates, the epithelium overlaying this bud forms an apical ectodermal ridge, which stimulates the outgrowth of the bud (Mercader, 2007; Witten and Huysseune, 2007). In the center of these buds the cartilage endoskeleton forms, separating a dorsal and a ventral population of muscle precursors that originate from the paraxial mesoderm (Neyt et al., 2000).

In chondrichthyans and basal actinopterygians, three basal skeletal elements articulate proximally with the girdle and distally with a large number of cartilaginous radials. In sarcopterygians, only the caudalmost basal element, called the metapterygium, persists. In tetrapods, the associated distal cartilages form in a highly conserved pattern, with only two elements in the middle section and a variable number of digits in the most distal section, the autopodium. In derived actinopterygians, such as teleosts, the endoskeleton of the pectoral fin is also reduced. Only four cartilaginous radials remain, believed to be homologous with the distal elements of the central basal element of the ancestral fin, the mesopterygium (van Eeden et al., 1996; Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998).

Although the endoskeleton in teleost pectoral fins is reduced compared with more basal actinopterygian fins and even tetrapod limbs, its development shows some unique characteristics. These features are believed to be related to the fast development of teleost embryos into actively feeding larvae, which use their pectoral fins for locomotion very early in life (Thorsen et al., 2004). In zebrafish, the cartilage elements of the pectoral fins start to form together with the splanchnocranium at about 48 hours post-fertilization (hpf) (Kimmel et al., 1995). The larval pectoral fin endoskeleton is different from the four radials seen in adult pectoral fins. Similar to all other teleost larvae, early pectoral fins are supported by a single cartilaginous disk, which is continuous with the early girdle cartilage (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). Only when the vertebral bodies and the skeleton of the median and pelvic fins start to form, do these

larval pectoral fins transform into their adult morphology. In this process, four cartilage subdivision zones (CSZs) are formed which separate the disk from the girdle and individualize the four radials (Figure 1).



Figure 1

Schematic overview of the reorganization of the zebrafish pectoral fin endoskeleton. Abbreviations: A: actinotrichia, C: cleithrum, CSZ 0-3: cartilage subdivision zone 0-3, DR: distal radial, FD: fin disk cartilage, LP: lepidotrichia, PR1-4: proximal radial 1-4, SC: scapulocoracoid cartilage, POP: postcoracoid process, PRP: precoracoid process.

Subdivision of cartilaginous skeletal elements is common in vertebrates. A preskeletal disk subdivides to form the pectoral radials in basal actinopterygians (Cohn et al., 2002; Davis et al., 2004). In tetrapods, the different phalanges in the autopodium individualize through subdivisions of the digit at the level of the future interphalangeal joints (Casanova and Sanz-Ezquerro, 2007). However, in all these cases, subdivisions occur during the condensation phase, i.e. when a group of cartilage precursors is established from mesenchyme (Hall and Miyake, 2000). In contrast, the teleost pectoral fin subdivisions occur in differentiated cartilage (Mabee and Trendler, 1996; Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Dewit et al., 2010). How this is achieved at a cellular level is currently not known.

The aim of this study is to characterize the transformation of the simple but fully functional larval pectoral fin endoskeleton into the differentiated adult fin endoskeleton. Moreover, we attempt to elucidate the cellular mechanisms that are responsible for the process of cartilage subdivision, by using a variety of whole-mount staining techniques, enzyme histochemistry and conventional light and transmission electron microscopy (TEM). We observe that the cartilage subdivisions, which constitute a major step in the reorganization process, are developmentally linked to the formation of lepidotrichia in the fin fold. Apoptosis and cartilage resorption by chondroclasts or macrophages, processes that are responsible for the replacement of cartilage by bone during long bone development in tetrapods and in teleost fish (Bronckers et al., 2000; Witten and Huysseune, 2009), are not involved. In contrast, all evidence suggests that chondrocyte dedifferentiation is responsible for subdividing the cartilage. Overall, this article sheds new light on the events that facilitate this skeletal reorganization and serves as a basis for further research on the molecular and epigenetic mechanisms that control this subdivision process.

Material and Methods

Wild type zebrafish (*Danio rerio*, Cyprinidae, Teleostei) embryos were raised in E3 medium (Brand et al., 2002) at a standard temperature of 28.5°C. After 6 days post-fertilization (dpf), the larvae were transferred to permeable containers, suspended in a large aquarium filled with previously aerated tap water at 26°C. From 5 dpf until 14 dpf, the larvae were fed with dry food (ZM 000) (ZMsystems, Winchester, UK) twice a day. At 12 dpf, freshly hatched *Artemia salina* nauplii replaced the dry food and were given twice a day for the remainder of the rearing time.

Before fixation all larvae were euthanized with ethyl 3-aminobenzoate methanesulfonate salt (MS222; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis) and their standard length, respectively notochordal length (NL), was measured (Cubbage and Mabee, 1996). Since fish of equal age can show considerable developmental variation, NL measurements provide a more accurate staging of the larvae (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). The measurements were taken with an ocular micrometer on a MZ APO stereomicroscope (Leica, Heerbrugg, Switzerland). An average growth curve was established by collecting NL measurements from ten larvae randomly sampled every 2 days starting from 5 dpf to 39 dpf. This data was then plotted in a graph with age on the x-axis and the average NL on the y-axis (Figure 2).

Acidic-free whole mount alcian blue/alizarin red staining was performed according to Walker and Kimmel (2007). Specimens (n=120, between 4.8 and

12.0 mm NL / 12-50 dpf) were fixed in 4% buffered paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 24hr at 4°C. Subsequently, specimens were rinsed with demineralized water and dehydrated in 50% ethanol for 10 min. The ethanol was replaced by the staining solution that consists of a part A and B mixed just before staining with relative proportions of 100/1. Part A contains: 5ml of 0.4% alcian blue in 70% ethanol, 70ml of 95% ethanol, 200nM MgCl₂, and 25ml of demineralised water. Part B is 0.5% alizarin-red S dissolved in demineralized water. Staining occurred overnight, at room temperature. Specimens were subsequently rinsed with 70% ethanol and gradually rehydrated. Then specimens were rocked in bleach solution (1% KOH and 25% glycerol), which was replaced every 3 days until the specimens turned transparent. For detailed observation and photo documentation of the fin endoskeleton the pectoral fins were dissected and mounted in glycerin between two coverslips, sealed with paraffin. Pictures were taken using a light microscope (AXIO Imager Z1, Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany) fitted with an Axiocam camera. Series of partially focused images were merged with Helicon Focus software (version 4.6).



Specimens (n=10, between 4.8-12.0 mm NL / 12 - 50 dpf) used for light microscopy were fixed in a mixture of 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA) and 2.5% glutaraldehyde, decalcified in 0.1 M EDTA added to the fixative, and processed for embedding in epon as described in Huysseune and Sire (1992). Subsequently, semi-thin serial sections of 2 μ m were prepared on a HM 360 microtome (Micron, Walldorf, Germany) and counterstained with toluidine blue (0.5% in 1% borax).

Specimens (n=10, between 4.8-12.0 mm NL / 12-50 dpf) for transmission electron microscopy (TEM) were fixed overnight at 4°C in 2% paraformaldehyde, 2.5% glutaraldehyde, 0.5% CaCl₂ and 0.1 M EDTA in 0.2 M sodium cacodylate buffer. Specimens were further processed as described in Bert et al. (2003). After fixation they were rinsed for 8 h in 0.134 M sodium cacodylate buffer. Postfixation took place in reduced osmium, a mixture of 1 ml OsO₄ (4%), 3 ml Na cacodylate (0.134 M) and 66 mg K_3 Fe(CN)₆, for 36 h at pH 7.4. After rinsing with double distilled water the specimens were dehydrated in 50%, 75%, 90% and absolute ethanol to which CuSO₄ bars were added to remove any remaining water. The specimens were subsequently infiltrated with a low-viscosity embedding medium (Spurr, 1969). Ultrathin (50-90 nm) sections were cut on a Reichert UltracutS ultramicrotome (Leica, Vienna, Austria) with a diamond knife (Diatome Ltd., Biel, Switzerland) and mounted on formvar-coated single slot copper grids (Agar Scientific, Stansted, UK). The sections were stained (EM stain, Leica) with uranyl acetate and lead citrate and viewed with a Jeol JEM-1010 (Jeol Ltd, Tokyo, Japan) transmission electron microscope operating at 60 kV. Photographs were digitalized using the DITABIS system (Pforzheim, Germany).

Figure 2

Notochordal length (NL) as a function of age; measurement of 180 larvae (5-39 dpf, ten larvae sampled every 2 days). Average at each age is marked by a +. The black curve and equation represent growth rate over the entire data set, whereas the blue and green curve and equations represent the larval and juvenile growth rates, respectively. The period in which the pectoral fin endoskeleton starts to transform and the vertebral bodies and median fins first appear, is marked by the grey box. Vertical lines represent standard deviations.

Specimens for BrdU proliferation assay were selected to represent the entire period of lepidotrichia formation (n=9). They were submerged tree times in 0.5% BrdU, in E3 medium (Brand et al., 2002), for two hours with six hours interval. After the third BrdU incorporation specimens were fixed in 4% PFA and processed for paraffin embedding. After rinsing the specimens were dehydrated in 30%, 50%, 70%, 80%, 90% and absolute ethanol. Subsequently specimens were submerged in two 6 h parasolve baths, before two paraffin impregnations at 60°C, of 8 h each. Specimens were then properly orientated and the paraffin was allowed to harden. Sections of 5 μ m were made, mounted on uncoated slides and dried at 40°C.

Detection of the incorporated BrdU starts by deparaffinating the sections. Sections are heated to 70°C for 5 min, allowed to cool down for an other 5 min and heated again for 5 min, before submersion in two parasolve baths for 15 and 10 min. Subsequently sections were rehydrated in 100%, 90%, 80%, 70% and washed 3 times in PBS-D (1% DMSO in PBS). Then chromatin was precipitated by a 30 min HCL (2M) bath. This reaction was stopped by a 5 min incubation in borax (1,89 dilution of 0.1M B₄Na₅O₅.10H₅O solution). Sections were washed with PBS-D and submerged in block solution (3% BSA, 1% milk powder in PBS-D) for 2h. Then the primary antibody, rat anti-BrdU (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), diluted 1/100 in block solution was put on over night at 4°C. Subsequently sections were washed tree times for 5 min with PBS-D, before the secondary antibody, Alexa 488 anti-rat (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) was put on, diluted 1/200 in block solution. Sections were rinsed and counterstained with DAPI (1/300 dilution of 5µg/ml stock solution) (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA). After final rinsing slides were cover slipped with vectashield (Vector Laboratories Inc., Burlingame, USA) and photographs were made using an epifluorescent microscope (AXIO Imager Z1, Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany) fitted with an Axiocam camera.

Similar to the situation in mammals, acid phosphatase activity can be used as a marker to detect the activity of chondroclasts and macrophages in teleost fish (Witten et al., 1998; Witten et al., 2001). Detection of the activity of these enzymes was performed on specimens (n=15, between 5.5-8.8 mm NL / 17-35 dpf) fixed in cold 100% acetone, which were subsequently stored at - 20°C. Specimens were processed according to Witten and Villwock (1997). They were rehydrated, decalcified in 10% buffered EDTA for 48 h, rinsed, dehydrated in graded acetone solutions, and impregnated with methacrylate monomer solution (2-hydroxyethyl-methacrylate 80 ml + 200 ppm p-methoxyphenol + ethylene glycol monobuthyl ether 12 ml + benzoyl peroxide 270 ml) for 60 min. For the second step of impregnation a monomer solution was used for 24 h. For embedding 2% catalyst (N,N- dimethylaniline 1 ml + polyethylene glycol-200, 10 ml) was added to the monomer solution. Specimens were then embedded in polyethylene jars with tight snap-on lids. Polymerization took place at 4°C for 24 h and was completed within another 24 h at room temperature. Sections of 5 μ m were made, mounted on uncoated slides and dried at 20°C.

The first step in the acid phosphatase and tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase activity detection is a preincubation of 30 min at 20°C in 0.1 M acetate buffer at pH 5.5, with 50 mM L(+) di-sodium tartrate dihydrate added to detect only tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase activity. The acid phosphatase-activity was demonstrated with an artificial substrate, naphthol AS-TR phosphate (N-AS-TR-P) and a color reagent, hexazotized pararosaniline (PRS). The latter was prepared by dissolving 1 g PRS (chloride) [C I. 42500] in 19.25 ml demineralized water, adding 5.75 ml of 32% HCl, heating, and storing in the dark at 4°C. For hexazotation, 2 ml 4% NaNO₂ (0.58 M) was added to 1 ml of prepared PRS-solution at 20°C. The incubation solution was prepared by adding 1 ml hexazotized PRS, 600 µl 2% MgCl solution and 2 ml enzyme substrate solution (2 mg N-AS-TR-P dissolved in 2 ml N,N-dimethyl-formamide) to 30 ml 0.1 M acetate buffer pH 5.5, with an additional 100 mM di-sodium tartrate dihydrate for tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase-detection. After an incubation of 30 min at 20°C, slides were rinsed in demineralized water. Slides were subsequently counterstained with Mayers hematoxylin for 10 min, rinsed in running tap water for 15 min, flushed with demineralized water, dried at 40°C, and mounted with DEPEX. Several controls were preformed: 1) heating of the sections at 90°C for 10 min prior to

incubation, 2) incubation without substrate, 3) adding NaF (10 mM/l) to the incubation solution, which completely blocks all enzyme function. As a positive control for this protocol, observations were made on the haemal arches, which are present in all studied sections and are known areas for bone resorption and thus acid phosphatase activity (Witten et al., 2001).

Apoptosis was detected by exposing anesthetized larvae (n=15, between 5.5-8.8 mm NL / 17-35 dpf) for 15 minutes to a double stain solution, containing acridine orange (6.6 µg/ml) and propidium iodide (1µg/ml). Larvae were then mounted on their side and imaged with a confocal laser-scanning microscope, D-eclipse-C1 (Nikon, Melville N.Y., U.S.A.). Acridine orange quickly penetrates all living cells and accumulates in acid organelles (Landex and Kayser, 2004). Propidium iodide on the other hand only penetrates apoptotic cells, staining their nucleus red (Jones and Senft, 1985). These dyes were selectively visualized by exciting the same optical section separately with a 488 nm and a 543 nm laser. This makes detailed observation of vital and apoptotic cells possible. This protocol was successfully validated by examining the development of the olfactory pit at 36 hpf, an area known for its specific aggregation of apoptotic cells (Cole and Ross, 2001). After imaging, the larvae were fixed and stained with alcian blue, as described above, to determine the exact stage of cartilage subdivision.

Results

The early formation of the girdle elements and of the pectoral fin endoskeleton in the zebrafish has been well described (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998) and thus only the most prominent features are briefly recapitulated below. The cartilaginous girdle or scapulocoracoid forms as a small aggregation of cells, caudal to the cleithrum. Ventrocaudally, a single row of cells protrudes into the body wall, forming the postcoracoid process. Distally, the girdle condensation extends into the external fin bud, where the cartilage precursors form a single sheet of cells. These precursors differentiate into the fin disk (FD) cartilage, which is continuous with the now cartilaginous girdle element. The larval pectoral fin skeleton is completed at 1 week post-fertilization (wpf), when the single row of FD chondrocytes undergoes a first round of chondrocyte divisions. This coordinated round of chondrocyte divisions, described by Grandel and Schulte-Merker (1998), sweeps through the FD, creating a dorsal and a ventral row of perfectly superimposed daughter chondrocytes.

Timing and development of cartilage subdivision

Cartilage subdivisions are an essential step in the reorganization of the larval pectoral fin, but various other morphological changes contribute to this process. Below we present the development of cartilage subdivisions together with the morphological changes that precede or coincide with them.

The first morphological sign of the reorganization process is the start of appositional growth in the scapulocoracoid (Figure 3A). The addition of perichondral cells to the rostroventral side of the scapulocoracoid (5.2-5.6 mm NL / 15-18 dpf) forms the anlage of the precoracoid process. Similar cell additions result in the rostral outgrowth of this process and in an overall shape change of the scapulocoracoid (Figure 3 and 4A). At the ventral and the ventrocaudal surface of the scapulocoracoid, appositional growth (and not cartilage regression, cf. Grandel and Schulte-Merker 1998) causes the disappearance of the postcoracoid process, which was already present in the earliest anlage of the larval scapulocoracoid.

Simultaneously with the first signs of appositional growth in the scapulocoracoid, the FD grows by interstitial cell division. These chondrocyte divisions can be observed by the appearance of a new matrix septum inside the lacuna of each mother cell. These new matrix septa appear simultaneously throughout the FD, suggesting that a synchronized round of cell divisions has taken place (white arrowheads in Figure 3A). These are the first cell divisions in the FD after the initial, equally synchronized, round of chondrocyte divisions that transformed the larval, single-rowed FD into a double row of exactly superimposed chondrocytes at 1 wpf. In addition to being similarly synchronized, the second round of cell divisions (5.2-5.6 mm



NL / 15-18 dpf) also shows uniform directionality of the cell divisions. Yet, instead of division planes being parallel to the FD plane, as in the first round, all cleavage planes are now perpendicularly oriented with regard to the FD plane. This orientation preserves the double-rowed appearance of the cartilage of the FD and results in the expansion of the disk without any thickening.

In the wake of the second proliferation round, the first two cartilage subdivisions appear. The few cells bridging the FD and the scapulocoracoid lose their affinity for alcian blue. Simultaneously with this separation from the scapulocoracoid, the central region of the FD also looses alcian blue staining (5.3-5.7 mm NL / 16-18 dpf). This is indicative for a loss of highly sulfated proteoglycans (Figure 3B). Previously, we reported that these regions of subdivision also loose collagen type II, another cartilage-specific extracellular matrix (ECM) component (Dewit et al., 2010). Although we found no differences between the events in the FD-to-girdle border and the central region of the FD, only the latter region was named matrix decomposition zone

Figure 3

Whole mount alcian blue/alizarin red staining of the pectoral fins of larvae between 5.2 and 8.2 mm NL. In (A), the pectoral fin skeleton, at 5.2 mm NL and 16 dpf, shows the first signs of reorganization. The precoracoid process (PRP) is only three cells large at this point and thin matrix septa, indicative for the second proliferation round, become visible (black arrowheads and inset). In (B) at 6.0 mm NL and 18 dpf, CSZ 0 at the girdle-to-disk border and CSZ 1 in the centre of the FD are clearly visible; also note the grown PRP. The braced white line indicates the measurement taken to assess the possible regression of the postcoracoid process. The black arrowheads point to newly added chondrocytes encircled by lighter staining ECM. In (C), the pectoral fin skeleton of a slow growing larva, at 7.3 mm NL and 32 dpf, shows CSZ 3 still in progress while CSZ 2 has been completed and the dorsal lepidotrichia (LP) are already calcified. In (D) on the other hand, the pectoral fin endoskeleton of a fast growing larva, at 8.2 mm and 24 dpf, shows both CSZ 2 and 3 still in progress and no signs of calcification in the lepidotrichia. The white braced line on the former postcoracoid process shows where the measurement was taken to determine possible regression. The dashed line demarcates the boundary of the girdle element at 6 mm NL, indicating how apposition of cells has contributed to the growth of the girdle. The black arrowhead points to a small, newly added chondrocyte embedded in lighter staining ECM. The asterisk marks the location of the TEM micrograph shown in Figure 4A, which confirms the occurrence of appositional growth. Dorsal is to the top and rostral is to the left in all figures. Further abbreviations: CL: cleithrum, DR1: distal radial 1, DRM: distal rim mesenchyme, FD: fin disk, FF: fin fold, SC: scapulocoracoid, POP: postcoracoid process, PR 1-4: proximal radial 1-4; CSZ, cartilage subdivision zone.

Scale bars =100 μ m.

by Grandel and Schulte-Merker (1998). In this article, we will refer to these regions as CSZ 0, and CSZ 1 respectively in order to maintain the numbering proposed by Grandel and Schulte-Merker (1998). The progression of CSZ 1 eventually divides the FD into a dorsal and a ventral half. Each half is later similarly divided by the formation of another CSZ (CSZ 2 and 3, respectively; see below). In this way, three CSZs transform the FD into four rod-like proximal radials, with the first proximal radial being the most dorsal and the fourth proximal radial the most ventral (Figure 3C and D).

Before the appearance of the CSZs 2 and 3, several other events are initiated which contribute to the changes in the pectoral fin skeleton. First, the chondrocytes inside the remaining FD start another (i.e. third) round of cell divisions (6.4-6.7 mm NL/21-23 dpf). Unlike the first two proliferation rounds,



the daughter cells resulting from this proliferation round do not show a preferential orientation. The cell divisions appear first proximodorsally in the FD and spread gradually to ventrodistal areas, as judged from the progressive loss of the stacked arrangement of chondrocytes in this direction. This was observed on stained and cleared as well as on sectioned specimens. This new series of cell divisions results in expansion and thickening of the remaining FD cartilages (Figure 4B and C).

Second, the distal rim mesenchyme at the border between the FD and the fin fold (indicated in Figure 4B and C) also shows an increase in cell numbers. This increase can be observed on semi-thin sections, first in the proximodorsal area of the FD border (6.4-6.7 mm NL / 21-23 dpf), spreading more distally along the FD border, finally reaching the ventral area of the FD. This increase in cell numbers, and its progression along the FD border, was confirmed by a BrdU proliferation assay. Slightly before the formation of

Figure 4

Light (B and C) and transmission electron micrograph (A and D) of the pectoral fin at the level of the scapulocoracoid perichondrium of a 8-mm NL larva (A) and at the level of the second distal radial (DR 2) of a 8.0-mm NL (B) and a 10.0-mm NL larva (C, D), respectively. (A) TEM image of the region indicated by an asterisk in Figure 3D, showing the appositional growth of the ventrocaudal region of the scapulocoracoid. The white asterisks point to newly added cells in a state of chondroblast to chondrocyte transition. (B) The chondrocytes of the first proximal radial (PR 1) have already divided during the third round of chondrocyte divisions while the cells in proximal radial 4 (PR 4) have not. A white arrowhead marks an area of appositional growth. (C) During the third round of proliferation, the chondrocytes divide in various directions, resulting in the loss of the double-rowed arrangement and the thickening of the radials. Also shown is the extensive thickening of PR 1 by appositional growth, which has already started in (B). (D) TEM image of the region indicated in (C), which shows the ultrastructure of PR 1. In the region of formerly stacked chondrocytes the ECM fibrils still surround several daughter cells. The region indicated with shows the ultrastructure of PR 1. In the region of formerly stacked chondrocytes the ECM fibrils still surround several daughter cells. The region indicated with black brackets on the other hand is added by appositional growth and does not show signs of earlier chondrocyte proliferation. Top of all figures points dorsally. Boxed areas in (B) and (C) refer to TEM micrographs as indicated. C: cytoplasm, CSZ 1-3: cartilage subdivision zone 1-3, DRM: distal rim mesenchyme, N: nucleus, ECM: extracellular matrix.

Scale bars in B and C=10 μ m, in A and D= 5 μ m.

skeletal elements in the distal rim mesenchyme and fin fold, the only proliferating cells are located proximodorsally (Figure 5; 5.3 mm specimen, region A vs. regions B and C). Then several alcian-blue-positive stripes develop in the fin fold, representing the anlagen of the lepidotrichia or bony fin rays. These start to form in the dorsal region of the fin fold just distal to the distal rim mesenchyme and grow out into the fin fold, thereby replacing the actinotrichia (Figure 3C and D). Once the anlage of a lepidotrichium has appeared, a distal radial forms as a round alcian-blue-positive element in the distal rim mesenchyme, specifically between the two half rays of the lepidotrichium (Figure 3C and D). This distal radial forms the articulation between the lepidotrichium and the proximal radial. As the formation of the lepidotrichia continues, the distal rim mesenchyme that is located more distally and ventrally along the FD shows increased cell proliferation (Figure 5, 6.7mm specimen, region C). Simultaneously, proliferation diminishes in areas where lepidotrichia have already formed (Figure 5, compare regions B and C).

in the 6.7-and 8.3-mm specimen). Only the first distal radial develops slightly differently, as previously described by Grandel and Schulte-Merker (1998). Although it originates next to the FD in the dorsal distal rim mesenchyme, it expands proximally to meet the growing scapular region of the cartilaginous girdle. Where these two elements meet, the scapular cartilage forms an articulation with the distal radial 1 (compare Figure 3C and D). Furthermore distal radial 1 fuses with its lepidotrichium, which is most likely responsible for the higher mitotic index observed in this region (Figure 5, 8.3 mm specimen, region A).

	А	В	С
5.3 mm	1.67	0	0
6.7 mm	1.22	1.83	4.17
8.3 mm	2.27	0.82	1.04

Figure 5

BrdU proliferation assay of three distinct regions of the distal rim mesenchyme at three stages of pectoral fin remodeling: immediately before remodeling (5.3mm NL), during lepidotrichia formation (6.2 mm NL) and just after all lepidotrichia have formed (8.3 mm NL). Region A reaches from the scapulocoracoid perichondrium to the distal border of distal radial 1, region B from the proximal border of distal radial 3 to the distal border of distal radial 4, and region C from the proximal border of distal radial 6 to the distal border of distal radial 7. The table contains the mitotic index of each region for the given stages (percentage of BrdU-positive cells over the total cell number).

Third, the FD enlarges by appositional growth in the outer rim adjacent to the newly forming distal radials. Appositional growth also occurs at the dorsal region of the FD, corresponding to the future proximal radial 1, resulting in significant thickening of the FD in this area (Figure 4B and C). The appositional growth is easily identifiable in TEM micrographs, because of the different organization of the collagen fibrils in the newly added cartilage. In stacked chondrocytes, most of the ECM fibrils originate from before the third proliferation round and thereby surround several daughter cells. This is not the case for newly added chondrocytes, which are surrounded individually by matrix, and also have considerably larger ECM spaces (Figure 4D).

Simultaneously with the appositional growth of the FD and the formation of distal radials and lepidotrichia, the last two CSZs form. The timing of formation of CSZ 2 and 3 shows considerable variation between specimens with different growth rates. In slow growing specimens, the CSZs appear at the distal edge of the FD, progressing proximally (Figure 3C). The proximal radial 4 is often reduced in size or can even be absent. In contrast, fast growing larvae form CSZ 2 and 3 in the center of the remaining disk halves and proximal radial 4 has the same size as proximal radial 3. In these fast growing specimens, CSZ 2 and 3 develop simultaneously (7.9-8.3 mm NL / 26-30 dpf) (Figure 3D), while in slow growers the formation of CSZ 2 in the dorsal FD half (6.8-7.0 mm NL / 27-30 dpf) (Figure 3C) always precedes the formation of CSZ 3 in the ventral FD half (7.2-7.5 mm NL / 30-34 dpf). In general, these two CSZs were never observed before the appearance of the anlage of the lepidotrichium that forms at the same dorsoventral level. In fast growing larvae, successive lepidotrichia appear fast (starting at 7.0 mm NL / 23-24 dpf), resulting in swift replacement of actinotrichia throughout the fin fold before CSZ 2 and 3 start to form in the FD. In slow growing specimens, the anlage of new lepidotrichia and distal radials appears later (6.5 mm NL / 26-27 dpf), and spreads much slower toward the ventral region of the fin. In these specimens, CSZ 2 was never observed before the anlage of lepidotrichium 4, while CSZ 3 appears only later when the anlage of lepidotrichium 7 can be detected. The slower formation of successive lepidotrichia in slow growers is shown by the differentiation and calcification of the earliest dorsal fin rays before the anlagen of the last-appearing ventralmost rays can be detected. In contrast, fast growers show the anlage of all fin rays well before the first rays start to calcify (compare Figure 3C and D).

Cellular mechanisms of cartilage subdivisions

During the reorganization of the pectoral fin endoskeleton, cartilage disappears in four regions: the girdle-to-FD border (CSZ 0) and the three CSZs of the FD cartilage (CSZ 1-3). Here we present data on how these cartilage subdivisions occur at the cellular level.

First, we checked for resorbtive activity by chondroclasts and/ or macrophages through the visualization of acid phosphatase and tartrateresistant acid phosphatase activity. A distinct signal was found in areas known to undergo bone resorption, such as the haemal arches and the toothbearing fifth ceratobranchial (Witten et al., 2001) (Figure 6A and B). Furthermore, enzyme activity was detected in the cartilage anlage of the Weberian apparatus, indicating the resorption of this cartilage (Figure 6A). However, the four cartilage subdivision areas under investigation did not show any signal for acid phosphatase or tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase activity at any point of development (Figure 6C).



Figure 6

Acid phosphatase detection in control sections (A and B) and CSZ 1 (C). All sections shown are taken from a specimen at 25 dpf and 7.3 mm NL. (A) Detail of section with cartilage of the Weberian apparatus (W) and bone of the haemal arches (H) showing areas of acid phosphatase activity in red. (B) Detail of section showing positive staining in the fifth branchial arch (CB 5) and the attachment bone of teeth (marked with white asterisks). (C) Detail of the pectoral region in the same section as in (A) showing CSZ 1 without any detectable signal. Top of all figures points dorsally. G: girdle, PR 1 and 2: proximal radial 1 and 2, PR 3 and 4: proximal radial 3 and 4, CSZ: cartilage subdivision zone. Scale bars = 10 μ m.

Second, acridine orange and propidium iodide double staining was applied to detect the presence of apoptotic cells in the CSZs (Figure 7). This technique was validated by confirming the presence of apoptotic ectodermal cells during the development of the olfactory pit at 36 hpf (Cole and Ross, 2001). The 488 nm laser visualized acridine orange and showed all viable cells in green. A red signal could be seen in the nucleus of apoptotic cells



Figure 7

Detection of apoptosis in control areas (A and B) and FD (C). All images (except inset) are composed of several optical sections recorded with the confocal laser-scanning microscope and merged into a single image using Helicon Focus software. (A) Specimen at 36 hpf showing the developing olfactory pit, excited with the 488-nm laser and recorded with the green and red detector opened. Acridine orange shows all vital cell nuclei in the imaged area in green and acidic organelles in red. A yellow signal results from superimposed green and red signal and indicates the apoptotic nature of the cell. (B) shows the same optical sections as in (A) but excited by the 543-nm laser and thus showing propidium iodide staining only. This image shows the same apoptotic cells as the acridine orange staining. Note grouping of apoptotic cells in the future olfactory opening. (C) Pectoral fin of a 5.7-mm larva, recorded with both the 488- and 543-nm laser activated. This recording shows no signal of apoptosis in CSZ 0 nor in CSZ 1. Inset: alcian blue preparation of the same fin with CSZ clearly visible in the center of the FD. Dorsal to the top and rostral to the left in all figures.

FD: fin disk, CSZ: cartilage subdivision zone. Scale bars = 20 μ m.

and in the cytoplasm of some epithelial cells, presumably corresponding to lysosomes (Figure 7A). When the same optical sections were visualized using the 543 nm laser, only the nuclei of apoptotic cells showed a red signal, representing propidium iodide staining. The olfactory region showed several isolated apoptotic cells and furthermore a well-defined group of apoptotic cells where the olfactory opening is formed (Figure 7B). During the development of the CSZs in the FD, neither acridine orange nor propidium iodide showed red nuclei in the remaining cartilage of the FD or in the CSZs (Figure 7C). Occasionally, apoptotic cells were detected in the pectoral fin epithelium.

Third, ultrastructural observations confirmed that the cells in the four regions of cartilage subdivision are viable and without signs of apoptosis, such as condensed chromatin or apoptotic cell bodies (Kouri-Flores et al., 2002). TEM observations allowed us also to distinguish three stages in the subdivision process. (Figure 8) First, the matrix inside the CSZs loses its fibrillar structure and becomes more homogeneous. Matrix can nevertheless be observed well beyond the point at which collagen type II (Dewit et al., 2010) and alcian blue staining (this study) disappear. The chondrocytes

Figure 8

TEM micrographs of early (A), intermediate (B), and late (C) stage of cartilage subdivision. (A) TEM image of the upper boxed region indicated in Figure 4B, showing an early stage of CSZ 2 of an 8.0-mm larva. The white asterisks label unchanged chondrocytes in the remaining proximal radials 1 and 2 (PR 1 and PR 2). Gray asterisks label former chondrocytes that are partially detached but still completely surrounded by degrading matrix (white arrowheads). The cells display an irregularly folded cell membrane; they are less voluminous and have a more electron dense cytoplasm. Black asterisks point to former chondrocytes that have broken through their former lacunae and have established cell-to-cell contacts with each other (black arrowheads). (B) TEM image of the lower boxed region indicated in Figure 4B, showing an intermediate stage of cartilage subdivision in CSZ 1 of an 8.0-mm larva. The black asterisks indicate vital former chondrocytes in the CSZ still partially surrounded by degrading ECM (white arrowheads), but with established cell-to-cell contacts (inset). (C) TEM image of the lower boxed region indicated in Figure 4C, showing a late stage of CSZ 1 in a 10-mm larva, when all cartilage matrix remnants have disappeared and resident cells show a mesenchymal cell phenotype. Dorsal to the top in all figures. ECM: extracellular matrix, C: cytoplasm, N: nucleus, CSZ: cartilage subdivision zone. Scale bars in A and B = 5 μ m, scale bar in C = 1 μ m.



surrounded by this degrading matrix are smaller, have more electron-dense cytoplasm, a higher nucleo-cytoplasmic ratio and an irregular cell shape; they are partially detached from their lacunae. In contrast, the chondrocytes in the remaining cartilage completely fill their lacunae and retain an electron-lucent cytoplasm that contains many small granules. These cells have a low nucleo-cytoplasmic ratio (Figure 8A). In a second stage of subdivision, the matrix between neighboring chondrocytes fragments and gradually disappears (Figure 8B). However, remnants of cartilage matrix facing the perichondrium remain visible for several more days. The cells inside the fragmented matrix now display an even higher nucleo-cytoplasmic ratio and show elaborate cell-to-cell contacts (Figure 8B), which are never observed in the chondrocytes of the cartilage

persisting elsewhere in the FD. In the third and final stage of subdivision, no more matrix remnants can be found (Figure 8C). The former subdivision zones, which can now be called interradial areas, show connective tissue with fibroblasts and a perichondrium has formed around each proximal radial. The changes that we observed in the matrix and chondrocytes of the subdivision zones are represented schematically in Figure 9.



Figure 9

Schematic representation of dedifferentiation in chondrocytes in the CSZs. In (A), two chondrocytes are shown before subdivision. Their nucleus is presented in black and their cytoplasm is light grey. These cells completely fill their lacunae in the cartilage matrix, in dark grey. In (B), the earliest signs of subdivision are presented, degrading matrix is indicated by a lighter grey, the cell cytoplasm becomes more electron-dense and the cells do not fill their lacunae since they detach from the matrix. In (C), subdivision is completed, the cartilage matrix has disappeared and the cells resemble fibroblasts, with high nucleo-cytoplasmic ratio, electron-dense cytoplasm, and cell-to-cell contacts. CSZ: cartilage subdivision

Discussion

This article characterizes the cartilage subdivisions in zebrafish that transform the larval pectoral fin endoskeleton into its adult morphology. Although cartilage subdivisions are common in vertebrate skeletal development, the subdivisions in the teleost pectoral fin endoskeleton are unique because they occur in differentiated cartilage tissue. In contrast, the interradials of the pectoral fin in basal actinopterygians (Kälin, 1938; Cohn et al., 2002; Davis et al., 2004) and the interphalangeal joints in the tetrapod autopodium (Casanova and Sanz-Ezquerro, 2007; Montero et al., 2007) form by subdivision prior to cartilage differentiation.

The development of the zebrafish fin skeleton was previously described by Grandel and Schulte-Merker (1998). Our observations confirm that the reorganization of the pectoral fin endoskeleton starts with a round of proliferation in the FD cartilage near the end of the second wpf, at approximately 5.0mm NL. This is followed by the separation of the FD from the coracoid cartilage (CSZ 0) and the formation of the CSZ 1 in the center of the FD. We equally found that, at approximately 6.5mm NL (appr. 22dpf), the second phase of the reorganization includes the elaboration of the distal rim mesenchyme and the growth of the FD by another proliferation round and by appositional growth at the outer rim. These events are followed by the anlage of lepidotrichia and distal radials and by the formation of CSZ 2 and 3. This mode of pectoral fin formation is also observed in a wide variety of teleost species (Harrison, 1895; Derjugin, 1910; Goodrich, 1919; Kälin, 1938; Bouvet, 1974). Therefore, it is plausible that our observations in zebrafish are representative for teleosts.

In our specimens, we found that especially the second phase of the pectoral reorganization, in which the lepidotrichia, distal radials, and CSZ 2 and 3 develop, shows considerable developmental variation. This variation appeared to be linked to the individual growth rate of the specimens. In this study, specimens that grew faster than the average growth rate exhibited a developmental pattern similar to that described by Grandel and Schulte-Merker (1998). This is not surprising, since the specimens used by these

93

authors had a faster average growth rate than the specimens of our study (the growth curve calculated by these authors was Y=0.259 X +1.774 (R^2 =0.927); compare to Y=0.237 X + 1.6165 (R^2 =0.9654) in this study), most likely because their larvae were fed three times a day, while our larvae were fed only twice. In our fast-growing specimens and in the specimens studied by Grandel and Schulte-Merker (1998), the anlage of CSZs 2 and 3 appear in the centre of each FD half, expanding proximally and distally to individualize the four proximal radials (8.0-8.5 mm NL / 25–30 dpf). Simultaneously, the anlage of lepidotrichia and distal radials appear quickly over the entire fin fold.

In specimens with a growth rate lower than average, the second phase of the reorganization equally starts by an increase in cell numbers in the distal rim mesenchyme and the FD. However, in these specimens this increase appears to spread more slowly, resulting in a much slower appearance of new distal radials and lepidotrichia. Such slow-growing larvae also show a big time gap between the formation of CSZs 2 and 3. Interestingly, CSZ 2 never appears before the anlage of lepidotrichium 4, while CSZ 3 only appears when lepidotrichium 7 is present. Finally, the FD of these larvae shows far less appositional growth at its outer rim. This lower amount of new chondrocytes along the outer rim could explain why CSZ 2 and 3 do not form in the center of the FD halves, as in fast growing specimens, but rather at the distal edge. In both cases these CSZs first appear at the edge of the doublelayered FD; only in fast-growing fish, this area of the FD no longer constitutes the distal border due to the addition of new chondrocytes. Furthermore, insufficient addition of new chondrocytes at the ventral rim of the FD could contribute to the size reduction, and even loss, of the fourth proximal radial, as we observed in some slow-growing specimens. Various studies have shown different effects of reduced growth rate on variation in morphological outcome. In the evolution of miniaturized species, which show a drastically reduced growth rate compared with their ancestral species, various organ systems and skeletal elements are lost (Hanken and Wake, 1993). In contrast, a reduced growth rate per se can also lead to an increase in number of meristic characters such as vertebrae, scales, or tooth rows (Levin, 2010; Shkil et al., 2010).

Together, our observations suggest that the formation of CSZs 2 and 3 does not depend on the size of the FD cartilage but is rather linked to the formation of lepidotrichia in the fin fold. This is interesting because the appearance of the lepidotrichia has already been linked to the subdivision of the larval pectoral musculature into the adult muscle groups (Thorsen and Hale, 2005). This would imply that the reorganization of the fin musculature and the fin endoskeleton are synchronized, perhaps linked to a single developmental event, the formation of the dermal skeleton.

Since musculature, dermal skeleton, and endoskeleton are differently regulated throughout their development (Eames et al., 2004; Abzhanov et al., 2007), they can be seen as separate developmental modules (Schlosser, 2004). Variation in the modular design of the pectoral appendages provides an elegant perspective on both fin and limb evolution (Shubin and Davis, 2004). Nevertheless, there are currently very few studies attempting to identify developmental links between these developmental modules. In teleosts, the dermal skeleton is the major skeletal structure of the adult fin, yet the endoskeleton retains an important function during early development. Our research shows that during the transition from the larval to the adult fin skeleton these two different skeletal modules develop in a coordinated fashion. Understanding the mechanisms behind this coordination will certainly be required to fully understand how the biphasic nature of pectoral fin development could have originated.

Having established the timing of the FD cartilage subdivisions, and the developmental events associated with it, we further evaluated several cellular mechanisms that could lead to cartilage loss. Based on (1) the lack of evidence for apoptosis, both in acridine orange / propidium iodide staining and from ultrastructural observations, (2) the lack of chondroclast or macrophage digestive activity, and (3) the ultrastructural evidence for chondrocyte dedifferentiation, we propose that dedifferentiation of the resident chondrocytes accomplishes the subdivisions. In a dedifferentiation process, a

95

differentiated cell loses its specific phenotypical characteristics, transforming into an undifferentiated mesenchymal cell. Dedifferentiation can be part, however, of a transdifferentiation process. Transdifferentiation is a transformation of one differentiated cell type into another cell type (Okada, 1991). In some cases, this can be accompanied by cell division, whereas in others it is not (Beresford, 1990). Transdifferentiation can occur either directly or indirectly with respect to the timeframe of the phenotypic transformation. In direct transdifferentiation, the cells possess characteristics of both cell types simultaneously during the transition period, whereas indirect transdifferentiation implies a dedifferentiation phase in which the phenotypic characteristics of the cell first disappear before a new phenotype is established (Slack and Tosh, 2001).

The slow degradation of the cartilage ECM offers a sufficiently large time window in which dedifferentiation events can be observed. Before subdivision, the chondrocytes of the FD are completely embedded in cartilage matrix, which itself is an easily recognizable form of ECM. Consequently, these chondrocytes do not show cell-to-cell contacts. Furthermore, these chondrocytes have an electron-lucent cytoplasm, containing large numbers of small granules, large mitochondria, several Golgi-complexes, an elaborate endoplasmic reticulum, and a low nucleo-cytoplasmic ratio. All these traits correspond to the typical chondrocytic ultrastructure previously described by Holtrop (1971; 1972a; 1972b) and Huntington (1983). Undifferentiated mesenchyme and fibroblastic cells, on the other hand, are not completely embedded by their ECM and have plenty of cell-to-cell contacts. These cells are irregularly branched, their nucleo-cytoplasmic ratio is high and their cytoplasm is very electron dense (Knese, 1979).

Our TEM observations show that degrading cartilage ECM persists inside the subdivision zones well beyond the point where the matrix looses its alcian blue signal. First, the ECM looses its fibrillar ultrastructure, while still completely surrounding the resident cells. These cells can thus only be former FD chondrocytes, although their ultrastructure is now clearly different. Although chondrocytes normally completely fill their lacunae, these cells are

96

highly branched and detached from the ECM in several areas. Their nucleocytoplasmic ratio has strongly increased and their cytoplasm has become more electron-dense. In a later stage of subdivision, the ECM becomes fragmented when the resident cells break through and reestablish cell-to-cell contacts. These ECM fragments gradually become smaller and disappear, at which point it is no longer possible to distinguish former chondrocytes from the surrounding perichondral connective tissue.

Despite the fact that it was not possible to determine the final fate of these cells, the evidence for dedifferentiation and the lack of apoptosis suggests that former FD chondrocytes can contribute to inter-radial connective tissue or even perichondral bone formation. These scenarios would then represent cases of direct or indirect transdifferentiation, respectively. We hope to answer these questions in the future by means of lineage mapping of the FD chondrocytes. The lack of accurate lineage data is the main reason why in vivo loss of cartilage by transdifferentiation is still controversial. This is because specific lineage mapping is the only way to provide irrefutable proof of the transformation from one differentiated cell type to another (Eguchi and Kodama, 1993). Nevertheless, there is ample evidence that chondrocytes and fibroblasts undergo transdifferentiation under culture conditions, when provided with the specific transcription factors or a different adhesion substrate (Holtzer et al., 1960; Mackie et al., 1987; Sato et al., 1988; Yin et al., 2010). Other reports on cartilage transdifferentiation in vivo are however quite rare. It has been described in the middle section of the Meckelian cartilage in mice, which turns into fibroblastic tissue forming the sphenomandibular ligament (Harada and Ishizeki, 1998). The symphysis area of the Meckelian cartilages in the cichlid Hemichromis bimaculatus (an advanced teleost species) displays changes in cell shape that are very reminiscent of the features described here in the CSZs (Huysseune and Sire 1992). Hypertrophic chondrocytes very near the replacement front during mammalian and avian long bone development have been suggested to transdifferentiate (Roach et al., 1995; Roach, 1997; Bianco et al., 1998; Blumer et al., 2005).

Although transdifferentiation of cartilage into fibrous tissue may be rare, many other types of transdifferentiation in connective tissues have been described. The occurrence and importance of transdifferentiation in connective tissue remodeling has already been addressed by Beresford (1981) and has received new evidence over the last decades. Examples are cartilage and chondroid bone into bone (Gillis et al., 2006; Hammond and Schulte-Merker, 2009), bone into chondroid bone (Witten and Hall, 2002; Witten and Hall, 2003), bone into cartilage (Witten et al., 2005), fibroblastic tissue into bone or cartilage (Badi, 1972; Choi et al., 2010), hyaline- into fibrocartilage (Kim et al., 2005), periosteal chondrogenesis (Li et al., 2004), perichondral osteogenesis (Bast, 1944; Vilmann, 1977; Blumer et al., 2005), fat into bone (de la Fuente and Helms, 2005), and muscle into bone (Gersbach et al., 2004). All these findings support the idea that the different phenotypes of connective tissues are neither fixed nor terminal, but rather form a continuous spectrum in which differentiation can be modulated by a variety of factors. This phenotypic continuity is also illustrated by the numerous types of connective tissue with intermediate phenotypical characteristics, like bone fracture callus, chondroid bone, and fibrocartilage (Beresford, 1981; Hall and Witten, 2007).

Our observations thus add to the growing consensus that the phenotypes of connective tissues are not terminal and that phenotypic plasticity can play an important role in various developmental and homeostatic processes, in this case the transformation of the zebrafish pectoral fin endoskeleton. In addition, our data allow future comparisons between these naturally occurring cartilage subdivisions and cartilage loss in cartilage degenerative disease, such as non-inflammatory osteoathritis, where chondrocytes themselves induce ECM degradation and loose their phenotypic characteristics (Loeser, 2006).

98

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to express their gratitude to Mrs. Mieke Soenens, Mrs. Myriam Claeys, and Mr. Tommy D'heuvaert for their invaluable technical assistance. The authors furthermore gratefully acknowledge Drs. Sam Vandenplas for his contribution in the BrdU assay, Dr. Maxime Willems for helpful discussions, and an anonymous reviewer for insightful comments on this manuscript. Jasper Dewit received funding from the Institute for the Promotion of Innovation through Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT-Vlaanderen).

3.3. MMP14 - mediated remodeling during zebrafish pectoral cartilage transformation

by

J. Dewit¹, S. Mobashery^{2*}, C. Mayland^{2*}, G. De Coster^{3*}, P.-E. Witten^{1,4}, A. Huysseune¹

Affiliations:

1. Research Group Evolutionary Developmental Biology, Biology Department, Ghent University, 9000 Ghent, Belgium

2. Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of Notre Dame, Notre Dame IN 46556-5670, USA

3. Research Group Terrestrial Ecology Unit, Biology Department, Ghent University, 900 Ghent, Belgium

4. Skretting Aquaculture Research Centre, Sjøhagen 3, 4016 Stavanger, Norway

* proposed co-authors

MMP14 - mediated remodeling during zebrafish pectoral cartilage transformation

Abstract

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) play an important role in both pathological and normal events of cartilage degradation in tetrapod species. Nevertheless many questions about the regulation and the physiological effects of MMP activity remain unanswered. Here we present the first investigation on the involvement of several MMPs during cartilage degradation in the zebrafish endoskeleton. In zebrafish and other teleost species, cartilage degradation occurs in several localized regions of the pectoral fin endoskeleton. These regions are called cartilage subdivision zones (CSZ) and they transform a disk-shaped cartilaginous element, the fin disk cartilage, into four rod-like proximal radials. Previous investigation showed that cartilage degradation in the CSZ was not associated with apoptosis, nor with macrophage- or chondroclast- mediated resorption, but rather with chondrocyte dedifferentiation. We selected specific MMPs, i.e. MMP2, 9, 13 and 14, in order to evaluate whether this cartilage degradation in the zebrafish pectoral cartilage resembles any pathological or normal cartilage degradation event, known from tetrapod models. We found that all MMPs under investigation can be found in zebrafish chondrocytes, but only MMP14 was involved in the formation of CSZs. MMP14-mediated degradation of uncalcified cartilage is known to be of vital importance for normal skeletal development in tetrapods. Our data indicate that the degradation of embryonic cartilages by MMP14 is not limited to tetrapod species, but is rather a highly conserved feature of osteichthyan chondrogenesis, which makes zebrafish a highly useful model organism to investigate more detailed aspects of MMP14mediated cartilage remodeling in the future.

Introduction

The capacity to remodel extracellular matrix (ECM) is crucial for the development, growth and homeostasis of almost all types of tissues, especially cartilage, where cells are completely embedded in their ECM. Collectively, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are capable of degrading all the structural protein components of the ECM (Massova et al., 1998; Vu and Werb, 2000; Brinckerhoff and Matrisian, 2002; Murphy et al., 2002). Therefore, these proteinases have been the subject of intensive study in a wide range of developmental and pathological conditions (Cawston and Wilson, 2006; Amalinei et al., 2010; Hua et al., 2011). In many cases, however, the physiological effects of MMP-mediated degradation remain poorly understood. MMPs can cause a variety of complex physiological effects on cells and tissue, since their degradation can release signaling molecules or activate other proteinases, present in latent form at the cell surface or in the ECM. However, the most profound effects of MMP-mediated degradation are associated with alterations in ECM composition and the availability of different binding sites for cell-matrix receptors, such as integrins. These translate changes in the extracellular environment into a variety of cellular responses such as proliferation, survival, migration and invasion (Geiger et al., 2001; DeMali et al., 2003; Humphries et al., 2004; Larsen et al., 2006).

In cartilage biology, various MMPs have been shown to play an important part in many aspects of chondrogenesis and cartilage pathogenesis (Imai et al., 1997; Holmbeck et al., 1999; Ishiguro et al., 2002; Murphy et al., 2002; Holmbeck et al., 2003; Kuroki et al., 2005; Malemud, 2006). However, many questions remain and detailed examinations of cartilage tissue in tetrapod models pose significant practical challenges. Teleost species, such as zebrafish, have many practical advantages over conventional model organisms and the field of cartilage biology has already benefited greatly from the contribution of studies that used zebrafish as a model organism (Kimmel et al., 2001; Crump et al., 2004; Clement et al., 2008; Flanagan-Steet et al., 2009; Carney et al., 2010; Eames et al., 2011). However, the relatively large

phylogenetic distance between zebrafish and humans requires detailed comparative study between zebrafish and tetrapod chondrogenesis, before zebrafish can be used as a reliable model organism. In the most recent decade, many studies have shown the highly conserved nature of cartilage development (Bauer et al., 1998; Crotwell et al., 2001; Yan et al., 2005; Avaron et al., 2006; Crotwell and Mabee, 2007; Hammond and Schulte-Merker, 2009), but the role of MMPs during zebrafish chondrogenesis has not yet been investigated. Here we present the first data on the involvement of MMPs in zebrafish cartilage remodeling.

One of the most characteristic remodeling events in the zebrafish endoskeleton is the transformation of the pectoral fin disk cartilage. In this event, common to all teleosts, a disk-shaped cartilage that supports the larval pectoral fin, subdivides into four rod-like cartilage radials (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Dewit et al., 2011). These subdivisions are accomplished by the formation of four distinct cartilage subdivision zones (CSZs), in which cartilage tissue is lost. Our previous report indicates that this loss of cartilage is not due to chondroclast-mediated resorption or chondrocyte apoptosis, but likely due to the dedifferentiation of the chondrocytes in the CSZs (Dewit et al., 2011).

Here we investigate the involvement of several MMPs, in particular MMP2, 9, 13 and 14, in this remodeling process. MMP2 and 9 are also called gelatinase A and B, respectively, and are capable of degrading many cartilage ECM components, such as fibronectin, aggrecan and proteoglycan link protein (Murphy et al., 2002). In mature human articular cartilage, MMP2 is present in all chondrocytes (Duerr et al., 2004), while MMP9 can only be detected in some superficial chondrocytes (Söder et al., 2006). In pathological conditions, such as osteoarthritis (OA), these two MMPs are up-regulated and expressed in all chondrocytes near the OA lesion (Agarwal et al., 2003; Duerr et al., 2004; Davidson et al., 2006). MMP13 or collagenase 3 degrades both collagen type II and aggrecan, the two major components of cartilage ECM (Murphy et al., 2002). This proteinase is expressed in the long bone metaphysis, from proliferative to hypertrophic chondrocytes (Ohkubo et al.,

104

2003; Behonick et al., 2007). Furthermore, this collagenase is strongly upregulated in OA cartilage (Davidson et al., 2006).

MMP14 is also called MT1-MMP and is the only membrane-bound MMP under investigation. Unlike MMP2, 9 and 13, which are secreted in inactive form, the pro-domain of MMP14 is cleaved intracellularly. As a result, this proteinase is always present in active form on the cell membrane, however, its activity remains regulated by other proteins, for example by interactions with MMP inhibitors (Itoh and Seiki, 2006). Apart from the degradation of many cartilage matrix components, such as collagen type II, aggrecan, fibronectin and dermatan sulfate proteoglycan (Murphy et al., 2002), this proteinase can also activate MMP2 (Zhou et al., 2000) and 13 (Knauper et al., 2002). In tetrapod long bones, MMP14 is mainly expressed in the perichondrium and the superficial cartilage bordering the metaphysis (Holmbeck et al., 2003; Yang et al., 2008). There, it allows the transition from the superficial chondrocytes in the uncalcified ECM and perichondrium to the bony tissue of the periosteum, a process proven to be essential for proper long bone growth (Holmbeck et al., 2003). Unlike MMP2, 9 and 13, this proteinase is not significantly up-regulated in OA cartilage (Davidson et al., 2006). However, this does not exclude the possibility that this proteinase is involved in OA, since it can activate proteinases, which do show up-regulation (Imai et al., 1997).

Here, we examine the distribution of MMP2, 9, 13 and 14 during the period of intense remodeling of the pectoral fin endoskeleton by means of immunohistochemistry. As a result of a genome duplication common to all teleosts MMP14 is represented by two paralogs MMP14 α and β in zebrafish (Hurley et al., 2007). Both paralogs are examined by paralog specific antibodies. We also study the role of these MMPs by using both a broad spectrum and a more specific MMP inhibitor. This analysis sheds light on how the remodeling of the pectoral fin endoskeleton is accomplished. It also allows us to assess whether the pectoral fin disk cartilage transformation in zebrafish corresponds with the observations in either normal or pathological degradation of cartilage tissue in tetrapods.

Material and methods

Wild type zebrafish, *Danio rerio*, embryos were raised in E3 medium (Brand et al., 2002) at a standard temperature of 28.5°C. After 6 days post-fertilization (dpf), the larvae were transferred to previously aerated tap water at 26°C. From 5 dpf until 14 dpf, the larvae were fed with dry food (ZM 000, ZMsystems, Winchester, UK) twice a day. At 12 dpf, freshly hatched *Artemia salina* nauplii were introduced, in order to gradually replace the dry food. These were then given twice a day for the remainder of the rearing time.

Prior to fixation all larvae, ranging from 10 to 40 dpf, were euthanized with ethyl 3-aminobenzoate methanesulfonate salt (MS222, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) and their notochordal length (NL) was measured (Cubbage and Mabee, 1996). These measurements were taken with an ocular micrometer on a MZ APO stereomicroscope (Leica, Heerbrugg, Switzerland). Since larvae of equal age can show considerable developmental variation, especially in relatively late developmental stages, these NL measurements provided a more accurate developmental staging system (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Parichy et al., 2009).

Specimens used for whole-mount immunohistochemistry were fixed overnight in 4% PFA (pH 7.5) at 4°C, dehydrated and stored in methanol at - 20°C. Prior to staining, larvae were rehydrated and pectoral fins were dissected to allow for optimal tissue orientation prior to visualization. The pectoral fins were permeabilized for 20 min. in 0.1% proteinase K and for 20 min. in 2% hyaluronidase, both in PBS, pH 7.5 at 25°C. After rinsing and blocking (1% BSA and 1% DMSO in PBS, pH 7.5), they were incubated overnight at 4°C with the primary antibodies (Collagen II: II-II6B3 (Hybridoma Bank, Iowa City, U.S.A.), MMP2: 55111, MMP9: 55345, MMP13: 55114, MMP14a: 55115, MMP14 β : 55116 (Anaspec Inc., Fremont, U.S.A.)), diluted 1/300 in blocking solution. All anti-MMP antibodies used in this study are raised against the zebrafish proteins. After rinsing, the samples were incubated at 25°C for 2 h with the secondary antibody (Alexa anti-rabbit 488, Alexa anti-mouse 595 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, U.S.A.)) diluted 1/300 in blocking solution. After rinsing, specimens were transferred to 30% glycerin, finally

106

mounted in vectashield (Vector Laboratories Inc., Burlingame, U.S.A.) and observed using a confocal laser scanning microscope (CLSM) (D-eclipse-C1, Nikon, Melville N.Y., U.S.A.). For staining controls, the same protocol was applied, without the use of a primary antibody. The double staining protocol was controlled by using each antibody separately on two specimens and comparing these signals with a double-stained specimen.

In order to obtain positive control tissue for MMP9, the caudal fin of larvae at 5 dpf was amputated just caudally to the tail blood vessels. Larvae were allowed to recover for 5 hours to allow macrophages to respond to the injury (Yoong et al., 2007). Subsequently, larvae were fixed and processed for immunohistochemistry as described above. Positive control tissue for MMP2, 14 α and β was obtained by amputating the distal portion of the caudal fin, at the level of the third lepidotrichia joint. Larvae were allowed 5 days of regeneration (Bai et al., 2005) then larvae were fixed and processed as described above. All amputations were performed under appropriate anesthesia with ethyl 3-aminobenzoate methanesulfonate salt (MS222, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA).

Specimens used for immunohistochemistry on paraffin sections were fixed overnight in 4% PFA (pH 7.5) at 4°C and processed for paraffin embedding. Transverse and sagittal serial sections of 5 µm were made, mounted on uncoated slides and dried at 40°C. After deparaffination, sections were rehydrated and washed with PBS. Endogenous peroxidase was blocked by 1% H₂O₂ in 100% methanol for 20 min. After washing, sections underwent antigen retrieval in a preheated citrate buffer (1.8ml 1M citric acid and 8.2ml 1M Na-citrate in 1I distilled water) at 95°C for 20 min. Sections were allowed to cool down inside the retrieval buffer, washed with PBS and submerged in block solution (3% BSA, 1% milk powder in PBS, pH 7.5) for 2h. The slides were then covered with the primary antibodies (see above), diluted 1/500 in block solution and left overnight at 4°C. After washing, sections were impregnated for 2 h at 25°C with the secondary antibody, a biotin-coupled polyclonal goat anti-rabbit immunoglobulin (E0432, Dako), diluted 1/500 in blocking solution. Subsequently, sections were rinsed and impregnated with ABC-kit and DAB-kit, according to manufacturers' instructions (K0492 and K3468, resp., Dako). Sections received final rinsing before being coverslipped with DEPEC and photographed using a light microscope (AXIO Imager Z1, Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany) fitted with an Axiocam camera.

In order to assess the role of the MMPs under investigation during zebrafish cartilage remodeling, we treated larvae with two MMP-inhibitory compounds, one broad spectrum inhibitor, GM6001 (Millipore, Billerica, USA) and one specific MMP inhibitor, ND322 that only inhibits MMP2, 9 and 14.

These compounds were dissolved in DMSO as stock solutions and stored at -20°C. Stock solutions were concentrated, in order to prepare treatment solutions of 20 ml E3 medium containing 0.1% DMSO supplemented with either 0.25 mM 6001, 5 μ M, 10 μ M or 20 μ M ND322. The concentration used for GM6001 was adapted from Bai et al. (2005), while the concentrations of ND322 were chosen in accordance to a preliminary study performed at the University of Notre Dame. Each treatment started with 10 larvae at 18 dpf and was maintained for 8 days. The overall experimental design is presented in table 1, which also lists the number of surviving larvae in each treatment. Medium was refreshed every 48h. Control groups of 10 siblings were raised over the same timespan in 20 ml E3 medium, containing only 0.1% DMSO. All groups were fed small amounts of *Artemia salina* nauplii three times a day.

At 26 dpf, all larvae were measured for NL, fixed and stained whole mount with alcian-blue/alizarin-red (Walker and Kimmel, 2007). Specimens were cleared until all background staining had dissipated, pectoral fins were dissected and mounted, according to Dewit et al. (2011). Photographs were taken using a light microscope (AXIO Imager Z1; Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany)

sibling	CONTROL	GM6001	ND322	
А	6	8	6	5μΜ
	6	7	9	5μΜ
В	4	5	5	10µM
	7	4	0	20µM
fitted with an Axiocam camera. Series of partially focused images were merged using Helicon Focus software (version 4.6). The degree of cartilage subdivision was estimated using the following equation:

% CS =
$$\frac{\text{total surface CS} - (\frac{\text{progression surface CS}}{2})}{\text{total surface FD}} \times 100$$

The '% CS' is the percentage of cartilage subdivision. The 'total surface CS' is the surface of all the regions of the fin disk cartilage showing signs of cartilage degradation. The 'progression surface CS' consists of the surface where cartilage degradation is evident, but remnant matrix is still visible, as opposed to regions that have become completely free of alcian blue staining. The 'total surface FD' is the surface of the entire fin disk cartilage. All surface measurements were taken using ImageJ software, version 1.440 (Abramoff et al., 2004).

The average '% CS' of the left and right pectoral fins was used for further statistical analysis. To test whether the treatment and length had an effect on the average '% CS', we fitted a linear mixed model with treatment and notochordal length as explanatory variables. Afterwards, we also tested whether changes in length were affected by the treatment by including the interaction between treatment and length in the previous model. Sibling always included as а random factor to information was avoid pseudoreplication. The average '% CS' was logarithmically transformed, assumptions of normality and homoscedasticity were met and no outliers with high influence (by using Cook's distance) were present. In addition, a

Table 1

This table gives the number of surviving larvae for each subgroup (n=10) at the end of the MMP-inhibition experiment at 26 dpf. Each treatment, i.e. control, GM6001 and ND322, was performed in four independent groups (subgroups) that contained 10 larvae of equal age (18 dpf). Two different sibling groups (A and B) were used that originated from different parent groups (each parent group contained 2 males and 3 females). The first column of this table shows how these sibling-groups were distributed over the experiment. The last column indicates which of the three tested concentrations of ND322 was given to each subgroup.

generalized linear mixed model was fitted to verify whether mortality was affected by the treatment (sibling as random effect). The model showed that mortality did not differ significantly between treatment groups (F2,8=0.17; P=0.85). All tests were considered significant if the P-value was less than 0.05 and the statistical analyses were performed in SAS 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc. 2002-2006, Cary, NC, USA).



Figure 2

Z-stack of CLSM of recording the pectoral fin after whole mount immunostaining for collagen type II (red) and MMP14a (green). In (A, C, E, G) the merged image of both red and green channels is shown, while (B, D, F, H) show only the green, MMP14α signal. (A, B) 5 mm larva (18 dpf), (C, D) 6.2 mm larva (21 dpf), (E, F) 7.6 mm larva (25 dpf) and (G, portion of the H) pectoral fin of a 8.3 mm larva (29 dpf). Dashed line in (G) indicates bounthe 2nd daries of the proximal radial (PR 2) which can no longer be stained due to the presence of perichondral bone. Further abbreviations: CSZ 0-3: cartilage subdivision zone 0-3, DR 1-3: distal radial 1-

3, FD: fin disk cartilage, PR1-2: proximal radial 1-2, SC: scapulocoracoid cartilage. Scale bars = 100μ M.

Results

MMP14a is dynamically distributed during the remodeling of the fin endoskeleton

The developmental sequence of the pectoral cartilage subdivisions was previously described (Dewit et al., 2011). Here, we evaluate the presence of MMP2, 9, 13, MMP14 α and β during these events.

MMP14a first appears in the most proximal region of the fin disk cartilage in 5.2 - 5.4 mm larvae (16-20 dpf) (Figure 2 A-B). This timing corresponds perfectly with the onset of CSZ 0 formation between the fin disk cartilage and the scapulocoracoid cartilage of the shoulder girdle. MMP14a is, however, not limited to CSZ 0 and is also observed in the most proximal chondrocytes of the disk cartilage, while the chondrocytes of the scapulocoracoid remain negative. Between 5.6 and 6.2 mm NL, both CSZ 0 and CSZ 1 have formed and MMP14a can be seen in the former chondrocytes of the subdivision zones and in the chondrocytes of the remaining halves of the fin disk cartilage (Figure 2 C-D). Later, MMP14a gradually disappears, first inside CSZ 0 and 1, but soon also in the chondrocytes of the remaining fin disk cartilage. Between 7.5 and 8 mm NL, CSZ 2 and 3 form, but, unlike CSZ 0 and 1, they do not show MMP14a positive cells. At this point, only the proximal areas of proximal radial 3 and 4 still show MMP14a (Figure 2 E-F). When the proximal radials are finally individualized MMP14a can no longer be detected in the cartilage or the interradial tissue. However, at this time the proximal radials will undergo perichondral ossification and MMP14a can be detected in the transition region between perichondrium and periosteum (Figure 2 G-H). Regions covered with perichondral bone are impenetrable to antibodies in whole mount staining and therefore appear negative for collagen type II and MMPs.

Although an MMP14α signal can clearly be observed in regions of both cartilage loss and cartilage persistence, there is a clear difference in the distribution of MMP14α around the cells. In persistent cartilage MMP14α is mostly concentrated at a single lacunar wall, more specifically the youngest matrix wall between two daughter chondrocytes (white arrowheads in Figure

111

3). In addition to this clearly concentrated MMP14 α , the entire periphery of the chondrocytes shows faint MMP14 α signal (Figure 3 A-B). In contrast, regions of cartilage loss, such as CSZ 0 and 1, show cells with strong MMP14 α signal along the entire cell periphery (asterisk in Fig. 3 C-D). Older regions of these subdivision zones are, however, the first areas to lose MMP14 α signal completely. At this point some cells at the boundaries of the CSZs show chondrocytes with strong MMP14 α signal along their entire periphery (asterisk in Figure 3 E-F).

MMP14 β , MMP2, 9 and 13, on the other hand, are not detected during fin disk subdivision, despite verification of the antibodies on various control tissues. MMP13 could be detected in zebrafish chondrocytes, even in the proximal radials of the pectoral fin, yet only after subdivisions had occurred (Figure 4 A-B). In tetrapods, MMP13 is found to be strongest in early hypertrophic chondrocytes (Ohkubo et al., 2003; Behonick et al., 2007). In the zebrafish pectoral fin endoskeleton, hypertrophic chondrocytes first appear around the dorsal and ventral cartilage canals of the girdle, where the scapular and coracoid ossifications will form, respectively (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998), and these cells are MMP13 positive. In zebrafish, MMP9 can be detected in several cells, probably macrophages, near a wound inflicted to the caudal fin in 5 dpf larvae (Figure 4 C-D) (Yoong et al., 2007). In mice, MMP9 is found in regions of known osteoclast activity (Vu et al., 1998; Ortega et al., 2004). In zebrafish, osteoclasts can be found in the toothbearing branchial arch (Figure 4 E) (Witten et al., 2001). MMP2 and MMP14a are located in 5-day-old regeneration blastema of the caudal fin in 3 weeks old zebrafish (Bai et al., 2005) (Figure 4 F-G). In contrast to MMP14a, MMP14β could not be detected in the regeneration blastema.

Immunohistochemistry on paraffin sections generally confirms our whole mounts observations, although this approach generated considerably more background signal, especially in dermal and epidermal tissues (Figure 5). Although it is possible that the dermal and epidermal signal corresponds to some extend to the presence of MMPs, neither our whole mount observations



Figure 3

Z-stack of detailed CLSM recording of the pectoral fin endoskeleton after whole mount immunostaining for collagen type II (red) and MMP14a (green). In (A, C, E) the merged image of both red and green channels is shown, while (B, D, F) show only green, MMP14a signal. (A, B) show detailed images of persistent fin disk cartilage in a 6.2 mm larva, with faint MMP14a along the entire cell and concentrated MMP14a at the youngest matrix wall separating chondrocyte daughter cells (indicated by white arrowheads). (C, D) show detailed images of cartilage subdivision zone 1 (CSZ 1), which no longer shows collagen type II, in a 6.2 mm larva. MMP14α in the CSZ 1 is strong along the entire cell periphery (white asterisks), while only a single matrix wall stains strongly for MMP14 α in the persistent cartilages (white arrowheads). (E, F) show detailed images of a mature CSZ 1, in a 7 mm larva. MMP14a has mostly disappeared in the center of CSZ 1, while at the borders some chondrocytes still show MMP14a around their entire periphery (white asterisk). Chondrocytes located just a little deeper in the persistent cartilage show localized MMP14a (white arrowhead). Scale bars = $10 \,\mu$ M.



Figure 4

(A, B) show Z-stack of CLSM recording of whole mount immunostaining for collagen type II (red) in (A) and MMP13 (green) in (B). (B) shows the faint presence of MMP13 in the scapulocoracoid cartilage (SC) and in some areas of the proximal radials (PR 1-4), but not associated with the cartilage subdivision zones (CSZs). Dashed lines in (A, B) indicate hypertrophic chondrocytes located around the scapular cartilage canal (full lines), which show slightly stronger MMP13 signal. (C, D) show Z-stack of CLSM recording of an amputated caudal fin after whole mount immunostaining for MMP9, performed 6 hours after amputation. (C) shows bright field image of the amputation wound (dashed line), while (D) shows the corresponding fluorescent image with MMP9 positive cells (presumably macrophages) that are recruited to the wound (white arrowheads). (E) shows Z-stack of CLSM recording of tooth region after whole mount immunostaining for MMP9, in a 21 dpf larva. MMP9 positive cells (likely osteoclasts), marked by arrowheads, can be found at the base of a tooth in resorption (teeth are marked by the dashed lines), blue signal is DAPI nuclear counterstain. (F, G) show Z-stack of CLSM recording of a 5-day-old regeneration blastema (dashed line marks amputation site) of the caudal fin after whole mount immunostaining for MMP2 in (F) and MMP14a in (G). The fluorescent images were merged with their corresponding bright field image. All scale bars = 100 μ M.

nor the available literature can confirm this observation. Of all MMPs investigated in this paper, MMP14 α is the only MMP that is distinctively present in the fin disk cartilage during subdivision (Figure 5 A-E). However, unlike in whole mount staining, MMP2 and 9 appear faintly, and MMP13 more distinctively, present in the chondrocytes of the scapulocoracoid. We also analyzed the presence of these MMPs in the cartilaginous radials of the median fins, which, at 1 month post-fertilization, possess regions of appositional growth, mature and hypertrophic chondrocytes (Figure 5 F-M). MMP2 is detected in all these chondrocytes, but appears strongest in the recently added chondrocytes, which still show a flattened cell shape. MMP9 and 13 are also present throughout the chondrocytes of these radials, although a stronger signal can be found in mature and hypertrophic chondrocytes. MMP14 α , on the other hand, cannot be detected in the cartilage of the median fin radials, just as it was absent in the pectoral girdle.

Pectoral fin disk cartilage subdivision is significantly delayed by MMPinhibitors

We inhibited MMP-mediated ECM degradation during the period of pectoral fin disk cartilage subdivision (from 18 to 26 dpf), with a broad-spectrum (GM6001) and a MMP2, 9 and 14 specific (ND322) inhibitory compound (Figure 6). Larval survival was approximately 60% and did not differ significantly between treatment groups (F2,8=0.17;P=0.85). Only the 20 μ M ND322 treatment showed obviously higher mortality, with 100% mortality within 48 hours. Overall, the linear mixed model showed that the average percentage of cartilage subdivision differed significantly between treatments ($F_{2,62} = 38.84$; P < 0.0001) (Figure 6). The highest values of cartilage subdivision were observed in the control treatment and these were significantly different from the GM6001 ($t_{62} = 3.70$; P = 0.0005) and the ND322 treatment ($t_{62} = 8.77$; P < 0.0001). Values of cartilage subdivision in the GM6001 group were also significantly higher than those in the ND322 group ($t_{62} = 5.58$; P < 0.0001).



Figure 5

Immunological staining on paraffin sections of the pectoral region in 6.5 mm larvae (A-E) and the median fin radials of 1-month-old larvae (F-M), with caudal fin radials in (F, G, L, M) and anal fin radials in (H-K). MMP2 is stained in (A, F), MMP9 in (B, H), MMP13 in (C, J) and MMP14 α in (D, L). Negative controls are given in (E, G, I, K, M). These negative controls show globular structures inside chondrocyte lacunae (black arrowheads), presumably artefacts of the tissue fixation and embedding, and a general background signal in epidermal and mesenchymal tissues. (A) and (B) show weak staining in the scapulocoracoid (grey inset) for MMP2 and MMP9 respectively, but no staining in the fin disk cartilage (black inset). (C) shows clear MMP13 staining in the scapulocoracoid (grey inset), while the fin disk cartilage shows no signal (black insert). Only (D) shows staining in the fin disk cartilage (black insert) indicating MMP14a, but this MMP is not detected in the scapulocoracoid (grey insert). In (F), (H) and (J) the chondrocytes of the median radials show positive MMP2, 9 and 13 staining, respectively, while MMP14 α is not detected in median fin cartilage (L). Scale bar for (A-E) is given in (E) and represents 50 μ M. Scale bar for (F-M) is given in (M) and represents 50 μ M.

Despite the significant effect of both inhibitors on pectoral fin disk cartilage subdivision, the subdivision process was not stopped by these treatments. The average percentage of CSZ significantly increased with length ($F_{1,62} = 327.57$; P < 0.0001) and the extent of this increase, i.e. the slopes of the fitted curves in Figure 6, was significantly different between treatments ($F_{2,60} = 7.55$; P = 0.0012). More specifically, the slope or the progression of the average percentage of cartilage subdivision with length was highest in the ND322 treatment and was significantly different from the progression in both the control ($t_{60} = 3.00$; P = 0.0039) and the GM6001 treatment ($t_{60} = 3.77$; P = 0.0004). There was no difference between the control and the GM treatment ($t_{60} = -0.83$; P = 0.41).

Discussion

Zebrafish pectoral cartilage degradation compared to cartilage loss in tetrapods

We find that the transformation of the pectoral cartilage is at least partially accomplished by MMP14a. The first appearance of this proteinase coincides perfectly with the onset of pectoral fin disk cartilage subdivision.



Figure 6

This graph shows the extent of cartilage subdivision, expressed as average percentage of cartilage subdivision (%CS) (see Material and Methods). The average %CS was logarithmically transformed and plotted on the Y-axis, while the notochordal length of each larva was plotted on the X-axis. Blue diamonds, red squares and green triangles represent control, broad spectrum inhibition by GM6001 and specific inhibition of MMP2, 9 and 14 by ND322, respectively. Different concentrations ND322, i.e. 5 and 10 μ M, are merged in a single treatment group in order to maintain statistical power.

Furthermore, the MMP-inhibition experiment indicated that larvae raised under MMP-inhibitory conditions had significantly less surface area of the fin disk cartilage subdivided than their siblings, which were raised under control conditions. This delay in cartilage subdivision progression was found to be significant for both the broad spectrum (GM6001) and the selective (ND322) inhibitory compound. Since the latter compound only inhibits MMP2, 9 and 14 (Grobelny et al., 1992; Gooyit et al., 2011) and neither MMP2 nor MMP9 could be detected by immunohistochemistry in the fin disk cartilage, we can conclude that the inhibitory effect of ND322 specifically on MMP14a resulted in the significant retardation of pectoral cartilage subdivision. Interestingly, ND322 had a significantly stronger retardation effect on cartilage subdivision

than GM6001, although GM6001 is a more potent inhibitor of MMP14 than ND-322 (Ki values of 13.4 nM and 210 nM, respectively). GM6001 is, however, poorly water soluble and this may account for the observed differences in cartilage subdivision (Gooyit et al., 2011).

MMP14-dependent remodeling of cartilage tissue was previously described by Holmbeck et al. (2003). These authors identified numerous sites in the mouse skeleton, i.e. the calvarial cartilages, the posterior portion of the meckelian cartilage and the groove of Ranvier in long bone metaphysis, which all showed highly localized MMP14 expression in non-hypertrophic cartilage. This *Mmp14* expression was found to be closely associated with the degradation of both collagen type II and proteoglycans and with a high incidence of apoptosis. In Mmp14 null-mutant mice all these skeletal sites were characterized by the presence of 'ghost cartilage' in regions where cartilage tissue could no longer be detected in wild type mice. This 'ghost cartilage' appeared to be void of proteoglycans, contained apoptotic chondrocytes and many empty chondrocyte lacunae. However, some lacunae of the 'ghost cartilage' showed entrapped proliferative cells, expressing collagen type I and osteocalcin. This suggests that some former chondrocytes had escaped apoptotic cell death and had switched to an osteoblast-like cell phenotype.

Our previous observations on the cellular events in the CSZs of the zebrafish pectoral fin endoskeleton showed that neither chondrocyte hypertrophy and chondroclast-mediated resorption, nor chondrocyte apoptosis are involved in these events. However, we did find clear signs of chondrocyte dedifferentiation in concomitance with the degradation of the ECM (Dewit et al., 2011). The only major difference between these findings and the observations by Holmbeck et al. (2003) on mouse cartilage is the absence of apoptosis. This can, however, be explained by an important difference between zebrafish and murine hyaline cartilage. Hyaline cartilage in zebrafish and especially the fin disk cartilage is far more cell-rich with much smaller quantities of ECM between neighboring chondrocytes than murine hyaline cartilage or tetrapod hyaline cartilage in general (Witten et al., 2010).

We observed that dedifferentiating chondrocytes of zebrafish CSZs reestablish cell-to-cell contacts with neighboring chondrocytes well before all ECM is degraded (Dewit et al., 2011). Although cell-to-cell contacts are not required for chondrocyte survival, they are known to be essential for the survival of other types of connective tissue, including fibroblastic and osteogenic cells, both of which are found in the interradial area that is formed out of the CSZs (Hall and Miyake, 1995; Hall and Miyake, 2000).

Subdivision was also found to occur in the absence of MMP14 α and even following MMP inhibition. Indeed, despite the clear presence of MMP14 α in CSZ 0 and 1, we found no MMP14 α associated with the formation of CSZ 2 and 3. In addition, we found that fast growing juveniles, larger than 8 mm, showed complete cartilage subdivision even under MMP inhibition, while their moderately and slow growing siblings showed significantly slower progression of cartilage subdivision. This difference of treatment effectiveness for siblings with different growth rates resulted in an overall steeper progression curve of the ND322 treatment. The progression curve of the GM6001 treatment was, however, not significantly steeper than the control group, but most likely this is caused by the absence of fast growing siblings reaching over 8 mm in this group.

One likely cause for the apparent lack of delayed cartilage subdivision in fast growing larvae is that MMP14a may have been present before the onset of treatment at 18 dpf. However, a pilot study revealed that an earlier onset of treatment would require feeding with dry food, since not all larvae had switched to live food at this time. Yet, even minimal amounts of dry food resulted in rapid deterioration of the water quality of the small treatment volumes, which was followed by high mortality rates. Therefore treatment was only started when all siblings could survive on live food.

An alternative explanation for the incomplete effect of MMP inhibition and for the absence of MMP14 α in CSZ 2 and 3 is inspired by Holmbeck et al. (2003). These authors still observe some degree of cartilage degradation even in *Mmp14* null-mutant mice. The cartilage regions normally characterized by MMP14 degradation in wild type mouse still underwent apoptosis in the mutant mice and the few surviving cells in these regions no longer produced cartilaginous ECM. In addition, some ECM components, like proteoglycans, disappeared from the ECM, suggesting that some redundancy may exist with other MMPs or that other catabolic enzymes are involved in these remodeling events in an MMP14-independent manner. Other studies also report that the loss of cartilage matrix, whether under normal conditions or associated with pathophysiological processes, is always dependent on both the cessation of new matrix synthesis and *Mmp* expression (Szabova et al., 2009), but also on the presence of natural MMP inhibitors (Oh et al., 2001; Sahebjam et al., 2007).

In conclusion, our observations agree with these previous observations on tetrapod cartilage remodeling that MMP14a can mediate the degradation of cartilaginous ECM, but MMP14-mediated ECM degradation does not appear to be the driving factor behind chondrocyte dedifferentiation in these regions, just as the occurrence of apoptosis is not affected in remodeling murine cartilages. Additionally, we find that, although MMP14a has a clear functional role in cartilage ECM degradation, it is likely that other currently unknown factors are equally involved in this process.

It is, however, unlikely that MMP2, 9 and 13, have a significant role in pectoral cartilage subdivision, since these MMPs could not be detected during this event. Therefore, the loss of cartilage tissue in the fin disk transformation shows little resemblance to OA lesions in tetrapod articular cartilage, since *MMP2*, *9* and *13* are all up-regulated in OA cartilage degradation (Murphy et al., 2002; Davidson et al., 2006). However, the fact that all these MMPs were found in other cartilaginous elements of the zebrafish skeleton, suggests that these MMPs are nevertheless part of the catabolic arsenal of the zebrafish chondrocyte, just as in their tetrapod counterparts (Cawston and Wilson, 2006; Sakakura et al., 2007).

The role of MMP14 in persistent cartilage

The presence of MMP14 α in persistent regions of the fin disk cartilage adds to the growing body of data that the functions of MMP14 far exceed

mere ECM degradation. In tetrapods, MMP14 is known to modulate various signaling pathways by creating functionally active protein fragments and by shedding other proteins, such as syndecan and CD44, from the cell membrane (Itoh and Seiki, 2006). In cartilaginous tissue specifically, MMP14 is found to be crucial for proper chondrocyte proliferation in the growth plate of long bones, although it is only moderately expressed in these proliferative chondrocytes (Zhou et al., 2000; Szabova et al., 2009). In addition, MMP14 rather counter-intuitively allows cultured bovine chondrocytes to respond to cyclic compressions with an increase in ECM production. More specifically, cyclic compression induces chondrocyte spreading and subsequent retraction and together these cell shape changes result in an increased production of ECM components. Integrins were found to be essential for the initial spreading, but MMP14 is required for the subsequent cell retraction, suggesting that the role of this proteinase in chondrogenesis is far more complex than mere ECM degradation (Spiteri et al., 2010). Interestingly, the fin disk cartilage does show chondrocyte proliferation in concomitance with the presence of MMP14a (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Dewit et al., 2011). However, this does not explain the concentrated presence of MMP14a at the youngest matrix wall, between two daughter cells. In this case MMP14a may contribute to the production of new matrix at this thin matrix wall.

In conclusion, it appears that MMP14a performs multiple functions during the transformation of the zebrafish fin disk cartilage. Many of these functions are also known from tetrapod chondrogenesis, but remain far from completely understood. We found that the zebrafish pectoral cartilage can serve as a valuable and easily accessible model system to study both the upstream regulation and the down-stream physiological effects of MMP14a-mediated degradation during ECM degradation, chondrocyte proliferation and matrix production.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to express their gratitude to Mrs. Mieke Soenens and Mr. Dennis Vlaeminck for their invaluable technical assistance. Jasper Dewit received funding from the Institute for the Promotion of Innovation through Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT-Vlaanderen).

3.4. Expression of Cathepsin-K in the pectoral and median fins of medaka, *Oryzias latipes*

by

J. Dewit¹, C. Winkler^{2*}, T.T. To^{2*}, P.-E. Witten^{1,3}, A. Huysseune¹

Affiliations:

1. Research Group Evolutionary Developmental Biology, Biology Department, Ghent University, 9000 Ghent, Belgium

2. Department of Biological Sciences, National University of Singapore, Singapore 117543

3. Skretting Aquaculture Research Centre, Sjøhagen 3, 4016 Stavanger, Norway

* proposed co-authors

Expression of cathepsin K in the pectoral and median fins of medaka, *Oryzias latipes*

Abstract

Cathepsin K (CTSK) is a cysteine proteinase that is associated with endochondral bone formation and bone remodeling since it is strongly expressed in osteoclast cells. We evaluated the expression of ctsk during skeletal development in the pectoral and median fins of medaka, Oryzias latipes through observations of a ctsk:mEGFP reporter line and in situ hybridization for *ctsk*. Both the reporter line and *in situ* hybridization clearly identify regions known for their osteoclast activity. However, in addition to this osteoclast-related signal, the reporter line revealed additional distinctly positive signals during pectoral and median fin development. Using detailed confocal imaging, mEGFP was found in the mesenchymal tissue surrounding the developing cartilaginous radials and the bony fin rays of all observed fins. In addition to this mesenchymal source of mEGFP signal, a strong mEGFP signal was found in many isolated cells in the developing fins. Both the mesenchymal cells and the strong mEGFP-positive cells, however, preceded the formation of calcified matrix in both dermal and cartilaginous structures of the fins. This suggests that an osteoclast-independent source of ctsk contributes to the intense tissue remodeling associated with the formation of both bony rays and cartilaginous radials. However, these observations were only partially confirmed by in situ hybridization. Possible reasons for this discrepancy are discussed. Interestingly, both the transgenic line and the in situ analysis failed to detect ctsk expression in the subdivision zones of the pectoral fins, while all other cartilaginous fin radials formed in association with ctsk expression at least according to the transgenic reporter line. These results support our previous findings on a chondro/osteoclast independent mechanism for the unique type of remodeling occurring in the pectoral fin endoskeleton.

Introduction

In medaka (Oryzias latipes), like in zebrafish and in other teleost species (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Schreiber, 2006), the early pectoral fin endoskeleton forms as a continuous cartilaginous structure composed of both girdle and fin disk cartilage (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Dewit et al., 2011). While the fin disk cartilage supports the muscular portion of the larval pectoral fin, collagenous fin rays or actinotrichia support the epithelial fin fold. The early pectoral fins of teleosts are fully functional and retain their special morphology for some time (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). However, they undergo a unique transformation once the median fins and the vertebral bodies start to form. In the pectoral fin, bony fin rays or lepidotrichia replace the actinotrichia of the larval fin fold, while the fin disk cartilage is subdivided into four proximal radials (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). For zebrafish, we established that these cartilage subdivisions are accomplished by chondrocyte dedifferentiation without the involvement of apoptosis or resorption (Dewit et al., 2011), i.e. without the involvement of clast cells. Since the transformation of the pectoral skeleton can found in a similar developmental setting in all teleost species, including medaka (own observations), it is likely that the underlying mechanisms behind this skeletal transformation are equally similar in all teleosts. The use of medaka, a teleost species rather distantly related to zebrafish, allows us to asses whether or not some of our previous findings on the pectoral cartilage transformation in zebrafish are indeed common in teleost species.

Cathepsin K (CTSK) is a cysteine proteinase, capable of degrading elastin, gelatin and collagen at neutral and acidic pH (Bromme et al., 1996; Kafienah et al., 1998). This proteinase is most abundantly expressed in chondro/osteoclast cells (Haeckel et al., 1999; Boyle et al., 2003; Chatani et al., 2011; To et al., 2012), which are responsible for the replacement of calcified cartilage during endochondral bone formation and for the remodeling of bony tissue throughout life in both tetrapods (Currey, 2003) and teleosts (Witten et al., 2001; Witten and Huysseune, 2009). The strong expression of CTSK in osteoclasts makes this proteinase suitable as an osteoclast marker.

It is, however, important to note that *ctsk* expression is found in many different types of mammalian tissues. Apart from osteoclast, other specifically differentiated macrophages, such as epithelioid cells and multinucleated giant cells, also express *CTSK* in various soft tissues (Bühling et al., 2001). In addition, epithelial cells of the respiratory, digestive and renal system have been reported to express *CTSK* (Haeckel et al., 1999). Smooth muscle cells and macrophages are dependent on CTSK during vascular remodeling (Sukhova et al., 1998). In thyroid epithelial cells, CTSK-mediated degradation could aid in the release of thyroid hormone (Tepel et al., 2000). Cathepsin-K is even involved in the Toll-like receptor (TLR) 9-mediated activation of dendritic cells (Takayanagi, 2010). This wide expression of *ctsk* suggests that this proteinase has a wider range of functions than solely in osteoclast-mediated resorption.

Recently, To et al. (2012) generated a transgenic *ctsk* reporter line, which allows the *in vivo* visualization of *ctsk* expressing cells, such as osteoclasts. This particular transgenic line contains the coding sequence of membrane-bound EGFP (*mEGFP*) under control of the *ctsk* promoter (To et al., 2012). The analysis of this *ctsk* reporter line serves a double purpose in this doctoral research. On one hand, it allow us to assess whether clast-like cells are absent during the medaka's pectoral transformation just as in zebrafish. On the other hand, CTSK is capable of degrading many ECM components, such as elastin, gelatin and collagen, at neutral pH (Bromme et al., 1996; Kafienah et al., 1998) and this proteinase is expressed in many types of tissues. Combining these factors makes this proteinase a suitable candidate to be expressed by the dedifferentiated chondrocytes in the pectoral subdivision zones, accomplishing matrix decomposition in these regions in a macrophage- or chondroclast-independent manner.

Material and Methods

The transgenic *ctsk* reporter line, used in this analysis, was previously described in To et al. (2012). All embryos provided were raised in E3 medium (Brand et al., 2002) at a standard temperature of 28.5°C. After hatching, at 6 days post-fertilization (dpf), the larvae were transferred to aerated tap water at 26°C. At this point, juveniles were fed with dry food (ZM 000) (ZMsystems) three times a day. At 14 dpf, larger-grained dry food was given (ZM 100) (ZMsystems), while at 30 dpf regular fish food flakes were used for the remainder of the rearing time.

From 14 dpf onwards, ten randomly picked juveniles were selected every two days. These fish were anaesthetized with 0.01% ethyl 3aminobenzoate methanesulfonate salt (MS222, Sigma-Aldrich), their notochordal length (NL) (Cubbage and Mabee, 1996) was measured and the mEGFP signal was observed in live animals using a stereomicroscope (SZX12, Olympus) fitted with a fluorescent lamp (U-RFL-T, Olympus). At 21 dpf, larvae of specific NL, i.e. 4 (n=5), 5 (n=5) and 6.5 mm (n=5), were selected for detailed live imaging with the confocal laser-scanning microscope (D-eclipse-C1, Nikon). Prior to imaging larvae were anaesthetized with 0.1% MS222. After imaging, larvae were euthanized with 0.5% MS222, fixed in 4% buffered paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 24 hours at 4°C, stained with alcian blue/alizarin red according to Walker and Kimmel (2007), and visualized according to the procedure outlined in Dewit et al. (2011). The remainder of the transgenic fish was raised to adulthood in order to form a brood stock.

In order to confirm that the observed mEGFP signal represented true *ctsk* expression, *in situ* hybridizations were performed on 4 (n=4), 5 (n=3) and 6.5 mm (n=3) fish, according to the protocol described in (To et al., 2012). The specimens were first observed under a stereomicroscope (MZ APO, Leica), followed by embedding of the specimens in epon for serial sectioning, according to the procedure outlined in Verstraeten et al. (*in press*). All sections were mounted in Depex and examined using the microscope (AXIO Imager Z1, Zeiss) equipped with DIC and fitted with an Axiocam camera.

Results

At 4 mm NL, prior to the pectoral fin transformation and prior to the formation of the dorsal and anal fin, ossified regions, such as (1) the haemal and neural arches, (2) the tooth-bearing mandibular and seventh branchial arches and (3) the cleithrum, are distinctly positive for mEGFP (Figure 1 A). In addition to this osteoclast-related mEGFP signal (marked by + in figure 1), the region of the developing hypurals in the caudal fin is equally positive (Figure 1 A). However, the hypurals of the caudal fin do not show any sign of bone formation at this point (data not shown).

At approximately 5 mm NL (between 17 and 21 dpf), positive signals are visible in the pectoral fins, more specifically in the dorsal region of the distal rim mesenchyme (DRM) and in the proximo-dorsal region of the fin fold mesenchyme (FFM) (Figure 1 B). This first appearance of mEGFP signal in the pectoral fins coincides with the earliest steps in the formation of both distal radials in the DRM and lepidotrichia in the FFM, respectively. The earliest step in lepidotrichia formation is the local disappearance of collagenous fin rays or actinotrichia, which is easily observable under a stereomicroscope. Concomitant with the appearance of mEGFP in the pectoral fins, the median fin fold and underlying mesenchyme of the median septum become mEGFPpositive, just caudally to the anal opening (Figure 1 B). This mEGFP signal coincides both in timing and location with the formation of the cartilaginous fin radials and the bony fin rays of the developing anal fin.

Figure 1

Lateral view of *ctsk*:mEGFP expression in (A) 4 mm, (B) 5 mm and (C) 6.5 mm NL larvae and (+) indicates regions of known osteoclast-related *ctsk*:mEGFP expression. (D - G) Alcian blue/alizarin red skeletal staining of the specimen depicted in (C), with in (D) the pectoral fin, in (E) the anal fin, in (F) the dorsal fin, and in (G) the caudal fin. (H) Confocal stack of the boxed region in the pectoral fin of (B). (I) Confocal stack of the boxed region in the pectoral fin of (C). (J) Confocal stack of the anal fin of (C). (K) Higher magnification of the box in (J). The white arrowheads and asterisks in (H-K) indicate giant mEGFP-positive cells that are either very elongated or rounded, respectively.

Abbreviations: AF: anal fin, CF; caudal fin, DF: dorsal fin, DRM: distal rim mesenchyme, FD: fin disk cartilage, FFM: fin fold mesenchyme, PF: pectoral fin. Scale bars in (A-C)= 1mm, in (D-G)= 500μ m, in (H-K)= 50μ m

At 6.5 mm NL (between 24 and 28 dpf), the mEGFP signal in the pectoral and anal fins has clearly expanded in accordance with the formation of new fin radials and lepidotrichia (Figure 1 C). In the pectoral fin, the entire DRM and fin fold have become mEGFP-positive. At this point, the majority of the distal radials and lepidotrichia are forming and the subdivision of the





pectoral cartilage is clearly visible on alcian blue/alizarin red stained specimens (Figure 1 D). However, no mEGFP-positive cells could be detected in the subdivision zones of the proximal pectoral cartilage (Figure 1 C). In the anal fin (Figure 1 E), the mEGFP signal has spread caudally, corresponding to the rostro-caudal addition of new radials to the anal fin (Figure 1C). At this time the dorsal fin starts to develop (Figure 1 F) and, similar to the earliest anlage of the anal fin in 5 mm larvae, this dorsal fin also forms in mEGFP-positive tissue (Figure 1 C). Note that all cartilaginous fin radials, with the exception of the hypurals, remain free of perichondral bone at this point and even the lepidotrichia of the pectoral and anal fin only show the earliest signs of ossification (Figure 1 D-G).

Detailed analysis through laser scanning confocal microscopy of these fin-associated regions revealed that the mEGFP-signal in all the fins originated from similar tissues. In the pectoral fins, the distal radials develop at the distal border of the fin disk cartilage, which is occupied by mesenchymal tissue, called the DRM. This mesenchymal tissue continues into the fin fold where it is called FFM. Similar pre-skeletal mesenchyme can be found in the median septum and median fin fold where caudal, anal and dorsal fins develop. While cartilaginous radials form in the mesenchymal tissue of the median septum, the lepidotrichia develop in the fin fold. In the dorsal and anal fins, distal radials develop in between the internal cartilaginous radials and the external lepidotrichia. In the caudal fin, no distal radials are formed and the lepidotrichia articulate directly with the hypurals. The DRM and FFM of the pectoral fin and the pre-skeletal mesenchyme of the median fins clearly exhibit mEGFP-signal, just prior to the appearance of cartilaginous radials and lepidotrichia. However, once differentiated cartilage tissue appears, the mEGFP-signal is lost. Only the interradial tissue and especially the perichondrium remain mEGFP-positive (Figure 1 H-K). In the FFM of all observed fins, an extensive mEGFP-signal is found when actinotrichia are still present. Once lepidotrichia form and mature, the FFM in between lepidotrichia shows a reduced mEGFP signal, while the mEGFP

signal of the mesenchymal tissue between the two half rays of a single lepidotrichium retains a stronger signal.

However, inside the generally positive fin mesenchyme additional large and isolated cells can clearly be distinguished. Unlike the mesenchymal tissue, which show only mEGFP signal at their cell periphery, these giant cells appear completely filled with mEGFP (white arrowheads and asterisks in Figure 1 H-K). In earlier stages of fin development, these giant mEGFPpositive cells are found in more proximal regions, i.e. the DRM and the median septum mesenchyme for the pectoral and median fins respectively (Figure 1 H-K). In more advanced stages of fin development, these giant cells can no longer be found in the proximal regions where cartilaginous radials form. Instead, they appear to have spread more distally into the fin fold associated with the developing lepidotrichia. This trend was identified in all fins observed and is clearly shown in Figure 1 J., which represents the same anal fin as shown in Figure 1 E. In the anterior and developmentally more advanced region of the anal fin giant mEGFP-labeled cells can only be found distally in the fin fold, while in less advanced more caudal regions a high concentration of these large cells is found in the proximal part of the septum and fin fold mesenchyme. If Figure 1 J is compared to the skeletal staining in Figure 1 E it becomes clear that these giant mEGFP-labeled cells appear concomitant with the earliest signs of lepidotrichia formation, spreading more distally as lepidotrichia mature and grow outward. In addition, it is important to note that two kinds of these giant mEGFP cells can be distinguished. First, very long and slender cells that extend in parallel to the forming lepidotrichia can be identified just next to the lepidotrichia (white arrowheads in Figure 1 H and K). Second, more rounded cells, often with extensive filopodia can be seen, mostly in between lepidotrichia, although some are clearly associated with the bony fin rays (white asterisks in Figure 1 I and K).

In order to confirm that the observed mEGFP signal represents true *ctsk* expression, whole mount *in situ* hybridization for *ctsk* in 4, 5 and 6.5 mm wild type medaka were performed by Dr. T.T. To from the laboratory of Dr. Winkler. Observations on whole mounts showed that all specimens exhibited

osteoclast-related *ctsk* expression in the haemal and neural arches and toothbearing regions, although this signal was harder to identify or absent in larger specimens of 5 and 6.5 mm (Figure 2 A-C). In 4 mm larvae, fin-related *ctsk* expression could only be identified in the caudal fin, while the pectoral and anal fins showed *ctsk* expression only in 5 mm larvae and the dorsal fin only in the 6.5mm larvae (Figure 2 A-C, pectoral fin not shown). However, more detailed observations of the *ctsk* expression in the developing fins revealed that the *in situ* hybridization signal is clearly less abundant than the mEGFP signal of the transgenic reporter line and even completely absent in the regions where the cartilaginous fin radials are forming.

Ctsk expression was therefore studied in more detail by embedding and sectioning these specimens. In 4 mm specimens, *ctsk* expression was found in the haemal and neural arches, tooth-bearing regions and the FFM of the caudal fin. No *ctsk* expression was found surrounding the developing hypurals (data not shown). In 5 mm larvae, *ctsk* expression could be detected in the FFM of both the anal and the pectoral fin (Figure 2 D-G). However, expression associated with the developing cartilaginous radials, i.e. the distal radials in pectoral fins and both the distal and the proximal radials of the anal fin, could not be detected (Figure 2 D-G). In the pectoral fins, the most proximal *ctsk* expression was found in the FFM surrounding the developing

Figure 2

Lateral view of whole mount *ctsk in situ* hybridization in (A) 4 mm, (B) 5 mm and (C) 6.5 mm NL larvae and (+) indicates regions of known osteoclast-related *ctsk* expression. Grey arrowheads in (B) and (C) mark the anal fin, while the black arrowhead in (D) marks the dorsal fin. Insert in (C) shows ventral view of the anal fin in (C). (D-G) DIC micrograph of 5 mm NL larvae, with in (D-E) the anal fin and in (F-G) the pectoral fin. Insert in (D) shows the neural and haemal arches found in section (D). White and black arrowheads in (F) indicate strong *ctsk* expression in a single large cell, and diffuse *ctsk* expression in multiple mesenchymal cells, respectively. (H-P) DIC micrograph of 6.5 mm NL larvae, with in (H-L) the anal fin and in (M-P) the pectoral fin. (J) Was counterstained with toluidine blue. Insert in (L) shows the haemal arch found in section (L).

Abbreviations: CSZ: cartilage subdivision zone, DRM: distal rim mesenchyme, FFM: fin fold mesenchyme, FD; fin disk cartilage, LP: lepidotrichium, R: anal fin radial.

Scale bars in (A-C) = 1mm, in (D-P) = 50 μ M

lepidotrichia, while the DRM was negative. In the anal fin, the most proximal *ctsk* signal was found just underneath the epidermis in the border region between median septum and fin fold mesenchyme. The fin fold of the anal fin did not show expression in every section (Figure 2 D-E), while the pectoral fin fold was found to be overall positive for *ctsk* expression (Figure 2 F-G).



In the 6.5 mm larvae, only the anterior portions of the anal fins were preserved intact, while more caudal regions showed severe rupturing and deformation of the tissue (Figure 2 H-L). Similar damage was found in the dorsal fins (not shown). In the most anterior and best-preserved region of the anal fin (Figure 2 H), ctsk signal was found only in a subset of the sections and always located in the FFM. In all sections, *ctsk* expression was absent in the tissues surrounding the cartilaginous radials. Just as in 5 mm larvae, the most proximal *ctsk* expression was found in superficial mesenchyme at the body-to-fin fold border. In more caudal sections, the anal fin was severely ruptured, compromising our interpretation of the exact location of the ctsk expression. In many sections the cathepsin signal appeared to be located in FFM, which was split in two halves along its median plane, creating an artificial double ridge of *ctsk*-expressing mesenchyme (Figure 2 I). However, some sections in the most caudal regions of the anal fin show less severely distorted tissue presenting *ctsk* expression in two separate ventral ridges, one on each side of the median plane, apparently lined with an intact epidermis (Figure 2 J-K). The exact extent of the damage was, however, difficult to asses even if sections were counterstained with toluidine blue (Figure 2 J). The, currently unidentified, double ridge of *ctsk*-expressing tissue can also be seen in the insert of figure 2 C. In the pectoral fins of the 6.5 mm larvae, the cartilage subdivision zones of the pectoral fin disk cartilage are clearly visible, but do not show any signs of *ctsk* expression (Figure 2 N). The more proximal and dorsal regions of the FFM, which showed *ctsk* expression in 5 mm larvae, did not retain *ctsk* expression (Figure 2 O). More ventrally (Figure 2 O) and distally (Figure 2 P), the pectoral FFM did, however, retain its *ctsk* expression. The *ctsk* expression in all examined fins consisted of diffusely positive mesenchymal cells, as well as some isolated large and strongly positive cells (arrowheads Figure 2 F). Finally, it should be noted that the osteoclast-related ctsk signal of the haemal and neural arches was either absent or poorly visible in most of the 6.5 mm larvae, while this signal served as a positive control in virtually all sections of the 4 and 5 mm larvae (compare inserts in Figure 2 D and Figure 2 L).

Discussion

Detailed observation of the mEGFP from the *ctsk* reporter line showed that *ctsk* is expressed in all developing fins. More specifically, fin mesenchyme showed expression of *ctsk* just prior to and during the formation of both cartilaginous and dermal fin radials. However, these observations could only partially be confirmed by whole mount *in situ* hybridizations for *ctsk* on representative stages of medaka development.

The most obvious reason for these inconsistencies would be an incomplete detection of *ctsk* by the *in situ* hybridization. Evidence for this hypothesis can be seen in the incomplete staining of osteoclasts in the haemal and neural arches of larger specimens, while these cells were adequately stained in the smaller specimens. All specimens were treated for 1 h in 20ug/ml proteinase K. This digestive treatment allows for probe penetration, but may have been insufficient to reach the internal tissues of the larger specimens. However, a further increase in digestive treatment would not be advisable, since many external tissues already sustained considerable damage. In particular, the bad condition of the thin external fin folds resulted in the loss of precious data. If this *in situ* analysis is repeated in the future, it would be advisable to use paraffin or cryo-sections for the analysis, which would allow tissues to remain intact, while both internal and external tissues are equally exposed to the probe. Such analysis could, in addition, reveal whether the bilaterally paired ridges of *ctsk*-positive tissue in 6.5 mm larvae represent true morphological structures or an artifact caused by tissue rupturing and deformation during the staining protocol.

These technical difficulties considered, the differences between the data obtained by *in situ* hybridization and the transgenic reporter line remain substantial. The most striking difference can be found prior to and during the formation of the cartilaginous fin radials. The reporter line clearly shows mEGFP signal in the fin mesenchyme prior to the formation of cartilaginous radials, which disappears inside the differentiating cartilages, but remain in the perichondral and interradial regions. None of this cartilage-associated

mesenchyme shows expression by *in situ* hybridization, despite positive staining in the nearby FFM. The lack of staining associated with the cartilaginous radials is therefore not likely to be caused by insufficient probe penetration, although further analysis is required to rule out this possibility.

Another difference between transgenic line and *in situ* signals can be found in the FFM. The transgenic line shows that the entire FFM becomes mEGFP positive just prior to lepidotrichia development. This signal coincides with the disappearance of collagenous fin rays or actinotrichia and was confirmed by *in situ* hybridization, at least for the pectoral FFM. Due to the bad conditions of most fin folds in the *in situ* hybridizations, this observation could not be confirmed for the median fins. However, once lepidotrichia have formed, the transgenic line shows a strong reduction of mEGFP signal between the lepidotrichia, while the mEGFP signal remains relatively strong in the mesenchyme between two lepidotrichium half rays. In contrast, in hybridized specimens, the FFM completely loses its *ctsk* expression once lepidotrichia are well established. In fact, the only mesenchymal tissue that sometimes retains expression is located between the lepidotrichia.

These inconsistencies between the transgenic reporter line and the *in situ* hybridizations may have been caused by a number of reasons. While *in situ* hybridization detects *ctsk* messenger RNA (mRNA), the reporter line shows the translated protein product of the construct mRNA, whose transcription is controlled by the *ctsk* promoter. If mRNA levels are low, they could be missed by *in situ* hybridization. However, similarly low concentrations of construct mRNA, could still result in detectable amounts of mEGFP if translation occurs fast or over an extensive period of time. This could make the transgenic line more sensitive to low levels of *ctsk* expression.

Alternatively, the mEGFP produced by translation of the construct mRNA could have a significantly longer lifetime than the mRNA strands of both the construct and the endogenous *ctsk* gene. Since EGFP is stable in physiological conditions, the lifetime of the mEGFP signal depends on how fast cells will target the membrane-bound EGFP for degradation. Therefore mEGFP can potentially be present in cells that no longer express *ctsk*. This

could explain why the entire proximal region of the pectoral FFM remained mEGFP-positive in 6.5mm larvae, while only the ventral region, which develops last, showed *ctsk* expression with *in situ* hybridization. In addition, this scenario could explain the presence of mEGFP in FFM with well-established lepidotrichia, which appears negative in the *in situ* analysis.

A final reason for the discrepancies between observations made in the transgenic versus the hybridized specimens is the occurrence of ectopic construct expression. The location of the transgenic insertion in the genome occurs randomly. When a specific region of the genome is highly expressed during some developmental process, an inserted construct in that particular region can show expression by ectopic activation of its promoter sequence. In this case, the detected mEGFP signal does not represent true *ctsk* expression. Further analysis will be required to verify whether either of the processes, described above, are responsible for the observed discrepancies. Ectopic *mEGF* expression, caused by transcript insertion, has been reported in the zebrafish caudal fin (Hadzhiev et al., 2007).

There are, however, good indications that the mEGFP signal we observed truly corresponds to *ctsk* expression, despite the inability of our *in situ* analysis to confirm many of these observations. Published images of another medaka *ctsk* reporter line show EGFP signals in both the anal and dorsal fin identical to the ones described in this report (Chatani et al., 2011). It is rather unlikely that the same transcript insertion causes similar artifacts in two independent lines. In addition, these authors show a *ctsk* whole mount *in situ* with clear *ctsk* expression surrounding the cartilaginous radials of the anal fin. This specimen likely received more extensive digestive treatment than our specimens, judging by the extensive damage to the specimen. This suggests that technical imperfections in our *in situ* analysis are the most likely cause for the discrepancies we observed. While future research certainly requires a more elaborate *in situ* analysis, other techniques could also aid in solving the discrepancies between the reporter line and the ISH results, such as a gPCR.

Some of our observations, however, did appear consistent in both the transgenic line and the *in situ* hybridization analysis. The transgenic line

139

revealed giant cells that were first found once actinotrichia started to disappear in the most proximal region of the fin fold. These cells were found more distally in the FFM when lepidotrichia had developed further. Detailed observations on the cell morphology of these cells suggested that two distinct types could be distinguished: one appeared strongly elongated and situated alongside the lepidotrichia, while the other appeared rounded with extensive filopodia situated both between and next to the lepidotrichia. Both types of giant cells appeared completely filled with mEGFP, which suggests high transcription rates of the construct in these cells. In the *in situ* hybridizations, similar intensely stained regions could be identified in the FFM indicating large amounts of *ctsk* mRNA (white versus black arrowhead in Figure 2 F). However, the bad overall condition of the fin folds in the *in situ* hybridizations made detailed observation on these cells unreliable making it hard to confirm with certainty that these regions correspond to the giant cells observed in the transgenic line.

At this point, we can only speculate on the identity of these cells, although it is highly unlikely that they are osteoclasts, since their first appearance clearly precedes bone formation and acid phosphatase activity assays fail to reveal these cells, which would be expected if these cells were osteoclasts (own observations; (Chatani et al., 2011; To et al., 2012). It seems likely that these *ctsk*-positive cells contribute to the resorption of the actinotrichia and may even contribute to the development of new nerves and blood vessels, which form concomitantly with each lepidotrichium (Carmeliet and Tessier-Lavigne, 2005; Thorsen and Hale, 2007).

Another consistent observation in this analysis was the complete absence of *ctsk* during the subdivision of the pectoral fin disk cartilage. This confirms previous observation in zebrafish showing that chondro/osteoclast cells are not involved in the subdivision process (Dewit et al., 2011). Furthermore, this data shows that, although CSTK is capable of degrading cartilaginous ECM components at neutral pH, it is not involved in the decomposition of the cartilage extracellular matrix during the remodeling of the pectoral endoskeleton.

140

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to express their gratitude to Mrs. Mieke Soenens and Mr. Dennis Vlaeminck for their invaluable technical assistance. Jasper Dewit received funding from the Institute for the Promotion of Innovation through Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT-Vlaanderen).

4. General discussion

In this doctoral thesis, I used zebrafish and medaka to investigate some of the cellular mechanisms that underlie the skeletal transformations in teleost pectoral fins. This is one of the most unusual skeletal transformations known in vertebrate species, which includes the loss of cartilage tissue in four regions of a previously continuous cartilaginous element. In this discussion, I will first address the unique aspects of teleost pectoral fin development. Second, I will elaborate on the mechanisms that drive the loss of cartilage tissue during the transformation of the pectoral endoskeleton and I will compare these findings with other known mechanisms of cartilage remodeling.

4.1. The biphasic nature of teleost pectoral fin development

In all teleosts, the pectoral fins have two distinct phases in their development, each characterized by a completely different skeletal morphology. Most teleost embryos hatch at an early stage of development. In many of these teleost hatchlings the dependence on the yolk sac quickly gives way to active feeding. At that point, their endoskeleton is limited to some cranial and splanchnocranial cartilages and the supportive elements of their premature pectoral fins (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Kimmel et al., 2001). These early pectoral fins are supported by a single cartilage element that consists of both the scapulocoracoid of the girdle and an external disk-shaped cartilage. The fin disk cartilage separates a ventral and a dorsal muscle group, whose fibers run from the girdle to the actinotrichia of the epithelial fin fold. In zebrafish, this early skeleton forms as early as 5 days post-fertilization (dpf) and remains mostly unaltered for approximately two more weeks (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998).

At approximately 20 dpf, when the zebrafish young reach a standard length of 5 mm, other elements of the skeleton, such as the vertebral column and the median fins, start to form (Bird and Mabee, 2003). This is followed by the formation of scales and the pelvic fins, which complete this second period of skeletal development roughly 10 days later, when the larvae's standard length reaches approximately 10 mm (Sire et al., 1997; Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). Simultaneously with the formation of the adult skeleton, the premature pectoral fins transform to their adult morphology. Lepidotrichia form in the fin fold and the fin disk cartilage subdivides in order to form four individual proximal radials. Interestingly, all these skeletal changes appear to be regulated by thyroid hormone (Brown, 1997; Shkil et al. unpublished data). In truly metamorphic teleosts, mostly flatfish, the characteristic eye migration equally coincides with the formation of vertebral bodies, median fins and the transformation of the larval pectoral cartilage. Furthermore, all these changes in the flatfish skeleton have been shown to be thyroid hormone-dependent
(Schreiber, 2006). Together, these data suggest that, even in the nonmetamorphic zebrafish, this second period of skeletal development could be seen as a period of larval-to-juvenile transition (Liu and Chan, 2002).

The biphasic development of the teleost pectoral fins possibly evolved in the wake of a genome duplication event that occurred in the actinopterygian lineage between 226-316 MYA and is common to teleost species only (Hoegg et al., 2004; Hurley et al., 2007). This genome duplication event is responsible for the occurrence of many paired paralog genes in teleosts that are only represented by a single ortholog in other gnathostomes.

Of relevance to the cartilaginous skeleton, one example of such duplicated genes is the transcription factor Sox9 (Chiang et al., 2001b; Cresko et al., 2003; Koopman et al., 2004). This transcription factor promotes crestlike behaviors in neural plate cells (Cheung and Briscoe, 2003) and helps to determine crest-derived chondrogenic lineages (Spokony et al., 2002; Yan et al., 2002; Mori-Akiyama et al., 2003). In addition, Sox9 is an upstream factor in the morphogenesis and differentiation of cartilage and bone (Bi et al., 1999; Bi et al., 2001; Yan et al., 2002). The zebrafish ortholog genes Sox9a and b are expressed in separate sub-portions of the total ancestral Sox9 expression domain. The diversification of paralog functions is clearly seen in Sox9associated cartilage differentiation. At 5 dpf, Sox9a is expressed in the splanchnocranial condensations and in the pectoral girdle, but only to a minimal extent in the fin disk cartilage, while Sox9b is exclusively expressed in the fin disk condensation. Consistently with these differences in expression, loss of gene function by morpholino injection or mutation reveals that the pectoral fin disk is the only differentiated cartilage that remains when the Sox9a function is impaired, while the fin disk cartilage is the most severely affected element in larvae with impaired Sox9b function (Yan et al., 2005).

These observations offer some insight into the unique developmental regulation of the teleost fin disk cartilage, compared to other cartilaginous elements of the teleost endoskeleton, but also compared to the pectoral endoskeleton in other gnathostome taxa. The contribution of the endoskeleton to the adult pectoral fins is in no other gnathostome taxon as small as in teleosts. It is well established that the precursors for the pectoral endoskeleton are formed by proliferation of undifferentiated limb bud mesenchyme. The relatively early differentiation of these precursors into the fin disk cartilage inevitably coincided with a relatively early stop in fin bud outgrowth, which resulted in the relatively small contribution of the endoskeleton to the adult pectoral fins of teleosts. The exact cause of the endoskeletal reduction in teleosts is currently unknown, but is highly likely that both the teleost genome duplication and heterochronic shifts in gene expression, similar to the one described in Sakamoto et al. (2009), could have facilitated this evolutionary trend. In any case the reduction of the endoskeleton would never have compromised the functionality of teleost pectoral fins, since the lepidotrichia-supported fin fold has been the main locomotory actor in neopterygian species long before teleost developed their early-phase, we could say larval-phase, pectoral morphology.

Furthermore, there are good indications that the establishment of a larval-phase pectoral fin has resulted in the evolution of some completely new locomotory strategies in more derived teleost species. The larval pectoral fins of teleosts possess a rather specific orientation with respect to the major body axis. The anterior edge of the fin points dorsally and the ventral and dorsal muscle groups respectively face towards the rostral and caudal ends of the

larvae. During the formation of the adult pectoral fins in zebrafish, cartilage subdivisions and allometric growth of the body change the positioning of the pectoral fins to a more position, with the ventral previously dorsal edge of the fin now facing rostrally (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998) (See Figure 1). The latter adult position of the pectoral fins is



also found in basal actinopterygians and chondrichthyans and allows for considerable maneuverability and optimum performance in breaking, but only limited forward propulsion (Drucker and Lauder, 2003).

However, many derived taxa of teleosts, such as perciforms, appear to have retained the positioning of the larval pectoral fins. Lepidotrichia and cartilage subdivision zones form normally, but the overall outline and position of the former fin disk cartilage remains practically unaltered (Thorsen and Westneat, 2005; Schreiber, 2006) (personal observations). Interestingly, many of these taxa have developed locomotory strategies that depend heavily on strong and frequent undulations of the pectoral fins, which give them unique maneuverability and even an energy-efficient method of slow-speed forward propulsion, called labriform locomotion (Westneat, 1996; Thorsen and Westneat, 2005; Jones et al., 2007). I propose that the position and articulation of the larval pectoral endoskeleton had some preadaptive value, which enabled the majority of advanced teleost taxa to develop these new locomotory strategies.

Additional indications for the unique nature of the teleost pectoral fins, comes from the evidence we collected on the composition of the pectoral fin disk cartilage. We examined the distribution of fibronectin during zebrafish chondrogenesis and found that this glycoprotein is strongly present in the fin disk cartilage prior to its subdivision (Dewit et al., 2010). In tetrapods, different splice-isoforms of fibronectin perform different roles during chondrogenesis. Fibronectin is essential for the establishment of chondrogenic condensations (Kulyk et al., 1989; Gehris et al., 1996; Gehris et al., 1997). Once these condensations differentiate into cartilaginous elements, fibronectin is down-

Figure 1

Schematic representation of the position and orientation of the pectoral fin, prior to (A) and after (B) the second stage in pectoral development. The endoskeleton and dermal bones are shown in light and dark grey, respectively. regulated and only expressed in a cartilage-specific isoform, whose function is still poorly understood (Zanetti et al., 1990; White et al., 1996). We found that, unlike in tetrapods, zebrafish cartilage condensations of the splanchnocranium, pectoral and median fins formed without detectable amounts of fibronectin in the ECM, although we did find a short period immediately after initial differentiation in which fibronectin could be detected in all the cartilages we observed. In the fin disk cartilage, however, fibronectin could be detected very clearly and over an extended period of time (Dewit et al., 2010).

At this point, I can only speculate on the role of fibronectin in zebrafish cartilage. Histological analysis nevertheless suggests that the presence of fibronectin coincides with an early phase in zebrafish chondrogenesis marked by the presence of stacked chondrocytes. In many teleost species, cartilage condensations form by intercalating precursor cells, which organize themselves in rows or plates of just one cell wide (Huysseune and Sire, 1992; Kimmel et al., 1998). These stacked precursors are characterized by cell-tocell contacts and N-cadherin expression prior to their differentiation into chondrocytes (Liu et al., 2003). At that point, they gradually lose cell-to-cell contacts and start the production of cartilage ECM (Huysseune and Sire, 1992). I hypothesize that this mode of chondrogenesis does not require a temporary condensation-specific ECM as in tetrapods, whose chondrogenic condensations are many cells wide in cross section. The stacked organization of chondrocytes remains visible for some time after elements have differentiated, but is eventually lost by interstitial and appositional growth (Kimmel et al., 1998). We found that fibronectin could transiently be detected in various newly differentiated zebrafish cartilages prior to the disruption of the stacked chondrocyte organization. In the fin disk cartilage, however, both the stacked chondrocyte organization and fibronectin are retained significantly longer than in other cartilaginous elements, which suggests that this element is retained in an early differentiation phase until the fin endoskeleton is remodeled into its adult morphology (Dewit et al., 2010).

In the introduction of this thesis, I summarized our current understanding of endoskeletal pattern formation in the pectoral appendages. In tetrapods, the endoskeletal pattern is formed during the cartilage condensation stage prior to the appearance of differentiated cartilage. Despite our considerable understanding of the many processes that are involved in cartilage development, no morphogens are currently known to be directly accountable for the specific endoskeletal pattern in tetrapod limbs. In stead, reaction-diffusion based computer models suggest that the skeletal patterns in tetrapod limbs could arise from relatively simple molecular feedback loops if these involve an activator that directly or in-directly stimulates the production of a faster spreading inhibitor. Interestingly, many of such activating and inhibitory molecules are known to operate during chondrogenesis, but until this day it remains unclear how their regulation is linked during the different stages of chondrogenesis. If such information were to be discovered, it would undoubtedly improve our understanding of endoskeletal pattern formation in tetrapod limbs. However, such information could equally provide a potential explanation for the significant difference between pattern formation in tetrapod limbs and actinopterygian fins. In actinopterygians and more specifically in polypterids, *Lepidosteus* species and teleosts, the adult pattern of the pectoral endoskeleton forms very differently, i.e. by the subdivision of an apparently differentiated cartilaginous disk. In stead of attempting to uncover the developmental regulation behind this unusual method of endoskeletal pattern formation, this doctoral research focused on the mechanisms that are responsible for the skeletal reorganization that makes this method of pattern formation possible, i.e. the mechanism of cartilage loss inside the subdivision zones.

4.2. The mechanism of fin disk cartilage subdivision

In the present work, we have evaluated all known ways in which cartilaginous tissue can be degraded. According to the literature, the disappearance of chondrocytes and their elaborate ECM can only be accomplished by a limited number of cellular mechanisms. Specialized resorption cells, such as macrophages (Blumer et al., 2008) or chondrocytes (Vu et al., 1998), can resorb cartilaginous tissue. The resident chondrocytes can undergo programmed cell death, apoptosis, and be resorbed secondarily by the surrounding tissue or the previously mentioned specialized resorption cells (Bronckers et al., 2000). Finally, chondrocytes could stop the production of new ECM components and resorb their previously secreted ECM (Yocum et al., 1995; Holmbeck et al., 2003).

I found that no apoptosis or resorption by either macrophages or chondroclasts could be identified in the cartilage subdivision zones of the zebrafish pectoral endoskeleton (Dewit et al., 2011). In addition, I confirmed that chondroclasts and macrophages were equally absent during fin disk subdivision in medaka (Chapter 4). I did find, however, that major ECM components, such as proteoglycans, collagen type II and fibronectin, disappear relatively early in the subdivision process (Dewit et al., 2010), at a point when the resident chondrocytes are still recognizable. The ultrastructure of this early-phase cartilage subdivision zones shows mesenchymal-like cells completely enclosed by amorphous ECM. In adjacent regions of persistent cartilage, on the other hand, the resident cells show the typical ultrastructure of chondrocytes and the ECM shows the distinctive fibrillar ultrastructure, as expected from cartilaginous matrix. These observations indicate that the chondrocytes in the cartilage subdivision zone dedifferentiate, suggesting that they are themselves responsible for the loss of cartilage matrix in these regions (Dewit et al., 2011).

Ultrastructural analysis further showed that the degrading ECM subsequently fragments and that the now mesenchymal cells (former chondrocytes), re-establish cell-cell contacts amongst each other and with perichondral mesenchyme. Once the former cartilaginous ECM has

disappeared completely, it becomes impossible to distinguish the former chondrocytes from the perichondral tissue (Dewit et al., 2011). Although the absence of apoptosis suggests that the former chondrocytes survive the cartilage-to-interradial transition, further investigation is required in order to assess to which extent former chondrocytes actually contribute to the connective tissue of the interradial regions, or even to the perichondral bone that forms around proximal radials.

If former chondrocytes do in fact contribute to differentiated interradial tissues, the dedifferentiation of the fin disk chondrocytes only represents the first phase of a transdifferentiation event, as defined by Thowfeequ et al. (2007), i.e. the transition of one differentiated cell-type into another in which both cell-phenotypes can be distinguished by molecular and biochemical markers. Testing this hypothesis requires long-term lineage mapping of the fin disk chondrocytes. This was attempted with the micro-injection of Dil cell-tracker, but the impractical location and small dimensions of the fin disk cartilage, together with the high mortality of successfully injected larvae, made this approach practically unfeasible. For future attempts, I propose that transgenic lines with, for example, a photo-convertible fluorescent construct could be used in combination with dual-photon microscope photo-conversion in order to trace the fin disk chondrocytes.

Many different vertebrate cell types, including chondrocytes, have shown the ability to transdifferentiate in vitro (Thowfeequ et al., 2007; Schlegel et al., 2009). As early as 1981, Beresford reviewed the literature in support of the concept that the phenotypes of connective tissues are not terminal and that phenotypic plasticity can play an important role in various developmental and homeostatic processes. Despite numerous recent studies showing different of types phenotype transitions in connective tissue. transdifferentiation remains a controversial subject, mainly because few studies have provided the detailed fate-mapping needed in order to follow cells during their phenotypic transformation (Witten and Hall, 2002; Witten and Hall, 2003; Li et al., 2004; Blumer et al., 2005; de la Fuente and Helms, 2005; Kim et al., 2005; Gillis et al., 2006; Choi et al., 2010). Such crucial information

has currently been provided for the contribution of differentiated cells in tissue regeneration and repair in several vertebrate species (Tanaka, 2003; Knopf et al., 2011; Tanaka and Reddien, 2011). Evidence for the plasticity of the cartilage phenotype specifically can be found in the existence of intermediate tissue types, such as chondroid bone and fibrocartilage (Hall and Witten, 2007). Furthermore, various studies have reported that cells entrapped in chondrocyte lacunae could show molecular and cellular characteristics of the osteoblastic or fibroblastic phenotype, which suggests that the resident chondrocytes have switched to another phenotype (Roach et al., 1995; Harada and Ishizeki, 1998; Holmbeck et al., 2003; Hammond and Schulte-Merker, 2009).

While the observed dedifferentiation of chondrocytes in the zebrafish fin disk cartilage could explain the arrest of cartilaginous matrix production in the cartilage subdivision zones, it remained unclear how these dedifferentiating cells could resorb their ECM. Therefore, I evaluated the presence of a subset of proteinases, which are capable of degrading cartilage ECM components at neutral pH. I found that the presence of MMP14 (synonym MT1-MMP) coincides in both timing and location with the reorganization of the fin disk cartilage in zebrafish. In addition, I found that inhibition of MMP14-mediated degradation did significantly retard fin disk cartilage subdivision. However, our data equally suggested that other currently unknown catabolic enzymes are also involved in fin disk cartilage subdivision (Chapter 3).

Holmbeck et al. (2003) described the occurrence of MMP14-dependent cartilage remodeling of three separate regions of uncalcified cartilage in the mouse endoskeleton; (1) the posterior region of the Meckelian cartilage, which transforms into the sphenomandibular ligament, (2) the calvarial cartilage of the skull, and (3) the groove of Ranvier, which is the superficial region of uncalcified cartilage bordering the proliferative and hypertrophic chondrocytes of the long bone metaphysis. Interestingly, the findings of these authors and our observations bear strong resemblance. In mouse, the absence of MMP14-mediated degradation results in remnant 'ghost cartilage' in regions where

cartilage tissue would normally have disappeared (Holmbeck et al., 2003). This 'ghost cartilage' is remnant cartilaginous matrix devoid of proteoglycans and containing empty chondrocyte lacunae, suggesting that even without MMP14 activity these cartilages still degrade to some extent. In zebrafish, impaired MMP14-function results in the retardation of fin disk cartilage subdivision, but not in the complete stop of cartilage loss. Both studies suggest that even without MMP14-function the loss of the chondrocyte phenotype and even some ECM degradation still proceed in these specific cartilaginous regions.

Different from our observations in zebrafish, murine MMP14 remodeling involves chondrocyte apoptosis. Yet, in the mouse, some chondrocytes appear to escape cell death by switching their cell phenotype, as suggested by the presence of osteocalcin expressing cells in some lacunae of the 'ghost cartilage' (Holmbeck et al., 2003). It is, however, important to note that in most cases the proportion cell-to-matrix is much smaller in tetrapods than in zebrafish cartilage. Thicker ECM walls could make it impossible for dedifferentiated mouse chondrocytes to re-establish cell-cell contacts, which is required for both fibroblast and osteoblast survival, and thus illicit apoptosis. Ultrastructural observations that would support such an interpretation are only available for the posterior portion of the murine Meckelian cartilage, which is an embryonic cartilage with relatively thin ECM walls. Here, fibroblastic cells occupying former chondrocyte lacunae are described, many of which show cell-cell contacts and no signs of apoptosis (Harada and Ishizeki, 1998). This, together with our data, suggests that the re-establishment of cell-to-cell contacts may be required for the dedifferentiated chondrocytes to escape apoptosis during MMP14-associated remodeling.

Although the molecular signals that induce the loss of uncalcified cartilage in specific regions of the zebrafish pectoral fins and in several sites of the murine endoskeleton are currently unknown, many aspects of MMP14-associated cartilage loss in zebrafish and mouse are highly similar. Therefore, I propose that chondrocyte dedifferentiation, whether or not followed by

apoptosis, and MMP14-mediated ECM degradation could represent a conserved pathway of cartilage catabolism common to all Osteichthyes. In order to test this hypothesis, the presence of MMP14 should be examined during cartilage loss in more basal actinopterygian and tetrapod species. Polypterids could represent valuable test subjects in this regard because of their basal phylogenetic position, but also because of the development of their pectoral endoskeleton. All basal actinopterygians form a multitude of proximal radials out of a continuous disk-shaped condensation (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). However, in polypterids this condensational disk also develops into a cartilaginous disk before subdivision begins (Budgett, 1902). This implies that ECM is secreted before the interradials lose their skeletogenic nature, suggesting that ECM degradation is required for polypterid pectoral development just as in teleosts. However, amphibian species could also present the opportunity to test our hypothesis on the conserved nature of MMP14-associated remodeling of uncalcified cartilages. It was recently described that during amphibian metamorphosis some cartilages of the splanchnocranium are drastically reduced in size (Rose, 2009). However, the developmental mechanism behind this loss of uncalcified cartilage was not identified.

It will, however, be equally important to discover more up-stream factors, responsible for inducing the loss of the chondrocyte phenotype and regulating MMP14-mediated ECM degradation. Wnt14 could represent a possible candidate for such an up-stream factor, since it inhibits chondrogenesis during joint formation and is known to reverse the chondrocytes' phenotype *in vitro*. Another possible factor may be thyroid hormone, which is known to regulate many skeletal changes in teleost larvae, including the pectoral cartilage subdivision (Shkil et al. unpublished data; Schreiber, 2006). In frog metamorphosis, thyroid hormone signaling has been linked directly to MMP14 expression (Shi and Ishizuya-Oka, 2001; Fu et al., 2007). Also in mouse, indications exist for the involvement of thyroid hormone in MMP14 regulation (Holmbeck et al., 2003). Some phenotypic traits of MMP14–deficient mice (Holmbeck et al., 1999) resemble both cretinism and

hypothyroidism symptoms in humans (McLean and Podell, 1995) and traits of thyroid hormone receptor knockout models (Göthe et al., 1999).

In conclusion, this research revealed that the zebrafish fin disk cartilage is maintained in an early differentiation stage, characterized by stacked chondrocyte organization and fibronectin-rich ECM, until it is subdivided into the four proximal radials. This subdivision of the pectoral fin disk cartilage is accomplished by dedifferentiation of the resident chondrocytes and MMP14-mediated ECM degradation. Although the pectoral endo-skeleton transformation is specific to the teleost lineage, literature shows that various uncalcified cartilages in mouse disappear in a highly similar fashion. Therefore, I hypothesize that the remodeling of uncalcified cartilages may be accomplished by a conserved method of cartilage degradation, which involves chondrocyte dedifferentiation and MMP14mediated ECM degradation. However, in order to consolidate this hypothesis, it will be essential to, first, identify the molecular signals that regulate the destruction of both mouse and zebrafish uncalcified cartilages and, second, discover similar events of cartilage degradation in other osteichthyan species.

5. Summary

English version

Teleost fish are the only gnathostomes that undergo a major architectural transformation in the skeleton of their pectoral appendages during their lifetime. Most teleosts resort to active feeding relatively early in their development. In this phase, their skeleton is limited to some cranial cartilages and the supportive cartilage of their premature, but functional pectoral fins (Kimmel et al., 1995; Schilling and Kimmel, 1997; Thorsen et al., 2004). These early pectoral fins are supported by a single cartilaginous element that comprises both the girdle, internal to the body wall, and a diskshaped cartilage, called the fin disk cartilage, external to the body wall (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). The fin endoskeleton separates a dorsal and a ventral muscle group. These muscles span from the pectoral girdle to the collagenous fin rays or actinotrichia, which support the most distal portion of the fin, the epithelial fin fold.

Only when the remainder of the adult skeleton begins to form, will this early pectoral fin undergo one of the most unusual skeletal transformations known in vertebrate skeletogenesis (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Bird and Mabee, 2003; Dewit et al., 2011). This second phase in pectoral development includes the formation of bony fin rays in the epithelial fin fold, *de novo* formation of distal cartilaginous radials at the base of each lepidotrichium and the complete transformation of the early pectoral endoskeleton. The previously continuous pectoral cartilage looses cartilage tissue in several well-defined regions, thereby separating the fin disk cartilage

from the girdle and subdividing the former into four rod-like proximal radials (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Dewit et al., 2011).

In this doctoral thesis, I investigated which cellular mechanisms underlie the loss of cartilage tissue during the development of the pectoral fin endoskeleton in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), a teleost species commonly used in developmental research.

First, I examined the composition of the extracellular matrix (ECM) during pectoral cartilage subdivision. The presence of certain ECM components, such as collagen type I and II, tenascin, elastin and fibronectin can reliably distinguish different types of connective tissues, as well as different developmental stages in cartilage development (Hall, 2005). Using immunohistochemical staining, I tested two hypotheses. First, that differences in ECM composition between presumptive interradial tissue and radial cartilages foreshadow the process of subdivision in the fin disk. Second, that the fin disk cartilage is not composed of mature cartilaginous tissue prior to subdivision. For the latter I compared the ECM composition with cartilages of the splanchnocranium and the median fins. Due to the limited availability of suitable antibodies for collagen type I and tenascin, I focused on collagen type II, elastin and fibronectin. Elastin was found to be absent from all the zebrafish cartilages tested, both cranial and post-cranial, but collagen type II and fibronectin could be detected.

The distribution of collagen type II was consistent with its expected distribution as a major structural component of cartilage tissue. This protein appears concomitant with sulphated proteoglycans once the cranial and postcranial zebrafish cartilages differentiate. Likewise, during fin disk cartilage subdivision, this protein is lost simultaneously with the loss of proteoglycans. The distribution of fibronectin, however, showed remarkable differences with observations made on tetrapod cartilage. In tetrapods, fibronectin is strongly present in the condensation stage of cartilage development. This is the earliest step in chondrogenesis, in which mesenchymal precursor cells cluster together to form a cell condensation, which subsequently differentiates into a cartilaginous element when the secretion of cartilage ECM begins. In differentiated tetrapod cartilage, fibronectin is still present, but to a lesser extent and in a differently spliced isoform. In the cranial and post-cranial cartilage of zebrafish, however, fibronectin could not be detected in the condensation stage, although it could transiently be detected shortly after differentiation. Interestingly, the fin disk cartilage showed considerably stronger fibronectin signal over an extended period of time, reaching a maximum just prior to the onset of cartilage subdivision. These findings suggest that the fin disk cartilage may be maintained in an early differentiation stage prior to its subdivision.

Second, I evaluated different ways in which cartilage tissue can be removed. According to the literature, the disappearance of chondrocytes and their elaborate ECM can only be accomplished by a limited number of cellular mechanisms. Specialized resorption cells, such as macrophages (Blumer et al., 2008) or chondroclasts (Vu et al., 1998), can resorb cartilaginous tissue. The resident chondrocytes can undergo programmed cell death, apoptosis, and be resorbed secondarily by the surrounding tissue or the previously mentioned specialized resorption cells (Bronckers et al., 2000). Finally, chondrocytes could arrest the production of new ECM components and resorb their previously secreted ECM (Yocum et al., 1995; Holmbeck et al., 2003).

Morphological observations and staining for (tartrate-resistant) acid phosphatase, could not reveal any resorption by either macrophages or chondroclasts in the cartilage subdivision zones of the zebrafish pectoral fin endoskeleton (Dewit et al., 2011). Using vital staining with acridin orange, I found no evidence for apoptosis either. Instead, ultrastructural analysis provided strong evidence for chondrocyte dedifferentiation. Cells entrapped in the partially degraded ECM of the subdivision zones showed no ultrastructural characteristics of chondrocytes, but rather resembled mesenchymal cells. When the degrading ECM subsequently fragmented, these former chondrocytes re-established cell-to-cell contacts amongst each other and with perichondral mesenchyme. Combined with the absence of apoptosis, these ultrastructural observations suggest that the former fin disk chondrocytes dedifferentiate and contribute to the interradial tissue that develops in the wake of the cartilage subdivision zones. However, detailed lineage tracing of these dedifferentiating chondrocytes will be required to test this hypothesis.

Having discovered that cartilage subdivisions in the pectoral fin endoskeleton are likely accomplished by chondrocyte dedifferentiation, the focus of this doctoral research shifted to the identification of proteinases that could enable dedifferentiating chondrocytes to degrade their ECM. Thus, I used immunohistochemical staining to study the presence and distribution of several matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), known to be essential in both normal and pathological cartilage loss in tetrapod models (Imai et al., 1997; Holmbeck et al., 1999; Ishiguro et al., 2002; Murphy et al., 2002; Holmbeck et al., 2003; Kuroki et al., 2005; Malemud, 2006). From all the MMPs studied, i.e. MMP2, 9, 13, 14a and 14 β , only MMP14a coincided in both timing and location to fin disk cartilage subdivision. In addition, disruption of MMP14amediated degradation using both broad and narrow spectrum pharmacological inhibitors resulted in a significant retardation in the progression of the cartilage subdivision zones. However, cartilage subdivision was not stopped by MMP14a inhibition, indicating that chondrocyte dedifferentiation still proceeds even without MMP14a function. Interestingly, very similar observations have been made on three cartilages of the mouse endoskeleton that undergo resorption, i.e. (1) the calvarial cartilages of the cranium, (2) the posterior section of the Meckelian cartilage, and (3) the groove of Ranvier, which is situated alongside the metaphysis of long bones. All these cartilages are resorbed in an MMP14-dependent manner. In the absence of functional MMP14 degradation, the resorption of these cartilages is delayed, but the phenotype of the resident chondrocytes is lost nevertheless (Holmbeck et al., 1999; Holmbeck et al., 2003).

Finally, collaboration with the laboratory of Dr. Winkler (Singapore University) allowed us to study the involvement of another proteinase, cathepsin K, during the cartilage subdivision in the medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). Like the zebrafish, the medaka is a teleost species commonly used as a model in developmental research. By means of a transgenic reporter line and in situ hybridized specimens provided by our collaborators, I assessed

whether or not cathepsin K is expressed by the dedifferentiating chondrocytes of the subdivision zones. Moreover, the well-known expression of this proteinase in chondroclasts (Chatani et al., 2011; To et al., 2012) also offered the opportunity to confirm the lack of chondroclast involvement in pectoral fin cartilage subdivision. I found no cathepsin K-expression associated with pectoral cartilage subdivision. Instead, I observed cathepsin K expression associated with lepidotrichia development in the paired and the median fins, which was never previously described.

I conclude with a general discussion, emphasizing that the fin disk cartilage is the only element of the zebrafish endoskeleton that is maintained in an early-differentiated stage prior to subdivision. I further elaborate on the mechanism behind the loss of cartilage tissue during this subdivision process, which involves chondrocyte dedifferentiation and MMP14α-mediated ECM degradation and may represent a conserved mechanism of cartilage degradation amongst Osteichthyes.

Nederlandstalige versie

Teleostachtige vissen zijn de enige Gnathstomata die tijdens hun levensduur een grootschalige architecturale transformatie van het pectoraal skelet ondergaan. De meeste teleostsoorten beginnen zeer vroeg in hun ontwikkeling met actief foerageren. In deze vroege levensfase is het skelet beperkt tot enkele craniale kraakbeenelementen en het ondersteunend kraakbeen van de premature maar functionele pectorale vinnen (Kimmel et al., 1995; Schilling and Kimmel, 1997; Thorsen et al., 2004). Deze vroege pectorale vinnen worden ondersteund door één continu kraakbeenelement dat zowel de inwendig gesitueerde schoudergordel als een uitwendige schijfvormige structuur, ook wel het vinschijfkraakbeen genoemd, omvat (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998). Het kraakbenig skelet of endoskelet van de vin vormt de scheiding tussen een ventrale en een dorsale spiergroep. Deze spieren reiken van de schoudergordel tot aan de collageneuze vinstralen, oftewel actinotrichia, die het meest distale gedeelte van de vin ondersteunen, nl. de epitheliale vinplooi.

Pas wanneer de rest van het adulte skelet zich begint te ontwikkelen, ondergaat deze vroege pectorale vin een voor vertebraten erg uitzonderlijke skeletale verandering (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Bird and Mabee, 2003; Dewit et al., 2011). Deze tweede fase in de pectorale ontwikkeling omvat de ontwikkeling van benige vinstralen, die lepidotrichia worden genoemd, in de epitheliale vinplooi, de vorming van distale kraakbeenradialia aan de basis van elk lepidotrichium en de volledige transformatie van het vroege pectorale endoskelet. Het voorheen ononderbroken pectoraal kraakbeen verliest kraakbeenweefsel in verschillende duidelijk afgelijnde zones, waardoor het vinschijfkraakbeen van de schoudergordel loskomt en onderverdeeld wordt in vier staafvormige proximale radialia (Grandel and Schulte-Merker, 1998; Dewit et al., 2011).

In deze doctoraatsthesis onderzocht ik welke cellulaire mechanismen aan de basis liggen van het verdwijnen van kraakbeenweefsel tijdens de ontwikkeling van het pectorale endoskelet in zebravissen (*Danio rerio*), een teleostsoort die veelvuldig gebruikt wordt in ontwikkelingsonderzoek.

Eerst en vooral heb ik de samenstelling van de extracellulaire matrix (ECM) onderzocht tijdens de opdeling van het pectorale kraakbeen. De aanwezigheid van bepaalde ECM-componenten, zoals collageen type I en II, tenascine, elastine en fibronectine, kan namelijk op een betrouwbare manier worden gebruikt om verschillende bindweefseltypes te onderscheiden. Bovendien kan hiermee een onderscheid gemaakt worden tussen verschillende stadia in de kraakbeenontwikkeling (Hall, 2005).

lk heb enkele hypotheses met getest behulp van immunohistochemische kleuringen. Ten eerste wilde Ik erachter komen of er voor het proces van kraakbeenopdeling al verschillen bestaan in de ECMsamenstelling van het interradiaal weefsel en de kraakbenige radialia. Ten tweede ging ik na of het vinschijfkraakbeen wel degelijk uit matuur kraakbeenweefsel bestaat voordat het wordt opgedeeld. Voor deze laatste hypothese heb ik de ECM-samenstelling van het vinschijfkraakbeen vergeleken met de kraakbenige elementen van het splanchnocranium en de mediane vinnen. Ons onderzoek spitste zich voornamelijk toe op collageen type II, elastine en fibronectine, omdat voor collageen type I en tenascine geen geschikte antilichamen beschikbaar waren. Elastine werd in geen enkel van de craniale en post-craniale kraakbeenderen teruggevonden, maar collageen type II en fibronectine konden wel aangekleurd worden.

De verdeling van collageen type II in the ECM voldeed aan de verwachtingen voor de belangrijkste structurele component van kraakbeenmatrix. Dit eiwit verschijnt gelijktijdig met de opkomst van gesulfateerde proteoglycanen, wanneer de craniale en post-craniale kraakbeenderen van de zebravis differentiëren. Tijdens het opdelen van het pectorale kraakbeen verdwijnt dit proteïne eveneens gelijktijdig met het verlies van gesulfateerde proteoglycanen uit de ECM. De verdeling van fibronectine vertoont daarentegen belangrijke verschillen met de bevindingen bij de kraakbeenontwikkeling van Tetrapoda. Bij Tetrapoda is fibronectine sterk aanwezig in de condensatiefase van de kraakbeenontwikkeling. Dit is de eerste stap in de chondrogenese, waarbij mesenchymale precursoren samenclusteren tot een celcondensatie. Deze condensatiecellen zullen dan

verder differentiëren tot kraakbeenweefsel en kraakbeenspecifieke ECM gaan produceren. In gedifferentieerde kraakbeenmatrix is fibronectine nog steeds aanwezig, maar wel in mindere mate en in een andere isovorm. In het craniale en post-craniaal kraakbeen van zebravis kan fibronectine slechts tijdelijk kort nadat de kraakbeenelementen opgespoord worden, differentieerden. Het was dan ook erg opmerkelijk dat fibronectine veel sterker en over een beduidend langere periode aanwezig was in de matrix van het vinschijfkraakbeen net voor dit werd opgedeeld. Deze vaststelling doet vermoeden dat het vinschijfkraakbeen in een vroeg differentiatiestadium wordt gehouden tot het zich opdeelt.

Ten tweede onderzocht ik de verschillende manieren waarop kraakbeenweefsel kan verwijderd worden. Volgens de literatuur kunnen chondrocyten en hun uitgebreide ECM slechts verdwijnen door een beperkt aantal cellulaire mechanismen. Gespecialiseerde resorptiecellen zoals macrofagen (Blumer et al., 2008) en chondroclasten (Vu et al., 1998) kunnen kraakbeenweefsel resorberen. Residentiële chondrocyten kunnen apoptose ondergaan en secundair geresorbeerd worden door het omliggende weefsel of de hierboven genoemde resorptiecellen (Bronckers et al., 2000). Tot slot kunnen chondrocyten de- of trans-differentiëren en daarbij de secretie van nieuwe ECM stopzetten en hun oude ECM beginnen te resorberen (Yocum et al., 1995; Holmbeck et al., 2003).

Morfologische observaties en kleuring voor (tartraat-resistente) zure fosfatase konden niet aantonen dat de opdeling van het pectoraal kraakbeen wordt veroorzaakt door macrofagen of chondroclasten (Dewit et al., 2011). Ik vond eveneens geen bewijs voor apoptose bij een vitale kleuring met acridine oranje. Ultrastructurele observaties leverden daarentegen wel overtuigend bewijsmateriaal ten voordele van chondrocytdedifferentiatie. Cellen die nog steeds waren omsloten door restanten van kraakbenige matrix vertoonden geen ultrastructurele kenmerken van chondrocyten, maar leken meer op mesenchymale cellen. Deze voormalige chondrocytcellen maakten terug celcel contact met elkaar en met perichondrale cellen zodra de degraderende matrix fragmenteerde. De combinatie van deze bevindingen met de

afwezigheid van apoptose doet vermoeden dat de voormalige chondrocyten dedifferentiëren en vervolgens bijdragen tot de weefsels van de interradialia die zich in het kielzog van het opbrekend kraakbeen ontwikkelen. Om deze hypothese te bevestigen, zal de bestemming van de vinschijfchondrocyten in detail moeten worden gevolgd.

Nadat ik ontdekt had dat kraakbeenopdeling in de pectorale vin naar alle waarschijnlijkheid het gevolg is van chondrocytdedifferentiatie, richtte ik ons onderzoek op een ander aspect. Ik ging op zoek naar proteïnases waarmee chondrocyten hun eigen ECM kunnen resorberen. Hierbij gebruikte ik immunohistochemische kleuringen om de aanwezigheid en distributie van verschillende matrix metalloproteïnases (MMP) te onderzoeken. Deze MMP's zijn essentieel voor het degraderen van kraakbeen in Tetrapoda, zowel in normale als in pathologische omstandigheden (Imai et al., 1997; Holmbeck et al., 1999; Ishiguro et al., 2002; Murphy et al., 2002; Holmbeck et al., 2003; Kuroki et al., 2005; Malemud, 2006). Van alle MMP's die ik onderzocht, nl. MMP2, 9, 13, 14 α en 14 β , kon alleen MMP14 α in tijdstip en locatie in verband gebracht worden met de opdeling van het vinschijfkraakbeen. Bovendien zorgde het onderdrukken van de functie van MMP14a door zowel farmacologische inhibitoren met een breed spectrum als door meer specifieke inhibitoren voor een aanzienlijke vertraging van het opdelingsproces. De kraakbeenopdeling werd echter niet stopgezet door de inhibitie van MMP14a, wat erop wijst dat chondrocytdedifferentiatie blijft doorgaan zonder de functie van MMP14a. Er werden eerder erg gelijkaardige vaststellingen gedaan op drie kraakbeenderen van het endoskelet bij muizen die resorptie ondergaan: (1) het kraakbeen in de calvaria van het cranium, (2) het achterste deel van het kraakbeen van Meckel en de (3) insnoeringen van Ranvier, die zich langs de metafyse van lange beenderen bevinden. Al deze kraakbeenderen worden geresorbeerd onder invloed van MMP14. Wanneer geen functionele MMP14degredatie optreedt, loopt de resorptie van deze kraakbeenderen vertraging op, maar gaat het fenotype van de residentiële chondrocyten toch verloren (Holmbeck et al., 1999; Holmbeck et al., 2003).

Tot slot gaf een samenwerking met het laboratorium van Dr. Winkler (Singapore University) ons de kans om de rol van een ander proteïnase, cathepsine K, bij de kraakbeenopdeling in de Japanse rijstvis (*Oryzias latipes*) te bestuderen. De Japanse rijstvis is, net als de zebravis, een teleostsoort die vaak als model wordt gebruikt in ontwikkelingsonderzoek. Met behulp van een transgene reporterlijn en in situ gehybridiseerde specimens die ik via deze samenwerking ontvingen, was ik in staat om na te gaan of cathepsine K al dan niet tot expressie komt in de dedifferentiërende chondrocyten van de opdelingszones. Bovendien gaf de gekende expressie van dit proteïnase in chondroclasten (Chatani et al., 2011; To et al., 2012) ons ook de mogelijkheid om te controleren of chondroclasten effectief geen rol speelden in de opdeling van kraakbeen in de pectorale vinnen. Ik vond geen expressie van cathepsine K bij de opdeling van kraakbeen in de pectorale vinnen. Ik stelde echter wel expressie van cathepsine K vast bij de ontwikkeling van lepidotrichia in de gepaarde en mediane vinnen. Dit fenomeen was nog niet eerder beschreven.

Ik besluit met een algemene bespreking van de resultaten. Hierbij wordt de nadruk gelegd op het feit dat vinschijfkraakbeen het enige onderdeel van het endoskelet van zebravissen is dat behouden blijft in een vroeg gedifferentieerd stadium vóór de opdeling. Ik gaan verder in op het mechanisme dat kraakbeenverlies veroorzaakt tijdens dit opdelingsproces. Ik stel vast dat hierbij zowel chondrocytdedifferentiatie als de functie van MMP14α een rol spelen en dat dit heel waarschijnlijk een geconserveerd mechanisme voor kraakbeendegradatie is bij Osteichthyes.

6. References

- Abramoff, M. D., Magalhaes, P. J. and Ram, S. J. (2004) 'Image Processing with ImageJ', *Biophotonics International* 11(7): 36-42.
- Abzhanov, A., Rodda, S. J., McMahon, A. P. and Tabin, C. J. (2007) 'Regulation of skeletogenic differentiation in cranial dermal bone', *Development* 134(17): 3133-3144.
- Agarwal, P., Wylie, J. N., Galceran, J., Arkhitko, O., Li, C., Deng, C., Grosschedl, R. and Bruneau, B. G. (2003) 'Tbx5 is essential for forelimb bud initiation following patterning of the limb field in the mouse embryo', *Development* 130(3): 623-633.
- Ahn, D. and Ho, R. K. (2008) 'Tri-phasic expression of posterior Hox genes during development of pectoral fins in zebrafish: implications for the evolution of vertebrate paired appendages', *Dev Biol* 322(1): 220-233.
- Ahn, S. and Joyner, A. L. (2004) 'Dynamic changes in the response of cells to positive hedgehog signaling during mouse limb patterning', *Cell* 118(4): 505-516.
- Akiyama, H., Chaboissier, M. C., Martin, J. F., Schedl, A. and de Crombrugghe, B. (2002) 'The transcription factor Sox9 has essential roles in successive steps of the chondrocyte differentiation pathway and is required for expression of Sox5 and Sox6', *Genes Dev* 16(21): 2813-2828.
- Amalinei, C., Caruntu, I. D., Giusca, S. E. and Balan, R. A. (2010) 'Matrix metalloproteinases involvement in pathologic conditions', *Rom J Morphol Embryol* 51(2): 215-228.
- Andrade, R. P., Palmeirim, I. and Bajanca, F. (2007) 'Molecular clocks underlying vertebrate embryo segmentation: A 10-year-old hairy-goround', *Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today* 81(2): 65-83.
- Angele, P., Schumann, D., Angele, M., Kinner, B., Englert, C., Hente, R., Fuchtmeier, B., Nerlich, M., Neumann, C. and Kujat, R. (2004) 'Cyclic, mechanical compression enhances chondrogenesis of mesenchymal progenitor cells in tissue engineering scaffolds', *Biorheology* 41(3-4): 335-346.
- Avaron, F., Hoffman, L., Guay, D. and Akimenko, M. A. (2006) 'Characterization of two new zebrafish members of the hedgehog family: atypical expression of a zebrafish indian hedgehog gene in skeletal elements of both endochondral and dermal origins', *Dev Dynam* 235(2): 478-489.

- Badi, M. H. (1972) 'Calcification and ossification of fibrocartilage in the attachment of the patellar ligament in the rat', *J Anat* 112(Pt 3): 415-421.
- Bai, S., Thummel, R., Godwin, A. R., Nagase, H., Itoh, Y., Li, L., Evans, R., McDermott, J., Seiki, M. and Sarras, M. P., Jr. (2005) 'Matrix metalloproteinase expression and function during fin regeneration in zebrafish: analysis of MT1-MMP, MMP2 and TIMP2', *Matrix Biol* 24(4): 247-260.
- Baker, C. (2005) Neural Crest and Cranial Ectodermal Placodes. in M. S. Rao and M. Jacobson (eds.) *Developmental Neurobiology*. New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publishers.
- Bartsch, P., Gemballa, S. and Piotrowski, T. (1997) 'The Embryonic and Larval Development of Polypterus senegalus Cuvier, 1829: its Staging with Reference to External and Skeletal Features, Behaviour and Locomotory Habits', *Acta Zoologica* 78(4): 309-328.
- Bast, T. H. (1944) 'Perichondrial ossification and the fate of the perichondrium with special reference to that of the otic capsule', *Anat Rec* 90(2): 139-148.
- Bauer, H., Meier, A., Hild, M., Stachel, S., Economides, A., Hazelett, D., Harland, R. M. and Hammerschmidt, M. (1998) 'Follistatin and noggin are excluded from the zebrafish organizer', *Dev Biol* 204(2): 488-507.
- Behonick, D. J., Xing, Z. Q., Lieu, S., Buckley, J. M., Lotz, J. C., Marcucio, R. S., Werb, Z., Miclau, T. and Colnot, C. (2007) 'Role of Matrix Metalloproteinase 13 in Both Endochondral and Intramembranous Ossification during Skeletal Regeneration', *PLoS One* 2(11).
- Bell, K. M., Western, P. S. and Sinclair, A. H. (2000) 'SOX8 expression during chick embryogenesis', *Mech Develop* 94(1-2): 257-260.
- Benjamin, M., Rufai, A. and Ralphs, J. R. (2000) 'The mechanism of formation of bony spurs (enthesophytes) in the achilles tendon', *Arthritis Rheum* 43(3): 576-583.
- Beresford, W. A. (1981) *Chondroid bone, secondary cartilage, and metaplasia*, Baltimore, Munich: Urban and Schwarzenberg.
- Beresford, W. A. (1990) 'Direct transdifferentiation: can cells change their phenotype without dividing?', *Cell Differ* 29: 81-93.
- Bershadsky, A. D., Balaban, N. Q. and Geiger, B. (2003) 'Adhesiondependent cell mechanosensitivity', *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 19: 677-695.
- Bert, W., Van Gansbeke, R., Claeys, M., Geraert, E. and Borgonie, G. (2003) 'Comparative morpho-anatomical studies of the female gonoduct within the Pratylenchidae (Nematoda: Tylenchina)', *Nematology* 5(2): 293-306.
- Bi, W., Deng, J. M., Zhang, Z., Behringer, R. R. and de Crombrugghe, B. (1999) 'Sox9 is required for cartilage formation', *Nat Genet* 22(1): 85-89.
- Bi, W., Huang, W., Whitworth, D. J., Deng, J. M., Zhang, Z., Behringer, R. R. and de Crombrugghe, B. (2001) 'Haploinsufficiency of Sox9 results in defective cartilage primordia and premature skeletal mineralization', *P Natl Acad Sci USA* 98(12): 6698-6703.

- Bian, L., Zhai, D. Y., Zhang, E. C., Mauck, R. L. and Burdick, J. A. (2012) 'Dynamic Compressive Loading Enhances Cartilage Matrix Synthesis and Distribution and Suppresses Hypertrophy in hMSC-Laden Hyaluronic Acid Hydrogels', *Tissue Eng Part A* 18(7-8): 715-724.
- Bianco, P., Cancedda, F. D., Riminucci, M. and Cancedda, R. (1998) 'Bone formation via cartilage models: the "borderline" chondrocyte', *Matrix Biol* 17(3): 185-192.
- Bird, N. C. and Mabee, P. M. (2003) 'Developmental morphology of the axial skeleton of the zebrafish, *Danio rerio* (Ostariophysi: Cyprinidae)', *Dev Dynam* 228(3): 337-357.
- Biswas, S., Emond, M. R. and Jontes, J. D. (2010) 'Protocadherin-19 and Ncadherin interact to control cell movements during anterior neurulation', *J Cell Biol* 191(5): 1029-1041.
- Blumer, M. J., Longato, S., Richter, E., Perez, M. T., Konakci, K. Z. and Fritsch, H. (2005) 'The role of cartilage canals in endochondral and perichondral bone formation: are there similarities between these two processes?', *J Anat* 206(4): 359-372.
- Blumer, M. J. F., Longato, S. and Fritsch, H. (2008) 'Localization of tartrateresistant acid phosphatase (TRAP), membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinases (MT1-MMP) and macrophages during early endochondral bone formation', *J Anat* 213(4): 431-441.
- Boudreau, N. J. and Jones, P. L. (1999) 'Extracellular matrix and integrin signalling: the shape of things to come', *Biochem J* 339 (Pt 3): 481-488.
- Boulet, A. M. and Capecchi, M. R. (2004) 'Multiple roles of Hoxa11 and Hoxd11 in the formation of the mammalian forelimb zeugopod', *Development* 131(2): 299-309.
- Bouvet, J. (1974) 'Différenciation et ultrastructure du squelette distal de la nagoire pectorale chez la truite indigène (*Salmo trutta fario L.*). II. Différenciation et ultrastructure des lepidotriches.', *Arch d'Anat Microsc* 63: 323-335.
- Boyde, A. and Jones, S. J. (1983) Scanning electron microscopy of cartilage. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Cartilage: Structure, Function, and Biochemistry*. New York: Academic Press.
- Boyle, W. J., Simonet, W. S. and Lacey, D. L. (2003) 'Osteoclast differentiation and activation', *Nature* 423(6937): 337-342.
- Brand, M., Granato, M. and Nusslein-Volhard, C. (2002) Keeping and raising zebrafish. in C. Nusslein-Volhard and R. Dahm (eds.) *Zebrafish: A practical approach*. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Brend, T. and Holley, S. A. (2009) 'Expression of the oscillating gene her1 is directly regulated by Hairy/Enhancer of Split, T-box, and Suppressor of Hairless proteins in the zebrafish segmentation clock', *Dev Dynam* 238(11): 2745-2759.
- Brinckerhoff, C. E. and Matrisian, L. M. (2002) 'Matrix metalloproteinases: a tail of a frog that became a prince', *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 3(3): 207-214.
- Bromme, D., Okamoto, K., Wang, B. B. and Biroc, S. (1996) 'Human cathepsin O-2, a matrix protein-degrading cysteine protease expressed in osteoclasts - Functional expression of human cathepsin O-2 in

Spodoptera frugiperda and characterization of the enzyme', J Biol Chem 271(4): 2126-2132.

- Bronckers, A. L., Goei, W., van Heerde, W. L., Dumont, E. A., Reutelingsperger, C. P. and van den Eijnde, S. M. (2000) 'Phagocytosis of dying chondrocytes by osteoclasts in the mouse growth plate as demonstrated by annexin-V labelling', *Cell Tissue Res* 301(2): 267-272.
- Brown, D. D. (1997) 'The role of thyroid hormone in zebrafish and axolotl development', *P Natl Acad Sci USA* 94(24): 13011-13016.
- Brunet, L. J., McMahon, J. A., McMahon, A. P. and Harland, R. M. (1998) 'Noggin, cartilage morphogenesis, and joint formation in the mammalian skeleton', *Science* 280(5368): 1455-1457.
- Budgett, J. S. (1902) 'On the structure of the larval Polypterus. ', *Trans. Zool. Soc.* (16): 315–346.
- Bühling, F., Reisenauer, A., Gerber, A., Krüger, S., Weber, E., Brömme, D., Roessner, A., Ansorge, S., Welte, T. and Röcken, C. (2001) 'Cathepsin K – a marker of macrophage differentiation?', *J Pathol* 195(3): 375-382.
- Carmeliet, P. and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (2005) 'Common mechanisms of nerve and blood vessel wiring', *Nature* 436(7048): 193-200.
- Carney, T. J., Feitosa, N. I. M., Sonntag, C., Slanchev, K., Kluger, J., Kiyozumi, D., Gebauer, J. M., Coffin Talbot, J., Kimmel, C. B., Sekiguchi, K. et al. (2010) 'Genetic Analysis of Fin Development in Zebrafish Identifies Furin and Hemicentin1 as Potential Novel Fraser Syndrome Disease Genes', *PLoS Genet* 6(4): e1000907.
- Casanova, J. C. and Sanz-Ezquerro, J. J. (2007) 'Digit morphogenesis: is the tip different?', *Dev Growth Differ* 49(6): 479-491.
- Cawston, T. E. and Wilson, A. J. (2006) 'Understanding the role of tissue degrading enzymes and their inhibitors in development and disease', *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol* 20(5): 983-1002.
- Chatani, M., Takano, Y. and Kudo, A. (2011) 'Osteoclasts in bone modeling, as revealed by *in vivo* imaging, are essential for organogenesis in fish', *Dev Biol* 360(1): 96-109.
- Chen, D., Zhao, M. and Mundy, G. R. (2004a) 'Bone morphogenetic proteins', *Growth Factors* 22(4): 233-241.
- Chen, F. H., Rousche, K. T. and Tuan, R. S. (2006) 'Technology Insight: adult stem cells in cartilage regeneration and tissue engineering', *Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol* 2(7): 373-382.
- Chen, Y., Knezevic, V., Ervin, V., Hutson, R., Ward, Y. and Mackem, S. (2004b) 'Direct interaction with Hoxd proteins reverses Gli3-repressor function to promote digit formation downstream of Shh', *Development* 131(10): 2339-2347.
- Cheung, M. and Briscoe, J. (2003) 'Neural crest development is regulated by the transcription factor Sox9', *Development* 130(23): 5681-5693.
- Chiang, C., Litingtung, Y., Harris, M. P., Simandl, B. K., Li, Y., Beachy, P. A. and Fallon, J. F. (2001a) 'Manifestation of the limb prepattern: Limb development in the absence of sonic hedgehog function', *Dev Biol* 236(2): 421-435.

- Chiang, E. F., Pai, C. I., Wyatt, M., Yan, Y. L., Postlethwait, J. and Chung, B. (2001b) 'Two sox9 genes on duplicated zebrafish chromosomes: expression of similar transcription activators in distinct sites', *Dev Biol* 231(1): 149-163.
- Chimal-Monroy, J. and Diaz de Leon, L. (1999) 'Expression of N-cadherin, N-CAM, fibronectin and tenascin is stimulated by TGF-beta1, beta2, beta3 and beta5 during the formation of precartilage condensations', *Int J Dev Biol* 43(1): 59-67.
- Chimal-Monroy, J., Rodriguez-Leon, J., Montero, J. A., Ganan, Y., Macias, D., Merino, R. and Hurle, J. M. (2003) 'Analysis of the molecular cascade responsible for mesodermal limb chondrogenesis: Sox genes and BMP signaling', *Dev Biol* 257(2): 292-301.
- Chiquet, M., Gelman, L., Lutz, R. and Maier, S. (2009) 'From mechanotransduction to extracellular matrix gene expression in fibroblasts', *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1793(5): 911-920.
- Choi, Y. H., Burdick, M. D. and Strieter, R. M. (2010) 'Human circulating fibrocytes have the capacity to differentiate osteoblasts and chondrocytes', *Int J Biochem Cell B* 42(5): 662-671.
- Chothia, C. and Jones, E. Y. (1997) 'The molecular structure of cell adhesion molecules', *Annu Rev Biochem* 66: 823-862.
- Chun, J. S., Oh, H., Yang, S. and Park, M. (2008) 'Wnt signaling in cartilage development and degeneration', *BMB Rep* 41(7): 485-494.
- Chung, U.-i., Lanske, B., Lee, K., Li, E. and Kronenberg, H. (1998) 'The parathyroid hormone/parathyroid hormone-related peptide receptor coordinates endochondral bone development by directly controlling chondrocyte differentiation', *P Natl Acad Sci USA* 95(22): 13030-13035.
- Chuong, C. M. (1990) 'Adhesion molecules (N-CAM and tenascin) in embryonic development and tissue regeneration', *J Craniofac Genet Dev Biol* 10(2): 147-161.
- Chuong, C. M., Widelitz, R. B., Jiang, T. X., Abbott, U. K., Lee, Y. S. and Chen, H. M. (1993) 'Roles of adhesion molecules NCAM and tenascin in limb skeletogenesis: analysis with antibody perturbation, exogenous gene expression, talpid mutants and activin stimulation', *Prog Clin Biol Res* 383B: 465-474.
- Clement, A., Wiweger, M., von der Hardt, S., Rusch, M. A., Selleck, S. B., Chien, C. B. and Roehl, H. H. (2008) 'Regulation of zebrafish skeletogenesis by ext2/dackel and papst1/pinscher', *PLoS Genet* 4(7): e1000136.
- Coates, M. I. and Ruta, M. (2007) Skeletal changes in the transition from fins to limbs. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Fins into Limbs: Evolution, Development, and Transformation.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Cohn, M. J., Lovejoy, C. O., Wolpert, L. and Coates, M. I. (2002) 'Branching, segmentation and the metapterygial axis: pattern versus process in the vertebrate limb', *Bioessays* 24(5): 460-465.
- Cole, L. K. and Ross, L. S. (2001) 'Apoptosis in the developing zebrafish embryo', *Dev Biol* 240(1): 123-142.

- Colnot, C. I. and Helms, J. A. (2001) 'A molecular analysis of matrix remodeling and angiogenesis during long bone development', *Mech Develop* 100(2): 245-250.
- Cresko, W. A., Yan, Y. L., Baltrus, D. A., Amores, A., Singer, A., Rodriguez-Mari, A. and Postlethwait, J. H. (2003) 'Genome duplication, subfunction partitioning, and lineage divergence: Sox9 in stickleback and zebrafish', *Dev Dynam* 228(3): 480-489.
- Crotwell, P. L., Clark, T. G. and Mabee, P. M. (2001) 'Gdf5 is expressed in the developing skeleton of median fins of late-stage zebrafish, *Danio rerio*', *Dev Genes Evol* 211(11): 555-558.
- Crotwell, P. L. and Mabee, P. M. (2007) 'Gene expression patterns underlying proximal-distal skeletal segmentation in late-stage zebrafish, *Danio rerio*', *Dev Dynam* 236(11): 3111-3128.
- Crump, J. G., Swartz, M. E. and Kimmel, C. B. (2004) 'An integrin-dependent role of pouch endoderm in hyoid cartilage development', *PLoS Biol* 2(9): E244.
- Cubbage, C. C. and Mabee, P. M. (1996) 'Development of the cranium and paired fins in the zebrafish *Danio rerio* (Ostariophysi, cyprinidae)', *J Morphol* 229(2): 121-160.
- Currey, J. D. (2003) 'The many adaptations of bone', *J Biomech* 36(10): 1487-1495.
- Dahn, R. D. and Fallon, J. F. (2000) 'Interdigital regulation of digit identity and homeotic transformation by modulated BMP signaling', *Science* 289(5478): 438-441.
- Davidson, R. K., Waters, J. G., Kevorkian, L., Darrah, C., Cooper, A., Donell, S. T. and Clark, I. M. (2006) 'Expression profiling of metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in synovium and cartilage', *Arthritis Res Ther* 8(4): R124.
- Davies, S. R., Sakano, S., Zhu, Y. and Sandell, L. J. (2002) 'Distribution of the transcription factors Sox9, AP-2, and [delta]EF1 in adult murine articular and meniscal cartilage and growth plate', *J Histochem Cytochem* 50(8): 1059-1065.
- Davis, A. P. and Capecchi, M. R. (1994) 'Axial homeosis and appendicular skeleton defects in mice with a targeted disruption of hoxd-11', *Development* 120(8): 2187-2198.
- Davis, M. C., Dahn, R. D. and Shubin, N. H. (2007) 'An autopodial-like pattern of Hox expression in the fins of a basal actinopterygian fish', *Nature* 447(7143): 473-476.
- Davis, M. C., Shubin, N. H. and Force, A. (2004) 'Pectoral fin and girdle development in the basal actinopterygians *Polyodon spathula* and *Acipenser transmontanus*', *J Morphol* 262(2): 608-628.
- Day, T. F., Guo, X., Garrett-Beal, L. and Yang, Y. (2005) 'Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in mesenchymal progenitors controls osteoblast and chondrocyte differentiation during vertebrate skeletogenesis', *Dev Cell* 8(5): 739-750.
- Day, T. F. and Yang, Y. (2008) 'Wnt and hedgehog signaling pathways in bone development', *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 90 Suppl 1: 19-24.

- De Beer, G. R. (1937) *The development of the vertebrate skull*, Chicago: Chicago University Press.
- de Crombrugghe, B., Lefebvre, V., Behringer, R. R., Bi, W., Murakami, S. and Huang, W. (2000) 'Transcriptional mechanisms of chondrocyte differentiation', *Matrix Biol* 19(5): 389-394.
- de la Fuente, L. and Helms, J. A. (2005) 'Head, shoulders, knees, and toes', *Dev Biol* 282(2): 294-306.
- DeLise, A. M., Fischer, L. and Tuan, R. S. (2000) 'Cellular interactions and signaling in cartilage development', *Osteoarthr Cartilage* 8(5): 309-334.
- DeMali, K. A., Wennerberg, K. and Burridge, K. (2003) 'Integrin signaling to the actin cytoskeleton', *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 15(5): 572-582.
- Derjugin, K. (1910) 'Der Bau und die Entwicklung des Schultertgürtels und der Brustflossen bei den Teleostiern', *Z Wiss Zool Abt A* 96: 572-653.
- Dessau, W., von der Mark, H., von der Mark, K. and Fischer, S. (1980) 'Changes in the patterns of collagens and fibronectin during limb-bud chondrogenesis', *J Embryol Exp Morphol* 57: 51-60.
- Dewit, J., Witten, P. E. and Huysseune, A. (2011) 'The mechanism of cartilage subdivision in the reorganization of the zebrafish pectoral fin endoskeleton', *J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol* 316(8): 584-597.
- Dewit, J., Witten, P. E., Willems, M. and Huysseune, A. (2010) 'The distribution of fibronectin in developing zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) cartilage', *J Appl Ichthyol* 26(2): 205-209.
- Doege, K. J., Sasaki, M., Kimura, T. and Yamada, Y. (1991) 'Complete coding sequence and deduced primary structure of the human cartilage large aggregating proteoglycan, aggrecan. Human-specific repeats, and additional alternatively spliced forms', *J Biol Chem* 266(2): 894-902.
- Donahue, H. J., Li, Z., Zhou, Z. and Yellowley, C. E. (2000) 'Differentiation of human fetal osteoblastic cells and gap junctional intercellular communication', *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 278(2): C315-322.
- Downie, S. A. and Newman, S. A. (1995) 'Different roles for fibronectin in the generation of fore and hind limb precartilage condensations', *Dev Biol* 172(2): 519-530.
- Drucker, E. G. and Lauder, G. V. (2003) 'Function of pectoral fins in rainbow trout: behavioral repertoire and hydrodynamic forces', *J Exp Zool* 206(5): 813-826.
- Ducy, P., Starbuck, M., Priemel, M., Shen, J., Pinero, G., Geoffroy, V., Amling, M. and Karsenty, G. (1999) 'A Cbfa1-dependent genetic pathway controls bone formation beyond embryonic development', *Genes Dev* 13(8): 1025-1036.
- Dudley, A. T., Ros, M. A. and Tabin, C. J. (2002) 'A re-examination of proximodistal patterning during vertebrate limb development', *Nature* 418(6897): 539-544.
- Duerr, S., Stremme, S., Soeder, S., Bau, B. and Aigner, T. (2004) 'MMP-2/gelatinase A is a gene product of human adult articular chondrocytes and is increased in osteoarthritic cartilage', *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 22(5): 603-608.
- Duprez, D., Bell, E. J., Richardson, M. K., Archer, C. W., Wolpert, L., Brickell, P. M. and Francis-West, P. H. (1996) 'Overexpression of BMP-2 and

BMP-4 alters the size and shape of developing skeletal elements in the chick limb', *Mech Dev* 57(2): 145-157.

- Eames, B. F., Sharpe, P. T. and Helms, J. A. (2004) 'Hierarchy revealed in the specification of three skeletal fates by Sox9 and Runx2', *Dev Biol* 274(1): 188-200.
- Eames, B. F., Yan, Y. L., Swartz, M. E., Levic, D. S., Knapik, E. W., Postlethwait, J. H. and Kimmel, C. B. (2011) 'Mutations in fam20b and xylt1 reveal that cartilage matrix controls timing of endochondral ossification by inhibiting chondrocyte maturation', *PLoS Genet* 7(8): e1002246.
- Eckes, B. and Krieg, T. (2004) 'Regulation of connective tissue homeostasis in the skin by mechanical forces', *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 22(3 Suppl 33): S73-76.
- Ede, D. (1983) Cellular condensations and chondrogenesis. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Cartilage: Development, Differentiation, and Growth*. New York: Academic Press.
- Eguchi, G. and Kodama, R. (1993) 'Transdifferentiation', *Curr Opin Cell Biol*(5): 1023–1028.
- Enomoto-Iwamoto, M., Iwamoto, M., Mukudai, Y., Kawakami, Y., Nohno, T., Higuchi, Y., Takemoto, S., Ohuchi, H., Noji, S. and Kurisu, K. (1998)
 'Bone morphogenetic protein signaling is required for maintenance of differentiated phenotype, control of proliferation, and hypertrophy in chondrocytes', *J Cell Biol* 140(2): 409-418.
- Evans, C. H., Gouze, J. N., Gouze, E., Robbins, P. D. and Ghivizzani, S. C. (2004) 'Osteoarthritis gene therapy', *Gene Ther* 11(4): 379-389.
- Evans, W. H. and Martin, P. E. (2002) 'Gap junctions: structure and function (Review)', *Mol Membr Biol* 19(2): 121-136.
- Fallon, J. F., Lopez, A., Ros, M. A., Savage, M. P., Olwin, B. B. and Simandl, B. K. (1994) 'FGF-2: apical ectodermal ridge growth signal for chick limb development', *Science* 264(5155): 104-107.
- Fischer, S., Draper, B. W. and Neumann, C. J. (2003) 'The zebrafish fgf24 mutant identifies an additional level of Fgf signaling involved in vertebrate forelimb initiation', *Development* 130(15): 3515-3524.
- Flanagan-Steet, H., Sias, C. and Steet, R. (2009) 'Altered chondrocyte differentiation and extracellular matrix homeostasis in a zebrafish model for mucolipidosis II', *Am J Pathol* 175(5): 2063-2075.
- Francis-West, P. H., Abdelfattah, A., Chen, P., Allen, C., Parish, J., Ladher, R., Allen, S., MacPherson, S., Luyten, F. P. and Archer, C. W. (1999) 'Mechanisms of GDF-5 action during skeletal development', *Development* 126(6): 1305-1315.
- Fu, L., Hasebe, T., Ishizuya-Oka, A. and Shi, Y. B. (2007) 'Roles of Matrix Metalloproteinases and ECM Remodeling during Thyroid Hormone-Dependent Intestinal Metamorphosis in Xenopus laevis', Organogenesis 3(1): 14-19.
- Galis, F., Kundrat, M. and Metz, J. A. (2005) 'Hox genes, digit identities and the theropod/bird transition', *J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol* 304(3): 198-205.

- Galis, F., Kundrat, M. and Sinervo, B. (2003) 'An old controversy solved: bird embryos have five fingers', *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 18(1): 7-9.
- Gatesy, S. M. and Middleton, K. M. (2007) Skeletal adaptations for flight. in B.K. Hall (ed.) *Fins into Limbs: Evolution, Development, and Transformation.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Gavaia, P. J., Simes, D. C., Ortiz-Delgado, J. B., Viegas, C. S., Pinto, J. P., Kelsh, R. N., Sarasquete, M. C. and Cancela, M. L. (2006) 'Osteocalcin and matrix Gla protein in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) and Senegal sole (*Solea senegalensis*): comparative gene and protein expression during larval development through adulthood', *Gene Expr Patterns* 6(6): 637-652.
- Gehris, A. L., Oberlender, S. A., Shepley, K. J., Tuan, R. S. and Bennett, V. D. (1996) 'Fibronectin mRNA alternative splicing is temporally and spatially regulated during chondrogenesis *in vivo* and *in vitro*', *Dev Dynam* 206(2): 219-230.
- Gehris, A. L., Stringa, E., Spina, J., Desmond, M. E., Tuan, R. S. and Bennett,
 V. D. (1997) 'The region encoded by the alternatively spliced exon IIIA in mesenchymal fibronectin appears essential for chondrogenesis at the level of cellular condensation', *Dev Biol* 190(2): 191-205.
- Geiger, B., Bershadsky, A., Pankov, R. and Yamada, K. M. (2001) 'Transmembrane crosstalk between the extracellular matrixcytoskeleton crosstalk', *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2(11): 793-805.
- George, E. L., Georges-Labouesse, E. N., Patel-King, R. S., Rayburn, H. and Hynes, R. O. (1993) 'Defects in mesoderm, neural tube and vascular development in mouse embryos lacking fibronectin', *Development* 119(4): 1079-1091.
- Gersbach, C. A., Byers, B. A., Pavlath, G. K. and Garcia, A. J. (2004) 'Runx2/Cbfa1 stimulates transdifferentiation of primary skeletal myoblasts into a mineralizing osteoblastic phenotype', *Exp Cell Res* 300(2): 406-417.
- Gillis, J. A., Witten, P. E. and Hall, B. K. (2006) 'Chondroid bone and secondary cartilage contribute to apical dentary growth in juvenile Atlantic salmon', *J Fish Biol* 68(4): 1133-1143.
- Goodrich, E. S. (1919) 'Pectoral girdle in young Clupeids', *J Linn Soc London Zool*(34).
- Goodrich, E. S. (1958) *Studies on the structure and development of vetebrates*, New York: Dover publications, inc.
- Gooyit, M., Lee, M., Schroeder, V. A., Ikejiri, M., Suckow, M. A., Mobashery, S. and Chang, M. (2011) 'Selective water-soluble gelatinase inhibitor prodrugs', *J Med Chem* 54(19): 6676-6690.
- Gordon, M. D. and Nusse, R. (2006) 'Wnt signaling: multiple pathways, multiple receptors, and multiple transcription factors', *J Biol Chem* 281(32): 22429-22433.
- Göthe, S., Wang, Z., Ng, L., Kindblom, J. M., Barros, A. C., Ohlsson, C., Vennström, B. and Forrest, D. (1999) 'Mice devoid of all known thyroid hormone receptors are viable but exhibit disorders of the pituitarythyroid axis, growth, and bone maturation', *Genes Dev* 13(10): 1329-1341.

- Graham, A. (1994) 'Developmental patterning. The Hox code out on a limb', *Curr Biol* 4(12): 1135-1137.
- Grandel, H. and Schulte-Merker, S. (1998) 'The development of the paired fins in the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*)', *Mech Dev* 79(1-2): 99-120.
- Grobelny, D., Poncz, L. and Galardy, R. E. (1992) 'Inhibition of human skin fibroblast collagenase, thermolysin, and Pseudomonas aeruginosa elastase by peptide hydroxamic acids', *Biochemistry* 31(31): 7152-7154.
- Haas, A. R. and Tuan, R. S. (1999) 'Chondrogenic differentiation of murine C3H10T1/2 multipotential mesenchymal cells: II. Stimulation by bone morphogenetic protein-2 requires modulation of N-cadherin expression and function', *Differentiation* 64(2): 77-89.
- Hadzhiev, Y., Lele, Z., Schindler, S., Wilson, S. W., Ahlberg, P., Straehle, U. and Mueller, F. (2007) 'Hedgehog signaling patterns the outgrowth of unpaired skeletal appendages in zebrafish', *BMC Dev Biol* 7.
- Haeckel, C., Krueger, S., Buehling, F., Broemme, D., Franke, K., Schuetze, A., Roese, I. and Roessner, A. (1999) 'Expression of cathepsin K in the human embryo and fetus', *Dev Dynam* 216(2): 89-95.
- Haines, R. W. (1934) 'Epiphyseal growth in the branchial skeleton of fishes', *Q J Microsc Sci*(77): 77-97.
- Haines, R. W. (1939) 'The structure of the epiphyses in *Sphenodon* and the primitive form of secondary centre', *J Anat* 74(1): 80-90.
- Haines, R. W. (1942) 'The evolution of the epiphysis and of endochondral bone', *Biological Reviews* 17(4): 267-292.
- Hall, B. K. (2005) *Bones and Cartilage: Developmental Skeletal Biology*, London: Elsevier.
- Hall, B. K. and Miyake, T. (1992) 'The membranous skeleton: the role of cell condensations in vertebrate skeletogenesis', *Anat Embryol (Berl)* 186(2): 107-124.
- Hall, B. K. and Miyake, T. (1995) 'Divide, accumulate, differentiate: cell condensation in skeletal development revisited', *Int J Dev Biol* 39(6): 881-893.
- Hall, B. K. and Miyake, T. (2000) 'All for one and one for all: condensations and the initiation of skeletal development', *Bioessays* 22(2): 138-147.
- Hall, B. K. and Witten, P. E. (2007) Plasticity of and Transitions between Skeletal Tissues in Vertebrate Evolution and Development. in J. S. Anderson and S. H.-D. (eds.) *Major transitions in vertebrate evolution*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Hamburger, V. and Hamilton, H. L. (1992) 'A series of normal stages in the development of the chick embryo', *Dev Dynam* 195(4): 231-272.
- Hammond, C. L. and Schulte-Merker, S. (2009) 'Two populations of endochondral osteoblasts with differential sensitivity to Hedgehog signalling', *Development* 136(23): 3991-4000.
- Hanken, J. and Wake, D. B. (1993) 'Miniaturization of body-size Organismal consequences and evolutionary significance', *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 24: 501-519.

- Harada, Y. and Ishizeki, K. (1998) 'Evidence for transformation of chondrocytes and site-specific resorption during the degradation of Meckel's cartilage', *Anat Embryol (Berl)* 197(6): 439-450.
- Harfe, B. D., Scherz, P. J., Nissim, S., Tian, F., McMahon, A. P. and Tabin, C. J. (2004) 'Evidence for an expansion-based temporal Shh gradient in specifying vertebrate digit identities', *Cell* 118(4): 517-528.
- Harrison, R. G. (1895) 'Die Entwicklung der unpaaren und paarigen Flossen der Teleostier', Arch Mikrosk Anat 46: 500-578.
- Hartmann, C. and Tabin, C. J. (2001) 'Wnt-14 plays a pivotal role in inducing synovial joint formation in the developing appendicular skeleton', *Cell* 104(3): 341-351.
- Hatta, K. and Takeichi, M. (1986) 'Expression of N-cadherin adhesion molecules associated with early morphogenetic events in chick development', *Nature* 320(6061): 447-449.
- Healy, C., Uwanogho, D. and Sharpe, P. T. (1999) 'Regulation and role of Sox9 in cartilage formation', *Dev Dynam* 215(1): 69-78.
- Hellingman, C. A., Koevoet, W., Kops, N., Farrell, E., Jahr, H., Liu, W., de Jong, R. J. B., Frenz, D. A. and van Osch, G. (2010) 'Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptors in *in vitro* and *in vivo* Chondrogenesis: Relating Tissue Engineering Using Adult Mesenchymal Stem Cells to Embryonic Development', *Tissue Eng Pt A* 16(2): 545-556.
- Hinchliffe, J. R. (1994) 'Evolutionary developmental biology of the tetrapod limb', *Dev Suppl*: 163-168.
- Hinchliffe, J. R. (2002) 'Developmental basis of limb evolution', *Int J Dev Biol* 46(7): 835-845.
- Hinchliffe, J. R. and Vorobyeva, E. I. (1999) 'Developmental basis of limb homology in urodeles: heterochronic evidence from the primitive hynobiid family', *Novartis Found Symp* 222: 95-105; discussion 105-109.
- Hinchliffe, R. (1977) The chondrogenic pattern in chick limb morphogenesis: a problem of development and evolution. in D. A. Ede J. R. Hinchliffe and M. Balls (eds.) *Vertebrate Limb and Somite Morphogenesis.* . Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hinchliffe, R. and Griffiths, P. J. (1983) The prechondrogenic patterns in tetrapod limb development and their phylogenetic significance. in B. Goodwin N. Holder and C. Wylie (eds.) *Development and Evolution*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hoegg, S., Brinkmann, H., Taylor, J. S. and Meyer, A. (2004) 'Phylogenetic timing of the fish-specific genome duplication correlates with the diversification of teleost fish', *J Mol Evol* 59(2): 190-203.
- Holmbeck, K., Bianco, P., Caterina, J., Yamada, S., Kromer, M., Kuznetsov, S. A., Mankani, M., Robey, P. G., Poole, A. R., Pidoux, I. et al. (1999) 'MT1-MMP-deficient mice develop dwarfism, osteopenia, arthritis, and connective tissue disease due to inadequate collagen turnover', *Cell* 99(1): 81-92.
- Holmbeck, K., Bianco, P., Chrysovergis, K., Yamada, S. and Birkedal-Hansen, H. (2003) 'MT1-MMP-dependent, apoptotic remodeling of

unmineralized cartilage: a critical process in skeletal growth', *J Cell Biol* 163(3): 661-671.

- Holtrop, M. E. (1971) 'The ultrastructure of the hypertrophic chondrocyte', *Isr J Med Sci* 7(3): 473-476.
- Holtrop, M. E. (1972a) 'The ultrastructure of the epiphyseal plate. I. The flattened chondrocyte', *Calcif Tissue Res* 9(2): 131-139.
- Holtrop, M. E. (1972b) 'The ultrastructure of the epiphyseal plate. II. The hypertrophic chondrocyte', *Calcif Tissue Res* 9(2): 140-151.
- Holtzer, H., Abbott, J., Lash, J. and Holtzer, S. (1960) 'The loss of phenotypic traits by differentiated cells *in vitro*, I. Differentiation of cartilage cells', *P Natl Acad Sci USA* 46(12): 1533-1542.
- Horton, W. A. (1993) Morphology of connective tissue: cartilage. in P. M. Royce and B. Steinmanns (eds.) *Connective Tissue and Its Heritable Disorders.* New York: Wiley-Liss, Inc.
- Hosseini, A. and Hogg, D. A. (1991) 'The effects of paralysis on skeletal development in the chick embryo. II. Effects on histogenesis of the tibia', *J Anat* 177: 169-178.
- Hua, H., Li, M. J., Luo, T., Yin, Y. C. and Jiang, Y. F. (2011) 'Matrix metalloproteinases in tumorigenesis: an evolving paradigm', *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 68(23): 3853-3868.
- Humphries, M. J., Travis, M. A., Clark, K. and Mould, A. P. (2004) 'Mechanisms of integration of cells and extracellular matrices by integrins', *Biochem Soc Trans* 32(5): 822-825.
- Huntington, S. (1983) Transmission electron microscopy of cartilage. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Cartilage Structure, function and biochemistry* vol. 1. New York, London: Academic Press.
- Hunziker, E. B., Herrmann, W., Schenk, R. K., Mueller, M. and Moor, H. (1984) 'Cartilage ultrastructure after high pressure freezing, freeze substitution, and low temperature embedding. I. Chondrocyte ultrastructure-implications for the theories of mineralization and vascular invasion', *J Cell Biol* 98(1): 267-276.
- Hurle, J. M. and Colombatti, A. (1996) 'Extracellular matrix modifications in the interdigital spaces of the chick embryo leg bud during the formation of ectopic digits', *Anat Embryol* 193(4): 355-364.
- Hurley, I. A., Mueller, R. L., Dunn, K. A., Schmidt, E. J., Friedman, M., Ho, R. K., Prince, V. E., Yang, Z., Thomas, M. G. and Coates, M. I. (2007) 'A new time-scale for ray-finned fish evolution', *Proc Biol Sci* 274(1609): 489-498.
- Huysseune, A. (1989) 'Morphogenetic Aspects of the Pharyngeal Jaws and Neurocranial Apophysis in Postembryonic Astatotilapia elegans (Trewavas, 1933) (Teleostei : Cichlidae). ', *Academiae Analecta* 51: 51.
- Huysseune, A. (2000) Skeletal System/Microscopic Functional Anatomy. in G. Ostrander (ed.) *The Laboratory Fish*. New York: Academic Press.
- Huysseune, A. and Sire, J. Y. (1992) 'Development of cartilage and bone tissues of the anterior part of the mandible in cichlid fish: a light and TEM study', *Anat Rec* 233(3): 357-375.
- Huysseune, A. and Verraes, W. (1990) 'Carbohydrate histochemistry of mature chondroid bone in Astatolapia elegans (Teleostei: Cichlidae)

with a comparison to acellular bone and cartilage', *Ann Sci Nat Zool* 11: 29-43.

- Hynes, R. O. (2002) 'Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines', *Cell* 110(6): 673-687.
- Imai, K., Ohta, S., Matsumoto, T., Fujimoto, N., Sato, H., Seiki, M. and Okada, Y. (1997) 'Expression of membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase and activation of progelatinase A in human osteoarthritic cartilage', *Am J Pathol* 151(1): 245-256.
- Inada, M., Yasui, T., Nomura, S., Miyake, S., Deguchi, K., Himeno, M., Sato, M., Yamagiwa, H., Kimura, T., Yasui, N. et al. (1999) 'Maturational disturbance of chondrocytes in Cbfa1-deficient mice', *Dev Dynam* 214(4): 279-290.
- Innis, J. W., Margulies, E. H. and Kardia, S. (2002) 'Integrative biology and the developing limb bud', *Evol Dev* 4(5): 378-389.
- Ishiguro, N., Kojima, T. and Poole, A. R. (2002) 'Mechanism of cartilage destruction in osteoarthritis', *Nagoya J Med Sci* 65(3-4): 73-84.
- Isogai, S., Horiguchi, M. and Weinstein, B. M. (2001) 'The vascular anatomy of the developing zebrafish: an atlas of embryonic and early larval development', *Dev Biol* 230(2): 278-301.
- Itoh, Y. and Seiki, M. (2006) 'MT1-MMP: a potent modifier of pericellular microenvironment', *J Cell Physiol* 206(1): 1-8.
- Jarvik, E. (1980) *Basic structure and evolution of vertebrates*, London: Academic Press.
- Jones, E. A., Lucey, K. S. and Ellerby, D. J. (2007) 'Efficiency of labriform swimming in the bluegill sunfish (*Lepomis macrochirus*)', *J Exp Biol* 210(Pt 19): 3422-3429.
- Jones, F. S. and Jones, P. L. (2000) 'The tenascin family of ECM glycoproteins: structure, function, and regulation during embryonic development and tissue remodeling', *Dev Dynam* 218(2): 235-259.
- Jones, K. H. and Senft, J. A. (1985) 'An improved method to determine cell viability by simultaneous staining with fluorescein diacetate-propidium iodide', *J Histochem Cytochem* 33(1): 77-79.
- Jung, Y., Wang, J., Havens, A., Sun, Y., Jin, T. and Taichman, R. S. (2005) 'Cell-to-cell contact is critical for the survival of hematopoietic progenitor cells on osteoblasts', *Cytokine* 32(3-4): 155-162.
- Kafienah, W., Bromme, D., Buttle, D. J., Croucher, L. J. and Hollander, A. P. (1998) 'Human cathepsin K cleaves native type I and II collagens at the N-terminal end of the triple helix', *Biochem J* 331(3): 727-732.
- Kälin, J. A. (1938) Die paarigen extremitäten der fische (Pterygia). in L. Bolk
 E. Göppert E. Kallius and W. Lubosch (eds.) Handbuch der vergleichenden Anatomie der Wirbeltiere. Berlin, Vienna.
- Karaplis, A. C., Luz, A., Glowacki, J., Bronson, R. T., Tybulewicz, V. L., Kronenberg, H. M. and Mulligan, R. C. (1994) 'Lethal skeletal dysplasia from targeted disruption of the parathyroid hormone-related peptide gene', *Genes Dev* 8(3): 277-289.
- Kelly, D. J. and Jacobs, C. R. (2010) 'The role of mechanical signals in regulating chondrogenesis and osteogenesis of mesenchymal stem cells', *Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today* 90(1): 75-85.

- Kim, K. W., Ha, K. Y., Park, J. B., Woo, Y. K., Chung, H. N. and An, H. S. (2005) 'Expressions of membrane-type I matrix metalloproteinase, Ki-67 protein, and type II collagen by chondrocytes migrating from cartilage endplate into nucleus pulposus in rat intervertebral discs: a cartilage endplate-fracture model using an intervertebral disc organ culture', *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 30(12): 1373-1378.
- Kimmel, C. B., Ballard, W. W., Kimmel, S. R., Ullmann, B. and Schilling, T. F. (1995) 'Stages of embryonic development of the zebrafish', *Dev Dyn* 203(3): 253-310.
- Kimmel, C. B., Miller, C. T., Kruze, G., Ullmann, B., BreMiller, R. A., Larison,
 K. D. and Snyder, H. C. (1998) 'The shaping of pharyngeal cartilages during early development of the zebrafish', *Dev Biol* 203(2): 245-263.
- Kimmel, C. B., Miller, C. T. and Moens, C. B. (2001) 'Specification and morphogenesis of the zebrafish larval head skeleton', *Dev Biol* 233(2): 239-257.
- Kley, N. J. and Kearney, M. (2007) Addaptations for digging and burrowing. in
 B. K. Hall (ed.) *Fins into Limbs: Evolution, Development, and Transformation.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Knauper, V., Bailey, L., Worley, J. R., Soloway, P., Patterson, M. L. and Murphy, G. (2002) 'Cellular activation of proMMP-13 by MT1-MMP depends on the C-terminal domain of MMP-13', *FEBS Lett* 532(1-2): 127-130.
- Knese, K.-H. (1979) *Stützgewebe und skelettsystem*, Berin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Knight, M. M., McGlashan, S. R., Garcia, M., Jensen, C. G. and Poole, C. A. (2009) 'Articular chondrocytes express connexin 43 hemichannels and P2 receptors a putative mechanoreceptor complex involving the primary cilium?', *J Anat* 214(2): 275-283.
- Knight, R. D. and Schilling, T. F. (2006) 'Cranial neural crest and development of the head skeleton', *Adv Exp Med Biol* 589: 120-133.
- Knopf, F., Hammond, C., Chekuru, A., Kurth, T., Hans, S., Weber, C. W., Mahatma, G., Fisher, S., Brand, M., Schulte-Merker, S. et al. (2011)
 'Bone Regenerates via Dedifferentiation of Osteoblasts in the Zebrafish Fin', *Developmental Cell* 20(5): 713-724.
- Knudson, C. B. (1993) 'Hyaluronan receptor-directed assembly of chondrocyte pericellular matrix', *J Cell Biol* 120(3): 825-834.
- Knudson, W. and Loeser, R. F. (2002) 'CD44 and integrin matrix receptors participate in cartilage homeostasis', *Cell Mol Life Sci* 59(1): 36-44.
- Kobayashi, T., Soegiarto, D. W., Yang, Y., Lanske, B., Schipani, E., McMahon, A. P. and Kronenberg, H. M. (2005) 'Indian hedgehog stimulates periarticular chondrocyte differentiation to regulate growth plate length independently of PTHrP', *J Clin Invest* 115(7): 1734-1742.
- Koopman, P., Schepers, G., Brenner, S. and Venkatesh, B. (2004) 'Origin and diversity of the SOX transcription factor gene family: genome-wide analysis in *Fugu rubripes*', *Gene* 328: 177-186.
- Kosher, R. A., Walker, K. H. and Ledger, P. W. (1982) 'Temporal and spatial distribution of fibronectin during development of the embryonic chick limb bud', *Cell Differ* 11(4): 217-228.
- Kouri-Flores, J. B., Abbud-Lozoya, K. A. and Roja-Morales, L. (2002) 'Kinetics of the ultrastructural changes in apoptotic chondrocytes from an osteoarthrosis rat model: a window of comparison to the cellular mechanism of apoptosis in human chondrocytes', *Ultrastruct Pathol* 26(1): 33-40.
- Koyama, E., Leatherman, J. L., Shimazu, A., Nah, H. D. and Pacifici, M. (1995) 'Syndecan-3, tenascin-C, and the development of cartilaginous skeletal elements and joints in chick limbs', *Dev Dynam* 203(2): 152-162.
- Koyama, E., Shimazu, A., Leatherman, J. L., Golden, E. B., Nah, H. D. and Pacifici, M. (1996) 'Expression of syndecan-3 and tenascin-C: possible involvement in periosteum development', *J Orthop Res* 14(3): 403-412.
- Koziel, L., Wuelling, M., Schneider, S. and Vortkamp, A. (2005) 'Gli3 acts as a repressor downstream of Ihh in regulating two distinct steps of chondrocyte differentiation', *Development* 132(23): 5249-5260.
- Kulyk, W. M., Upholt, W. B. and Kosher, R. A. (1989) 'Fibronectin gene expression during limb cartilage differentiation', *Development* 106(3): 449-455.
- Kundrát, M. (2009) 'Primary chondrification foci in the wing basipodium of Struthio camelus with comments on interpretation of autopodial elements in Crocodilia and Aves', J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol 312B(1): 30-41.
- Kuroki, K., Cook, J. L., Stoker, A. M., Turnquist, S. E., Kreeger, J. M. and Tomlinson, J. L. (2005) 'Characterizing osteochondrosis in the dog: potential roles for matrix metalloproteinases and mechanical load in pathogenesis and disease progression', *Osteoarth Cartilage* 13(3): 225-234.
- Landex, N. L. and Kayser, L. (2004) 'Optimization of an Acridine Orangebisbenzimide procedure for the detection of apoptosis-associated fluorescence colour changes in etoposide-treated cell cultures', *J Mol Histol* 35(2): 133-139.
- Larsen, M., Artym, V. V., Green, J. A. and Yamada, K. M. (2006) 'The matrix reorganized: extracellular matrix remodeling and integrin signaling', *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 18(5): 463-471.
- Lash, J. W. and Vasan, N. S. (1983) Glycosaminoglycans of cartilage. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Cartilage: Structure, Function, and Biochemistry*. New York: Academic Press.
- Lee, K., Lanske, B., Karaplis, A. C., Deeds, J. D., Kohno, H., Nissenson, R. A., Kronenberg, H. M. and Segre, G. V. (1996) 'Parathyroid hormonerelated peptide delays terminal differentiation of chondrocytes during endochondral bone development', *Endocrinology* 137(11): 5109-5118.
- Lefebvre, V., Li, P. and de Crombrugghe, B. (1998) 'A new long form of Sox5 (L-Sox5), Sox6 and Sox9 are coexpressed in chondrogenesis and cooperatively activate the type II collagen gene', *EMBO J* 17(19): 5718-5733.
- Levin, B. A. (2010) 'Drastic shift in the number of lateral line scales in the common roach *Rutilus rutilus* as a result of heterochronies: experimental data', *J Appl Ichthyol* 26(2): 303-306.

- Li, C., Xu, X., Nelson, D. K., Williams, T., Kuehn, M. R. and Deng, C.-X. (2005) 'FGFR1 function at the earliest stages of mouse limb development plays an indispensable role in subsequent autopod morphogenesis', *Development* 132(21): 4755-4764.
- Li, M., Amizuka, N., Oda, K., Tokunaga, K., Ito, T., Takeuchi, K., Takagi, R. and Maeda, T. (2004) 'Histochemical evidence of the initial chondrogenesis and osteogenesis in the periosteum of a rib fractured model: implications of osteocyte involvement in periosteal chondrogenesis', *Microsc Res Tech* 64(4): 330-342.
- Liu, Q., Kerstetter, A. E., Azodi, E. and Marrs, J. A. (2003) 'Cadherin-1, -2, and -11 expression and cadherin-2 function in the pectoral limb bud and fin of the developing zebrafish', *Dev Dynam* 228(4): 734-739.
- Liu, Y. W. and Chan, W. K. (2002) 'Thyroid hormones are important for embryonic to larval transitory phase in zebrafish', *Differentiation* 70(1): 36-45.
- Loeser, R. F. (2006) 'Molecular mechanisms of cartilage destruction: mechanics, inflammatory mediators, and aging collide', *Arthritis Rheum* 54(5): 1357-1360.
- Long, F., Chung, U. I., Ohba, S., McMahon, J., Kronenberg, H. M. and McMahon, A. P. (2004) 'Ihh signaling is directly required for the osteoblast lineage in the endochondral skeleton', *Development* 131(6): 1309-1318.
- Lopez-Casillas, F., Wrana, J. L. and Massague, J. (1993) 'Betaglycan presents ligand to the TGF beta signaling receptor', *Cell* 73(7): 1435-1444.
- Mabee, P. M. and Trendler, T. A. (1996) 'Development of the cranium and paired fins in *Betta splendens* (Teleostei: Percomorpha): Intraspecific variation and interspecific comparisons', *J Morphol* 227(3): 249-287.
- Mackie, E. J., Thesleff, I. and Chiquet-Ehrismann, R. (1987) 'Tenascin is associated with chondrogenic and osteogenic differentiation *in vivo* and promotes chondrogenesis *in vitro*', *J Cell Biol* 105(6 Pt 1): 2569-2579.
- Maden, M., Ong, D. E., Summerbell, D. and Chytil, F. (1988) 'Spatial distribution of cellular protein binding to retinoic acid in the chick limb bud', *Nature* 335(6192): 733-735.
- Maeda, Y., Nakamura, E., Nguyen, M. T., Suva, L. J., Swain, F. L., Razzaque, M. S., Mackem, S. and Lanske, B. (2007) 'Indian Hedgehog produced by postnatal chondrocytes is essential for maintaining a growth plate and trabecular bone', *P Natl Acad Sci USA* 104(15): 6382-6387.
- Malemud, C. J. (2006) 'Matrix metalloproteinases: role in skeletal development and growth plate disorders', *Front Biosci* 11: 1702-1715.
- Markwald, R. R., Bolender, D. L., Krug, E. L. and Lepera, R. (1990) 'Morphogenesis of precursor subpopulations of chicken limb mesenchyme in three dimensional collagen gel culture', *Anat Rec* 226(1): 91-107.
- Marrs, J. A. and Nelson, W. J. (1996) 'Cadherin cell adhesion molecules in differentiation and embryogenesis', *Int Rev Cytol* 165: 159-205.

- Massova, I., Kotra, L. P., Fridman, R. and Mobashery, S. (1998) 'Matrix metalloproteinases: structures, evolution, and diversification', *FASEB J* 12(12): 1075-1095.
- Mayne, R. and von der Mark, K. (1983) Collagens of cartilage. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Cartilage: Structure, Function, and Biochemistry*. New York: Acdemic Press.
- McLean, R. M. and Podell, D. N. (1995) 'Bone and joint manifestations of hypothyroidism', *Semin Arthritis Rheum* 24(4): 282-290.
- Meinhardt, H. (2001) 'Organizer and axes formation as a self-organizing process', *Int J Dev Biol* 45(1): 177-188.
- Mercader, N. (2007) 'Early steps of paired fin development in zebrafish compared with tetrapod limb development', *Dev Growth Differ* 49(6): 421-437.
- Merino, R., Ganan, Y., Macias, D., Economides, A. N., Sampath, K. T. and Hurle, J. M. (1998) 'Morphogenesis of digits in the avian limb is controlled by FGFs, TGFbetas, and noggin through BMP signaling', *Dev Biol* 200(1): 35-45.
- Merino, R., Macias, D., Ganan, Y., Economides, A. N., Wang, X., Wu, Q., Stahl, N., Sampath, K. T., Varona, P. and Hurle, J. M. (1999a) 'Expression and function of Gdf-5 during digit skeletogenesis in the embryonic chick leg bud', *Dev Biol* 206(1): 33-45.
- Merino, R., Macias, D., Ganan, Y., Rodriguez-Leon, J., Economides, A. N., Rodriguez-Esteban, C., Izpisua-Belmonte, J. C. and Hurle, J. M. (1999b) 'Control of digit formation by activin signalling', *Development* 126(10): 2161-2170.
- Mikic, B., Isenstein, A. L. and Chhabra, A. (2004) 'Mechanical modulation of cartilage structure and function during embryogenesis in the chick', *Ann Biomed Eng* 32(1): 18-25.
- Miron, R. J., Hedbom, E., Ruggiero, S., Bosshardt, D. D., Zhang, Y., Mauth, C., Gemperli, A. C., lizuka, T., Buser, D. and Sculean, A. (2011) 'Premature osteoblast clustering by enamel matrix proteins induces osteoblast differentiation through up-regulation of connexin 43 and Ncadherin', *PLoS One* 6(8).
- Miura, T. and Maini, P. K. (2004) 'Periodic pattern formation in reactiondiffusion systems: an introduction for numerical simulation', *Anat Sci Int* 79(3): 112-123.
- Miyake, T., Cameron, A. M. and Hall, B. K. (1996) 'Stage-specific onset of condensation and matrix deposition for Meckel's and other first arch cartilages in inbred C57BL/6 mice', *J Craniofac Genet Dev Biol* 16(1): 32-47.
- Miyanishi, K., Trindade, M. C., Lindsey, D. P., Beaupre, G. S., Carter, D. R., Goodman, S. B., Schurman, D. J. and Smith, R. L. (2006) 'Dose- and time-dependent effects of cyclic hydrostatic pressure on transforming growth factor-beta3-induced chondrogenesis by adult human mesenchymal stem cells *in vitro*', *Tissue Eng* 12(8): 2253-2262.
- Mizoguchi, I., Takahashi, I., Sasano, Y., Kagayama, M., Kuboki, Y. and Mitani, H. (1997) 'Localization of types I, II and X collagen and

osteocalcin in intramembranous, endochondral and chondroid bone of rats', *Anat Embryol* 196(4): 291-297.

- Montero, J. A., Zuzarte-Luis, V., Garcia-Martinez, V. and Hurle, J. M. (2007) 'Role of RhoC in digit morphogenesis during limb development', *Dev Biol* 303(1): 325-335.
- Morgan, B. A. and Tabin, C. (1994) 'Hox genes and growth: early and late roles in limb bud morphogenesis', *Dev Suppl*: 181-186.
- Mori-Akiyama, Y., Akiyama, H., Rowitch, D. H. and de Crombrugghe, B. (2003) 'Sox9 is required for determination of the chondrogenic cell lineage in the cranial neural crest', *P Natl Acad Sci USA* 100(16): 9360-9365.
- Moustakas, A. and Heldin, C. H. (2002) 'From mono- to oligo-Smads: the heart of the matter in TGF-beta signal transduction', *Genes Dev* 16(15): 1867-1871.
- Müller, G. B. (1991) Evolutionary transformation of limb pattern: heterochrony and secondary fusion. in J. R. Hinchliffe J. M. Hurle and D. Summerbell (eds.) *Developmental patterning of the vertebrate limb.* New York: Plenum Press.
- Murphy, G., Knauper, V., Atkinson, S., Butler, G., English, W., Hutton, M., Stracke, J. and Clark, I. (2002) 'Matrix metalloproteinases in arthritic disease', *Arthritis Res* 4 Suppl 3: S39-49.
- Myers, E. R. and Mow, V. C. (1983) Biomechanics of cartilage and its response to biomechanical stimuli. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Cartilage: Structure, Function, and Biochemistry*. New Yor: Academic Press.
- Nagai, H. and Aoki, M. (2002) 'Inhibition of growth plate angiogenesis and endochondral ossification with diminished expression of MMP-13 in hypertrophic chondrocytes in FGF-2-treated rats', *Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism* 20(3): 142-147.
- Nagase, H. and Kashiwagi, M. (2003) 'Aggrecanases and cartilage matrix degradation', *Arthritis Res Ther* 5(2): 94-103.
- Nakazora, S., Matsumine, A., Iino, T., Hasegawa, M., Kinoshita, A., Uemura, K., Niimi, R., Uchida, A. and Sudo, A. (2010) 'The cleavage of Ncadherin is essential for chondrocyte differentiation', *Biochem Bioph Res Co* 400(4): 493-499.
- Namba, Y., Yamazaki, Y., Yuguchi, M., Kameoka, S., Usami, S., Honda, K. and Isokawa, K. (2010) 'Development of the tarsometatarsal skeleton by the lateral fusion of three cylindrical periosteal bones in the chick embryo (*Gallus gallus*)', *Anat Rec (Hoboken)* 293(9): 1527-1535.
- Nap, R. J. and Szleifer, I. (2008) 'Structure and interactions of aggrecans: statistical thermodynamic approach', *Biophys J* 95(10): 4570-4583.
- Nebelung, S., Gavenis, K., Luring, C., Zhou, B., Mueller-Rath, R., Stoffel, M., Tingart, M. and Rath, B. (2012) 'Simultaneous anabolic and catabolic responses of human chondrocytes seeded in collagen hydrogels to long-term continuous dynamic compression', *Ann Anat*.
- Nelson, J. S. (2006) Fishes of the world, New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.
- Newman, S. A. and Muller, G. B. (2005) 'Origination and innovation in the vertebrate limb skeleton: an epigenetic perspective', *J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol* 304(6): 593-609.

- Neyt, C., Jagla, K., Thisse, C., Thisse, B., Haines, L. and Currie, P. D. (2000) 'Evolutionary origins of vertebrate appendicular muscle', *Nature* 408(6808): 82-86.
- Ng, L. J., Wheatley, S., Muscat, G. E., Conway-Campbell, J., Bowles, J., Wright, E., Bell, D. M., Tam, P. P., Cheah, K. S. and Koopman, P. (1997) 'SOX9 binds DNA, activates transcription, and coexpresses with type II collagen during chondrogenesis in the mouse', *Dev Biol* 183(1): 108-121.
- Niswander, L., Tickle, C., Vogel, A., Booth, I. and Martin, G. R. (1993) 'FGF-4 replaces the apical ectodermal ridge and directs outgrowth and patterning of the limb', *Cell* 75(3): 579-587.
- Noji, S., Nohno, T., Koyama, E., Muto, K., Ohyama, K., Aoki, Y., Tamura, K., Ohsugi, K., Ide, H., Taniguchi, S. et al. (1991) 'Retinoic acid induces polarizing activity but is unlikely to be a morphogen in the chick limb bud', *Nature* 350(6313): 83-86.
- Nomura, R., Kamei, E., Hotta, Y., Konishi, M., Miyake, A. and Itoh, N. (2006) 'Fgf16 is essential for pectoral fin bud formation in zebrafish', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 347(1): 340-346.
- Norton, W. H., Ledin, J., Grandel, H. and Neumann, C. J. (2005) 'HSPG synthesis by zebrafish Ext2 and Extl3 is required for Fgf10 signalling during limb development', *Development* 132(22): 4963-4973.
- Oberlender, S. A. and Tuan, R. S. (1994a) 'Expression and functional involvement of N-cadherin in embryonic limb chondrogenesis', *Development* 120(1): 177-187.
- Oberlender, S. A. and Tuan, R. S. (1994b) 'Spatiotemporal profile of Ncadherin expression in the developing limb mesenchyme', *Cell Adhes Commun* 2(6): 521-537.
- Oh, J., Takahashi, R., Kondo, S., Mizoguchi, A., Adachi, E., Sasahara, R. M., Nishimura, S., Imamura, Y., Kitayama, H., Alexander, D. B. et al. (2001) 'The membrane-anchored MMP inhibitor RECK is a key regulator of extracellular matrix integrity and angiogenesis', *Cell* 107(6): 789-800.
- Ohkubo, K., Shimokawa, H., Ogawa, T., Suzuki, S., Fukada, K., Ohya, K. and Ohyama, K. (2003) 'Immunohistochemical localization of matrix metalloproteinase 13 (MMP-13) in mouse mandibular condylar cartilage', *J Med Dent Sci* 50(3): 203-211.
- Oi, T. and Utsumi, N. (1980) 'Ultrastructure of hypertrophic chondrocytes of rat mandibular condyles using lanthanum-containing fixatives', *Arch Oral Biol* 25(1): 77-81.
- Okada, T. S. (1991) *Transdifferentiation. Flexibility in Cell Differentiation.*, Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Ortega, N., Behonick, D. J. and Werb, Z. (2004) 'Matrix remodeling during endochondral ossification', *Trends Cell Biol* 14(2): 86-93.
- Oster, G. F., Murray, J. D. and Harris, A. K. (1983) 'Mechanical aspects of mesenchymal morphogenesis', *J Embryol Exp Morphol* 78: 83-125.
- Page-McCaw, A., Ewald, A. J. and Werb, Z. (2007) 'Matrix metalloproteinases and the regulation of tissue remodelling', *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 8(3): 221-233.

- Pankov, R. and Yamada, K. M. (2002) 'Fibronectin at a glance', *J Cell Sci* 115(20): 3861-3863.
- Parichy, D. M., Elizondo, M. R., Mills, M. G., Gordon, T. N. and Engeszer, R.
 E. (2009) 'Normal table of postembryonic zebrafish development: Staging by externally visible anatomy of the living fish', *Dev Dynam* 238(12): 2975-3015.
- Perez, W. D., Weller, C. R., Shou, S. and Stadler, H. S. (2010) 'Survival of Hoxa13 homozygous mutants reveals a novel role in digit patterning and appendicular skeletal development', *Dev Dynam* 239(2): 446-457.
- Perez-Moreno, M. and Fuchs, E. (2006) 'Catenins: keeping cells from getting their signals crossed', *Dev Cell* 11(5): 601-612.
- Peters, D. M. P. and Msher, D. F. (1989) Fibronectin as a transducer of tension. in W. D. Stein and F. Bonner (eds.) *Cell shape: Determinants, regulation, and regulatory roles.* San Diega: Academic Press.
- Piven, O. O., Kostetskii, I. E., Macewicz, L. L., Kolomiets, Y. M., Radice, G. L. and Lukash, L. L. (2011) 'Requirement for N-cadherin-catenin complex in heart development', *Exp Biol Med* 236(7): 816-822.
- Pizette, S. and Niswander, L. (2000) 'BMPs are required at two steps of limb chondrogenesis: formation of prechondrogenic condensations and their differentiation into chondrocytes', *Dev Biol* 219(2): 237-249.
- Polly, P. D. (2007) Limbs in mammalian evolution. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Fins into Limbs: Evolution, Development, and Transformation.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Rao, Y., Wu, X. F., Gariepy, J., Rutishauser, U. and Siu, C. H. (1992)
 'Identification of a peptide sequence involved in homophilic binding in the neural cell adhesion molecule NCAM', *J Cell Biol* 118(4): 937-949.
- Redies, C., Neudert, F. and Lin, J. (2011) 'Cadherins in Cerebellar Development: Translation of Embryonic Patterning into Mature Functional Compartmentalization', *Cerebellum* 10(3): 393-408.
- Riddle, R. D., Johnson, R. L., Laufer, E. and Tabin, C. (1993) 'Sonic hedgehog mediates the polarizing activity of the ZPA', *Cell* 75(7): 1401-1416.
- Roach, H. I. (1997) 'New Aspects of Endochondral Ossification in the Chick: Chondrocyte Apoptosis, Bone Formation by Former Chondrocytes, and Acid Phosphatase Activity in the Endochondral Bone Matrix', *J Bone Miner Res* 12(5): 795-805.
- Roach, H. I. (1999) 'Association of matrix acid and alkaline phosphatases with mineralization of cartilage and endochondral bone', *Histochem J* 31(1): 53-61.
- Roach, H. I., Erenpreisa, J. and Aigner, T. (1995) 'Osteogenic differentiation of hypertrophic chondrocytes involves asymmetric cell divisions and apoptosis', *J Cell Biol* 131(2): 483-494.
- Rose, C. (2009) 'Generating, growing and transforming skeletal shape: insights from amphibian pharyngeal arch cartilages', *Bioessays* 31(3): 287-299.
- Rudnicki, J. A. and Brown, A. M. (1997) 'Inhibition of chondrogenesis by Wnt gene expression *in vivo* and *in vitro*', *Dev Biol* 185(1): 104-118.

Rutishauser, U. (1990) 'Neural cell adhesion molecule as a regulator of cellcell interactions', *Adv Exp Med Biol* 265: 179-183.

- Sahebjam, S., Khokha, R. and Mort, J. S. (2007) 'Increased collagen and aggrecan degradation with age in the joints of Timp3(-/-) mice', *Arthritis Rheum* 56(3): 905-909.
- Sakakura, Y., Hosokawa, Y., Tsuruga, E., Irie, K., Nakamura, M. and Yajima, T. (2007) 'Contributions of matrix metalloproteinases toward Meckel's cartilage resorption in mice: immunohistochemical studies, including comparisons with developing endochondral bones', *Cell Tissue Res* 328(1): 137-151.
- Sakamoto, K., Onimaru, K., Munakata, K., Suda, N., Tamura, M., Ochi, H. and Tanaka, M. (2009) 'Heterochronic shift in Hox-mediated activation of sonic hedgehog leads to morphological changes during fin development', *PLoS One* 4(4): e5121.
- San Antonio, J. D. and Tuan, R. S. (1986) 'Chondrogenesis of limb bud mesenchyme *in vitro*: stimulation by cations', *Dev Biol* 115(2): 313-324.
- Santagati, F. and Rijli, F. M. (2003) 'Cranial neural crest and the building of the vertebrate head', *Nat Rev Neurosci* 4(10): 806-818.
- Sato, K., Miura, T. and Iwata, H. (1988) 'Cartilaginous transdifferentiation of rat tenosynovial cells under the influence of bone morphogenetic protein in tissue culture', *Clin Orthop Relat Res*(236): 233-239.
- Scherz, P. J., Harfe, B. D., McMahon, A. P. and Tabin, C. J. (2004) 'The limb bud Shh-Fgf feedback loop is terminated by expansion of former ZPA cells', *Science* 305(5682): 396-399.
- Schilling, T. F. and Kimmel, C. B. (1997) 'Musculoskeletal patterning in the pharyngeal segments of the zebrafish embryo', *Development* 124(15): 2945-2960.
- Schlegel, W., Albrecht, C., Eckl, P., Freudenthaler, H., Berger, A., Vecsei, V. and Marlovits, S. (2009) 'Dedifferentiation of human articular chondrocytes is associated with alterations in expression patterns of GDF-5 and its receptors', *J Cell Mol Med* 13(9B): 3398-3404.
- Schlosser, G. (2004) The role of modules in development and evolution. in G. Schlosser and G. P. Wagner (eds.) *Modularity in development and evolution*. Chicago, London: The University of Chicago Press.
- Schmid, T. M., Popp, R. G. and Linsenmayer, T. F. (1990) 'Hypertrophic cartilage matrix. Type X collagen, supramolecular assembly, and calcification', *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 580: 64-73.
- Schreiber, A. M. (2006) 'Asymmetric craniofacial remodeling and lateralized behavior in larval flatfish', *J Exp Biol* 209(4): 610-621.
- Schwab, W., Hofer, A. and Kasper, M. (1998) 'Immunohistochemical distribution of connexin 43 in the cartilage of rats and mice', *Histochem J* 30(6): 413-419.
- Sears, K. E., Behringer, R. R., Rasweiler, J. J. t. and Niswander, L. A. (2006) 'Development of bat flight: morphologic and molecular evolution of bat wing digits', *P Natl Acad Sci USA* 103(17): 6581-6586.
- Segretain, D. and Falk, M. M. (2004) 'Regulation of connexin biosynthesis, assembly, gap junction formation, and removal', *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1662(1-2): 3-21.

- Sekiya, I., Tsuji, K., Koopman, P., Watanabe, H., Yamada, Y., Shinomiya, K., Nifuji, A. and Noda, M. (2000) 'SOX9 enhances aggrecan gene promoter/enhancer activity and is up-regulated by retinoic acid in a cartilage-derived cell line, TC6', *J Biol Chem* 275(15): 10738-10744.
- Shapiro, M. D., Shubin, N. H. and Downs, J. P. (2007) Limb diversity and digit reduction in reptilian evolution. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Fins into Limbs: Evolution, Development, and Transformation.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Shearman, R. M. (2008) 'Chondrogenesis and ossification of the lissamphibian pectoral girdle', *J Morphol* 269(4): 479-495.
- Sheldon, H. (1983) Transmission electron microscopy of cartilage. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Cartilage: Structure, Function, and Biochemistry*. New York: Academic Press.
- Shi, Y. B. and Ishizuya-Oka, A. (2001) 'Thyroid hormone regulation of apoptotic tissue remodeling: implications from molecular analysis of amphibian metamorphosis', *Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol* 65: 53-100.
- Shkil, F. N., Levin, B. A., Abdisssa, B. and Smirnov, S. V. (2010) 'Variability in the number of tooth rows in the pharyngeal dentition of *Barbus intermedius* (Teleostei; Cyprinidae): genetic, hormonal and environmental factors', *J Appl Ichthyol* 26(2): 315-319.
- Shubin, N., Tabin, C. and Carroll, S. (1997) 'Fossils, genes and the evolution of animal limbs', *Nature* 388(6643): 639-648.
- Shubin, N. H. and Alberch, P. (1986) 'A morphogenetic approach to the origin and basic organization of the tetrapod limb.', *Evol. Biol.*(20): 319-387.
- Shubin, N. H. and Davis, M. C. (2004) Modularity in the evolution of vertebrate appendages. in G. Schlosser and G. P. Wagner (eds.) *Modularity in development and evolution*. Chicago, London: The University of Chicago Press.
- Shukunami, C., Shigeno, C., Atsumi, T., Ishizeki, K., Suzuki, F. and Hiraki, Y. (1996) 'Chondrogenic differentiation of clonal mouse embryonic cell line ATDC5 in vitro: Differentiation-dependent gene expression of parathyroid hormone (PTH)/PTH-related peptide receptor', *J Cell Biol* 133(2): 457-468.
- Simes, D. C., Williamson, M. K., Ortiz-Delgado, J. B., Viegas, C. S., Price, P. A. and Cancela, M. L. (2003) 'Purification of matrix Gla protein from a marine teleost fish, *Argyrosomus regius*: calcified cartilage and not bone as the primary site of MGP accumulation in fish', *J Bone Miner Res* 18(2): 244-259.
- Sire, J. Y., Allizard, F., Babiar, O., Bourguignon, J. and Quilhac, A. (1997) 'Scale development in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*)', *J Anat* 190 (Pt 4): 545-561.
- Slack, J. M. and Tosh, D. (2001) 'Transdifferentiation and metaplasiaswitching cell types', *Curr Opin Genet Dev* 11(5): 581-586.
- Söder, S., Roach, H. I., Oehler, S., Bau, B., Haag, J. and Aigner, T. (2006) 'MMP-9/gelatinase B is a gene product of human adult articular chondrocytes and increased in osteoarthritic cartilage', *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 24(3): 302-304.

- Sordino, P., van der Hoeven, F. and Duboule, D. (1995) 'Hox gene expression in teleost fins and the origin of vertebrate digits', *Nature* 375(6533): 678-681.
- Spiteri, C., Raizman, I., Pilliar, R. M. and Kandel, R. A. (2010) 'Matrix accumulation by articular chondrocytes during mechanical stimulation is influenced by integrin-mediated cell spreading', *J Biomed Mater Res A* 94(1): 122-129.
- Spitz, F., Gonzalez, F. and Duboule, D. (2003) 'A global control region defines a chromosomal regulatory landscape containing the HoxD cluster', *Cell* 113(3): 405-417.
- Spokony, R. F., Aoki, Y., Saint-Germain, N., Magner-Fink, E. and Saint-Jeannet, J. P. (2002) 'The transcription factor Sox9 is required for cranial neural crest development in *Xenopus*', *Development* 129(2): 421-432.
- Spurr, A. R. (1969) 'A low-viscosity epoxy resin embedding medium for electron microscopy', *J Ultrastruct Res* 26(1): 31-43.
- St-Jacques, B., Hammerschmidt, M. and McMahon, A. P. (1999) 'Indian hedgehog signaling regulates proliferation and differentiation of chondrocytes and is essential for bone formation (vol 13, pg 2072, 1999)', *Genes Dev* 13(19): 2617-2617.
- Storm, E. E. and Kingsley, D. M. (1999) 'GDF5 coordinates bone and joint formation during digit development', *Dev Biol* 209(1): 11-27.
- Sugimoto, K., Iizawa, T., Harada, H., Yamada, K., Katsumata, M. and Takahashi, M. (2004) 'Cartilage degradation independent of MMP/aggrecanases', *Osteoarthr Cartilage* 12(12): 1006-1014.
- Sukhova, G. K., Shi, G. P., Simon, D. I., Chapman, H. A. and Libby, P. (1998) 'Expression of the elastolytic cathepsins S and K in human atheroma and regulation of their production in smooth muscle cells', *J Clin Invest* 102(3): 576-583.
- Sun, X., Mariani, F. V. and Martin, G. R. (2002) 'Functions of FGF signalling from the apical ectodermal ridge in limb development', *Nature* 418(6897): 501-508.
- Suzuki, D., Brandley, M. C. and Tokita, M. (2010) 'The mitochondrial phylogeny of an ancient lineage of ray-finned fishes (Polypteridae) with implications for the evolution of body elongation, pelvic fin loss, and craniofacial morphology in Osteichthyes', *BMC Evol Biol* 10: 21.
- Suzuki, S. T. (1996) 'Structural and functional diversity of cadherin superfamily: are new members of cadherin superfamily involved in signal transduction pathway?', *J Cell Biochem* 61(4): 531-542.
- Szabova, L., Yamada, S. S., Wimer, H., Chrysovergis, K., Ingvarsen, S., Behrendt, N., Engelholm, L. H. and Holmbeck, K. (2009) 'MT1-MMP and type II collagen specify skeletal stem cells and their bone and cartilage progeny', *J Bone Miner Res* 24(11): 1905-1916.
- Szebenyi, G., Savage, M. P., Olwin, B. B. and Fallon, J. F. (1995) 'Changes in the expression of fibroblast growth factor receptors mark distinct stages of chondrogenesis *in vitro* and during chick limb skeletal patterning', *Dev Dynam* 204(4): 446-456.

- Takayanagi, H. (2010) 'New immune connections in osteoclast formation', Ann NY Acad Sci 1192(1): 117-123.
- Tanaka, E. M. (2003) 'Cell differentiation and cell fate during urodele tail and limb regeneration', *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 13(5): 497-501.
- Tanaka, E. M. and Reddien, P. W. (2011) 'The Cellular Basis for Animal Regeneration', *Dev Cell* 21(1): 172-185.
- Tanaka, N., Ohno, S., Honda, K., Tanimoto, K., Doi, T., Ohno-Nakahara, M., Tafolla, E., Kapila, S. and Tanne, K. (2005) 'Cyclic mechanical strain regulates the PTHrP expression in cultured chondrocytes via activation of the Ca2+ channel', *J Dent Res* 84(1): 64-68.
- Tanimoto, K., Kitamura, R., Tanne, Y., Kamiya, T., Kunimatsu, R., Yoshioka, M., Tanaka, N., Tanaka, E. and Tanne, K. (2010) 'Modulation of hyaluronan catabolism in chondrocytes by mechanical stimuli', J Biomed Mater Res A 93(1): 373-380.
- Tavella, S., Raffo, P., Tacchetti, C., Cancedda, R. and Castagnola, P. (1994) 'N-CAM and N-cadherin expression during *in vitro* chondrogenesis', *Exp Cell Res* 215(2): 354-362.
- Tepel, C., Bromme, D., Herzog, V. and Brix, K. (2000) 'Cathepsin K in thyroid epithelial cells: sequence, localization and possible function in extracellular proteolysis of thyroglobulin', *Journal of Cell Science* 113(24): 4487-4498.
- Thewissen, J. G. M., Cohn, M. J., Stevens, L. S., Bajpai, S., Heyning, J. and Horton, W. E., Jr. (2006) 'Developmental basis for hind-limb loss in dolphins and origin of the cetacean bodyplan', *P Natl Acad Sci USA* 103(22): 8414-8418.
- Thewissen, J. G. M. and Taylor, M. A. (2007) Aquatic adaptations in the limbs of amniotes. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Fins into Limbs: Evolution, Development, and Transformation.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Thorogood, P. (1983) Morphogenesis of Cartilage. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Cartilage: Development, Differentiation, and Growth*, vol. 2. New York: Academic Press.
- Thorsen, D. H., Cassidy, J. J. and Hale, M. E. (2004) 'Swimming of larval zebrafish: fin-axis coordination and implications for function and neural control', *J Exp Biol* 207(24): 4175-4183.
- Thorsen, D. H. and Hale, M. E. (2005) 'Development of zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) pectoral fin musculature', *J Morphol* 266(2): 241-255.
- Thorsen, D. H. and Hale, M. E. (2007) 'Neural development of the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) pectoral fin', *J Comp Neurol* 504(2): 168-184.
- Thorsen, D. H. and Westneat, M. W. (2005) 'Diversity of pectoral fin structure and function in fishes with labriform propulsion', *J Morphol* 263(2): 133-150.
- Thowfeequ, S., Myatt, E. J. and Tosh, D. (2007) 'Transdifferentiation in developmental biology, disease, and in therapy', *Dev Dynam* 236(12): 3208-3217.
- Tickle, C. (2003) 'Patterning systems-from one end of the limb to the other', *Dev Cell* 4(4): 449-458.

- Tickle, C., Lee, J. and Eichele, G. (1985) 'A quantitative analysis of the effect of all-trans-retinoic acid on the pattern of chick wing development', *Dev Biol* 109(1): 82-95.
- To, T. T., Witten, P. E., Renn, J., Bhattacharya, D., Huysseune, A. and Winkler, C. (2012) 'Rankl-induced osteoclastogenesis leads to loss of mineralization in a medaka osteoporosis model', *Development* 139(1): 141-150.
- Tonou-Fujimori, N., Takahashi, M., Onodera, H., Kikuta, H., Koshida, S., Takeda, H. and Yamasu, K. (2002) 'Expression of the FGF receptor 2 gene (fgfr2) during embryogenesis in the zebrafish, *Danio rerio*', *Mech Develop* 119, Supplement(0): S173-S178.
- Turing, A. (1952) 'The chemical basis of morphogenesis', *Philos Trans Roy Soc Lond B*(237): 37–72.
- Ueta, C., Iwamoto, M., Kanatani, N., Yoshida, C., Liu, Y., Enomoto-Iwamoto, M., Ohmori, T., Enomoto, H., Nakata, K., Takada, K. et al. (2001)
 'Skeletal malformations caused by overexpression of Cbfa1 or its dominant negative form in chondrocytes', *J Cell Biol* 153(1): 87-100.
- van Eeden, F. J., Granato, M., Schach, U., Brand, M., Furutani-Seiki, M., Haffter, P., Hammerschmidt, M., Heisenberg, C. P., Jiang, Y. J., Kane, D. A. et al. (1996) 'Genetic analysis of fin formation in the zebrafish, *Danio rerio*', *Development* 123: 255-262.
- Vasiliauskas, D., Laufer, E. and Stern, C. D. (2003) 'A role for hairy1 in regulating chick limb bud growth', *Dev Biol* 262(1): 94-106.
- Verreijdt, L., Vandervennet, E., Sire, J. Y. and Huysseune, A. (2002) 'Developmental differences between cranial bones in the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*): some preliminary light and TEM observations', *Connect Tissue Res* 43(2-3): 109-112.
- Verstraeten, B., Sanders, E. and Huysseune, A. 'Whole mount immunohistochemistry and in situ hybridization of larval and adult zebrafish dental tissues', *Methods in Molecular Biology, Methods in Odontogenesis*(in press).
- Vilmann, H. (1977) 'Distribution of alkaline phosphatase in perichondria', *Histochemistry* 54(3): 225-235.
- Vogel, A., Rodriguez, C. and Izpisua-Belmonte, J. C. (1996) 'Involvement of FGF-8 in initiation, outgrowth and patterning of the vertebrate limb', *Development* 122(6): 1737-1750.
- von der Mark, H., von der Mark, K. and Gay, S. (1976) 'Study of differential collagen synthesis during development of the chick embryo by immunofluorescence. I. Preparation of collagen type I and type II specific antibodies and their application to early stages of the chick embryo', *Dev Biol* 48(2): 237-249.
- Vortkamp, A., Lee, K., Lanske, B., Segre, G. V., Kronenberg, H. M. and Tabin, C. J. (1996) 'Regulation of rate of cartilage differentiation by Indian hedgehog and PTH-related protein', *Science* 273(5275): 613-622.
- Vu, T. H., Shipley, J. M., Bergers, G., Berger, J. E., Helms, J. A., Hanahan, D., Shapiro, S. D., Senior, R. M. and Werb, Z. (1998) 'MMP-9/gelatinase B is a key regulator of growth plate angiogenesis and apoptosis of hypertrophic chondrocytes', *Cell* 93(3): 411-422.

- Vu, T. H. and Werb, Z. (2000) 'Matrix metalloproteinases: effectors of development and normal physiology', *Genes Dev* 14(17): 2123-2133.
- Wagner, G. P. and Chiu, C. H. (2001) 'The tetrapod limb: a hypothesis on its origin', *J Exp Zool* 291(3): 226-240.
- Wagner, G. P. and Larsson, H. C. E. (2007) Fins and limbs in the study of evolutionary novelties. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Fins into Limbs: Evolution, Development, and Transformation.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Walker, M. B. and Kimmel, C. B. (2007) 'A two-color acid-free cartilage and bone stain for zebrafish larvae', *Biotech Histochem* 82(1): 23-28.
- Wanek, N., Gardiner, D. M., Muneoka, K. and Bryant, S. V. (1991) 'Conversion by retinoic acid of anterior cells into ZPA cells in the chick wing bud', *Nature* 350(6313): 81-83.
- Westneat, M. W. (1996) 'Functional Morphology of Aquatic Flight in Fishes: Kinematics, Electromyography, and Mechanical Modeling of Labriform Locomotion', *Am Zool* 36(6): 582-598.
- White, D. G., Hall, J. W., Brandli, D. W., Gehris, A. L. and Bennett, V. D. (1996) 'Chick cartilage fibronectin differs in structure from the fibronectin in limb mesenchyme', *Exp Cell Res* 224(2): 391-402.
- Widelitz, R. B., Jiang, T. X., Murray, B. A. and Chuong, C. M. (1993) 'Adhesion molecules in skeletogenesis: II. Neural cell adhesion molecules mediate precartilaginous mesenchymal condensations and enhance chondrogenesis', *J Cell Physiol* 156(2): 399-411.
- Witten, P. E., Gil-Martens, L., Hall, B. K., Huysseune, A. and Obach, A. (2005) 'Compressed vertebrae in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar: evidence for metaplastic chondrogenesis as a skeletogenic response late in ontogeny', *Dis Aquat Organ* 64(3): 237-246.
- Witten, P. E. and Hall, B. K. (2002) 'Differentiation and growth of kype skeletal tissues in anadromous male Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*)', *Int J Dev Biol* 46(5): 719-730.
- Witten, P. E. and Hall, B. K. (2003) 'Seasonal changes in the lower jaw skeleton in male Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*): remodelling and regression of the kype after spawning', *J Anat* 203(5): 435-450.
- Witten, P. E., Hansen, A. and Hall, B. K. (2001) 'Features of mono- and multinucleated bone resorbing cells of the zebrafish, *Danio rerio*, and their contribution to skeletal development, remodeling, and growth', *J Morphol* 250(3): 197-207.
- Witten, P. E. and Huysseune, A. (2007) Mechanisms of Chondrogenesis and Osteogenesis in Fins. in B. K. Hall (ed.) *Fins into Limbs: Evolution, Development, and Transformation.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Witten, P. E. and Huysseune, A. (2009) 'A comparative view on mechanisms and functions of skeletal remodelling in teleost fish, with special emphasis on osteoclasts and their function', *Biol Rev* 84(2): 315-346.
- Witten, P. E., Huysseune, A. and Hall, B. K. (2010) 'A practical approach for the identification of many cartilagenous tissues in teleost fish', *J Appl lchthyol* 26(2): 257-262.

- Witten, P. E. and Villwock, W. (1997) 'Growth requires bone resorption at particular skeletal elements in a teleost fish with acellular bone (*Oreochromis niloticus*, Teleostei: Cichlidae)', *J Appl Ichthyol* 13(4): 149-158.
- Witten, P. E., Villwock, W. and Renwrantz, L. (1998) 'Haematogram of the tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* (Cichlidae, Teleostei) and application of a putative phenoloxidase for differentiation between neutrophilic granulocytes and monocytes.', *Can J Zoolog* 76(2): 310-319.
- Wolpert, L. and Hornbruch, A. (1981) 'Positional signalling along the anteroposterior axis of the chick wing. The effect of multiple polarizing region grafts', *J Embryol Exp Morphol* 63: 145-159.
- Wolpert, L. and Hornbruch, A. (1990) 'Double anterior chick limb buds and models for cartilage rudiment specification', *Development* 109(4): 961-966.
- Wong, M., Germiller, J., Bonadio, J. and Goldstein, S. A. (1993) 'Neuromuscular atrophy alters collagen gene expression, pattern formation, and mechanical integrity of the chick embryo long bone', *Prog Clin Biol Res* 383B: 587-597.
- Wu, Q., Zhang, Y. and Chen, Q. (2001) 'Indian hedgehog is an essential component of mechanotransduction complex to stimulate chondrocyte proliferation', *J Biol Chem* 276(38): 35290-35296.
- Yagami, K., Suh, J. Y., Enomoto-Iwamoto, M., Koyama, E., Abrams, W. R., Shapiro, I. M., Pacifici, M. and Iwamoto, M. (1999) 'Matrix GLA protein is a developmental regulator of chondrocyte mineralization and, when constitutively expressed, blocks endochondral and intramembranous ossification in the limb', *J Cell Biol* 147(5): 1097-1108.
- Yan, Y. L., Hatta, K., Riggleman, B. and Postlethwait, J. H. (1995) 'Expression of a type II collagen gene in the zebrafish embryonic axis', *Dev Dynam* 203(3): 363-376.
- Yan, Y. L., Miller, C. T., Nissen, R. M., Singer, A., Liu, D., Kirn, A., Draper, B., Willoughby, J., Morcos, P. A., Amsterdam, A. et al. (2002) 'A zebrafish sox9 gene required for cartilage morphogenesis', *Development* 129(21): 5065-5079.
- Yan, Y. L., Willoughby, J., Liu, D., Crump, J. G., Wilson, C., Miller, C. T., Singer, A., Kimmel, C., Westerfield, M. and Postlethwait, J. H. (2005) 'A pair of Sox: distinct and overlapping functions of zebrafish sox9 coorthologs in craniofacial and pectoral fin development', *Development* 132(5): 1069-1083.
- Yang, M., Zhang, B. B., Zhang, L. and Gibson, G. (2008) 'Contrasting expression of membrane metalloproteinases, MT1-MMP and MT3-MMP, suggests distinct functions in skeletal development', *Cell Tissue Res* 333(1): 81-90.
- Yasuhara, R., Yuasa, T., Williams, J. A., Byers, S. W., Shah, S., Pacifici, M., Iwamoto, M. and Enomoto-Iwamoto, M. (2010) 'Wnt/beta-catenin and retinoic acid receptor signaling pathways interact to regulate chondrocyte function and matrix turnover', *J Biol Chem* 285(1): 317-327.

- Yeung, T., Georges, P. C., Flanagan, L. A., Marg, B., Ortiz, M., Funaki, M., Zahir, N., Ming, W., Weaver, V. and Janmey, P. A. (2005) 'Effects of substrate stiffness on cell morphology, cytoskeletal structure, and adhesion', *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 60(1): 24-34.
- Yi, S. E., Daluiski, A., Pederson, R., Rosen, V. and Lyons, K. M. (2000) 'The type I BMP receptor BMPRIB is required for chondrogenesis in the mouse limb', *Development* 127(3): 621-630.
- Yin, S., Cen, L., Wang, C., Zhao, G., Sun, J., Liu, W., Cao, Y. and Cui, L. (2010) 'Chondrogenic transdifferentiation of human dermal fibroblasts stimulated with cartilage-derived morphogenetic protein 1', *Tissue Eng Part A* 16(5): 1633-1643.
- Yocum, S. A., Lopresti-Morrow, L. L., Gabel, C. A., Milici, A. J. and Mitchell, P. G. (1995) 'Bafilomycin A1 inhibits IL-1-stimulated proteoglycan degradation by chondrocytes without affecting stromelysin synthesis', *Arch Biochem Biophys* 316(2): 827-835.
- Yonemura, S. (2011) 'Cadherin-actin interactions at adherens junctions', *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 23(5): 515-522.
- Yoong, S., O'Connell, B., Soanes, A., Crowhurst, M. O., Lieschke, G. J. and Ward, A. C. (2007) 'Characterization of the zebrafish matrix metalloproteinase 9 gene and its developmental expression pattern', *Gene Exp Pat* 7(1-2): 39-46.
- Zakany, J., Kmita, M. and Duboule, D. (2004) 'A dual role for Hox genes in limb anterior-posterior asymmetry', *Science* 304(5677): 1669-1672.
- Zanetti, N. C., Dress, V. M. and Solursh, M. (1990) 'Comparison between ectoderm-conditioned medium and fibronectin in their effects on chondrogenesis by limb bud mesenchymal cells', *Dev Biol* 139(2): 383-395.
- Zhang, J., Wagh, P., Guay, D., Sanchez-Pulido, L., Padhi, B. K., Korzh, V., Andrade-Navarro, M. A. and Akimenko, M. A. (2010) 'Loss of fish actinotrichia proteins and the fin-to-limb transition', *Nature* 466(7303): 234-237.
- Zhou, Z., Apte, S. S., Soininen, R., Cao, R., Baaklini, G. Y., Rauser, R. W., Wang, J., Cao, Y. and Tryggvason, K. (2000) 'Impaired endochondral ossification and angiogenesis in mice deficient in membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase I', *P Natl Acad Sci USA* 97(8): 4052-4057.
- Zhu, M. and Yu, X. (2009) 'Stem sarcopterygians have primitive polybasal fin articulation', *Biol Lett* 5(3): 372-375.
- Zimmerman, L. B., De Jesus-Escobar, J. M. and Harland, R. M. (1996) 'The Spemann organizer signal noggin binds and inactivates bone morphogenetic protein 4', *Cell* 86(4): 599-606.
- Zwicky, R., Muntener, K., Goldring, M. B. and Baici, A. (2002) 'Cathepsin B expression and down-regulation by gene silencing and antisense DNA in human chondrocytes', *Biochem J* 367(Pt 1): 209-217.